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ORDER OF REFERENCE

Extract from the Journals of the Senate, Tuesday,
February 24, 2004:

Resuming debate on the motion of the Honourable
Senator Moore, seconded by the Honourable Senator
Ferretti Barth, for the second reading of Bill C-13, An Act
to amend the Criminal Code (capital markets fraud and
evidence- gathering).

After debate,

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.

The Bill was then read the second time.

The Honourable Senator Moore moved, seconded by the
Honourable Senator Lawson, that the Bill be referred to the
Standing Senate Committee on Banking, Trade and
Commerce.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.

Paul C. Bélisle

Clerk of the Senate

ORDRE DE RENVOI

Extrait des Journaux du Sénat du mardi 24 février 2004:

Reprise du débat sur la motion de l’honorable sénateur
Moore, appuyée par l’honorable sénateur Ferretti Barth,
tendant à la deuxième lecture du projet de loi C-13, Loi
modifiant le Code criminel (fraude sur les marchés financiers
et obtention d’éléments de preuve).

Après débat,

La motion, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

Le projet de loi est alors lu la deuxième fois.

L’honorable sénateur Moore propose, appuyé par
l’honorable sénateur Lawson, que le projet de loi soit
renvoyé au Comité sénatorial permanent des banques et du
commerce.

La motion, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

Le greffier du Sénat,
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

OTTAWA, Thursday, February 12, 2004
(1)

[English]

The Standing Senate Committee on Banking, Trade and
Commerce met at 11:00 a.m., this day, in room 505, Victoria
Building, pursuant to Rule 88 for the purpose of organization.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Angus, Biron, Fitzpatrick, Harb, Hervieux-Payette, P.C., Kroft,
Massicotte, Meighen, Moore, Prud’homme, P.C., Tkachuk (11).

Other senator present: The Honourable Senator Chaput (1).

In attendance: Ms. June Dewetering and Mr. Alexandre
Laurin, Analysts, Library of Parliament.

Also in attendance: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to rule 88, the Clerk presided over the election of the
Chair.

The Honourable Senator Massicotte moved:

That the Honourable Senator Kroft do take the Chair of this
committee.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.

The Honourable Senator Meighen moved:

That the Honourable Senator Tkachuk be Deputy Chair of
this committee.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.

The Honourable Senator Hervieux-Payette, P.C., moved:

That the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be
composed of the Chair, the Deputy Chair and one other
member of the committee, to be designated after the usual
consultation; and

That the Subcommittee be empowered to make decisions on
behalf of the committee with respect to its agenda, to invite
witnesses, and to schedule hearings.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.

The Honourable Senator Massicotte moved:

That the committee print its proceedings; and

That the Chair be authorized to set the number to meet
demand.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.

The Honourable Senator Prud’homme, P.C., moved:

That pursuant to rule 89, the Chair be authorized to hold
meetings, to receive and authorize the printing of the evidence
when a quorum is not present, provided that a member of the
committee from both the government and the opposition be
present.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.

PROCÈS-VERBAUX

OTTAWA, le jeudi 12 février 2004
(1)

[Traduction]

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des banques et du commerce
se réunit aujourd’hui à 11 heures, dans la salle 505 de l’édifice
Victoria pour sa séance d’organisation, conformément à
l’article 88 du Règlement.

Membres du comité présents: Les honorables sénateurs
Angus, Biron, Fitzpatrick, Harb, Hervieux-Payette, c.p., Kroft,
Massicotte, Meighen, Moore, Prud’homme, c.p., et Tkachuk (11).

Autre sénateur présent: L’honorable sénateur Chaput (1).

Également présents: Mme June Dewetering et M. Alexandre
Laurin, analystes, Bibliothèque du Parlement.

Aussi présents: Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément à l’article 88 du Règlement, le greffier préside à
l’élection à la présidence.

L’honorable sénateur Massicotte propose:

Que l’honorable sénateur Kroft assume les fonctions de
président du comité.

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

L’honorable sénateur Meighen propose:

Que l’honorable sénateur Tkachuk assume les fonctions de
vice-président du comité.

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

L’honorable sénateur Hervieux-Payette, c.p., propose:

Que le Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure se
compose du président, du vice-président et d’un autre membre du
comité désigné après les consultations d’usage; et

Que le sous-comité soit autorisé à prendre des décisions au
nom du comité relativement au programme, à inviter les témoins
et à établir l’horaire des audiences.

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

L’honorable sénateur Massicotte propose:

Que le comité fasse imprimer ses délibérations; et

Que le président soit autorisé à fixer le nombre d’exemplaires
en fonction des besoins.

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

L’honorable sénateur Prud’homme, c.p., propose:

Que, conformément à l’article 89 du Règlement, le président
soit autorisé à tenir des réunions pour entendre des témoignages
et à en permettre la publication en l’absence de quorum, pourvu
qu’un représentant du gouvernement et un représentant de
l’opposition soient présents.

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.
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The Honourable Senator Moore moved:

That the committee adopt the draft first report, prepared in
accordance with Rule 104.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.

The Honourable Senator Fitzpatrick moved:

That the committee ask the Library of Parliament to assign
research staff to the Committee;

That the Chair be authorized to seek authority from the Senate
to engage the services of such counsel and technical, clerical and
other personnel as may be necessary for the purpose of the
committee’s examination and consideration of such bills, subject-
matters of bills and estimates as are referred to it;

That the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedures be
authorized to retain the services of such experts as may be
required by the work of the committee; and

That the Chair, on behalf of the committee, direct the research
staff in the preparation of studies, analyses, summaries and draft
reports.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.

The Honourable Senator Harb moved:

That pursuant to section 32 of the Financial Administration
Act, the authority to commit funds be conferred individually on
the Chair, the Deputy Chair and the Clerk of the Committee; and

That pursuant to section 34 of the Financial Administration
Act, and Guideline 3:05 of Appendix II of the Rules of the Senate,
the authority for certifying accounts payable by the committee be
conferred individually on the Chair, the Deputy Chair, and the
Clerk of the Committee.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.

The Honourable Senator Massicotte moved:

That the committee empower the Subcommittee on Agenda
and Procedure to designate, as required, one or more members of
the committee and/or such staff as may be necessary to travel on
assignment on behalf of the committee.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.

The Honourable Senator Tkachuk moved:

That the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be
authorized to:

1) determine whether any member of the committee is on
‘‘official business’’ for the purpose of paragraph 8(3)(a)
of the Senators Attendance Policy, published in the
Journals of the Senate on Wednesday, June 3, 1998; and

2) consider any member of the committee to be on ‘‘official
business’’ if that member is: (a) attending a function,
event or meeting related to the work of the committee; or
(b) making a presentation related to the work of the
committee.

L’honorable sénateur Moore propose:

Que le comité adopte le premier projet de rapport, produit
conformément à l’article 104 du Règlement.

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

L’honorable sénateur Fitzpatrick propose:

Que le comité demande à la Bibliothèque du Parlement
d’affecter des attachés de recherche auprès du comité;

Que le président soit autorisé à demander au Sénat la
permission de retenir les services de conseillers juridiques, de
personnel technique, d’employés de bureau et d’autres personnes,
au besoin, pour aider le comité à examiner les projets de loi, la
teneur de ces derniers et les prévisions budgétaires qui lui sont
renvoyés;

Que le Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure soit
autorisé à faire appel aux services des experts-conseils dont le
comité peut avoir besoin dans le cadre de ses travaux; et

Que le président, au nom du comité, dirige le personnel de
recherche dans la préparation d’études, d’analyses, de résumés et
de projets de rapport.

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

L’honorable sénateur Harb propose:

Que, conformément à l’article 32 de la Loi sur la gestion des
finances publiques, l’autorisation d’engager les fonds du comité
soit conférée individuellement au président, au vice-président et
au greffier du comité; et

Que, conformément à l’article 34 de Loi sur la gestion des
finances publiques et à la directive 3:05 de l’annexe II du
Règlement du Sénat, l’autorisation d’approuver les comptes à
payer au nom du comité soit conférée individuellement au
président, au vice-président et au greffier du comité.

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

L’honorable sénateur Massicotte propose:

Que le comité autorise le Sous-comité du programme et de la
procédure à désigner, au besoin, un ou plusieurs membres du
comité, de même que le personnel nécessaire, qui se déplaceront
au nom du comité.

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

L’honorable sénateur Tkachuk propose:

Que le Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure soit
autorisé à:

1) déterminer si un membre du comité remplit «un
engagement» aux fins de l’alinéa 8(3)a) de la politique
relative à la présence des sénateurs, publiée dans les
Journaux du Sénat du mercredi 3 juin 1998; et

2) considérer qu’un membre du comité remplit un
«engagement public» si ce membre: a) assiste à une
réception, à une activité ou à une réunion se rapportant
aux travaux du comité; ou b) fait un exposé ayant trait
aux travaux du comité.
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The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.

The Honourable Senator Biron moved:

That pursuant to the Senate guidelines for witnesses expenses,
the committee may reimburse reasonable travelling and living
expenses for one witness from any one organization and payment
will take place upon application, but that the Chair be authorized
to approve expenses for a second witness should there be
exceptional circumstances.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.

The Honourable Senator Meighen moved:

That the Chair be authorized to seek permission from the
Senate to permit coverage by electronic media of its public
proceedings with the least possible disruption of its hearings; and

That the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be
empowered to allow such coverage at its discretion.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.

The Chair informed the members that the committee’s regular
meeting times are Wednesday afternoons at 4:00 p.m. and
Thursday mornings at 11:00 a.m., and that meetings will be
held in room 505 of the Victoria Building.

At 11:35 a.m., the committee continued the meeting in camera.

The committee undertook discussion of its future business.

At 12:27 p.m. the committee continued its meeting in public.

The Honourable Senator Hervieux-Payette, P.C., moved:

That the following budget application for the fiscal year ending
March 31, 2004 be concurred in; and, subject to the approval of
the Senate to the proposed terms of reference on cross pillar
mergers; and

That the Chair submit same to the Standing Committee on
Internal Economy, Budgets and Administration.

Professional & Other Services $ 20,200
Transportation and communications $ 0
Other Expenditures $ 1,000
TOTAL $ 21,200

At 12:30 p.m., the committee adjourned to the call of the
Chair.

ATTEST:

OTTAWA, Thursday, February 19, 2004
(2)

The Standing Senate Committee on Banking, Trade and
Commerce met in camera at 11:10 a.m., this day, in room 505,
Victoria Building, pursuant to rule 92(2)(e) for the purpose of
considering a draft agenda, the Chair, the Honourable Senator
Kroft, presiding.

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

L’honorable sénateur Biron propose:

Que, conformément aux lignes directrices concernant les frais
de déplacement des témoins, le comité rembourse les dépenses
raisonnables de voyage et d’hébergement à un témoin par
organisme, après qu’une demande de remboursement a été
présentée, mais que le président soit autorisé à permettre le
remboursement de dépenses pour un deuxième témoin de ce
même organisme en cas de circonstances exceptionnelles.

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

L’honorable sénateur Meighen propose:

Que le président soit autorisé à demander au Sénat la
permission de diffuser ses délibérations publiques par les médias
d’information électronique de manière à déranger le moins
possible ses travaux; et

Que le Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure soit
autorisé à permettre cette diffusion à sa discrétion.

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

Le président indique aux membres que le comité va se réunir
normalement le mercredi après-midi, à 16 heures, et le jeudi matin
à 11 heures, et que les réunions se tiendront dans la salle 505 de
l’édifice Victoria.

À 11 h 35, le comité poursuit ses travaux à huis clos.

Le comité discute de ses travaux futurs.

À 12 h 27, le comité poursuit ses travaux en public.

L’honorable sénateur Hervieux-Payette, c.p., propose:

Que les prévisions budgétaires suivantes pour l’exercice se
terminant le 31 mars 2004 soit adoptées, sous réserve de
l’approbation par le Sénat du mandat proposé sur les fusions
croisées; et

Que le président soumette les prévisions au Comité permanent
de la régie interne, des budgets de l’administration.

Services professionnels et autres 20 200 $
Transports et communications 0 $
Autres dépenses 1 000 $
TOTAL 21 200 $

À 12 h 30, le comité suspend ses travaux jusqu’à nouvelle
convocation de la présidence.

ATTESTÉ:

OTTAWA, le jeudi 19 février 2004
(2)

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des banques et du commerce
se réunit aujourd’hui, à 11 h 10, dans la salle 505 de l’édifice
Victoria, conformément à l’alinéa 92(2)e), pour examiner un
projet d’ordre du jour, sous la présidence de l’honorable sénateur
Kroft (président).
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Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Biron, Fitzpatrick, Harb, Kelleher, P.C., Kroft, Maheu,
Massicotte, Meighen, Moore, Prud’homme, P.C., Tkachuk (11).

In attendance: Ms. June Dewetering and Mr. Alexandre
Laurin, Analysts, Library of Parliament.

It was agreed that staff of members of the committee may
attend in camera meetings.

The committee discussed its future business.

It was agreed to place the study of credit rates on its agenda.

At 11:45 a.m., the committee adjourned to the call of the Chair.

ATTEST:

OTTAWA, Wednesday, February 25, 2004
(3)

The Standing Senate Committee on Banking, Trade and
Commerce met at 4:15 p.m., this day, in room 505, Victoria
Building, the Chair, the Honourable Senator Kroft, presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Biron, Fitzpatrick, Harb, Hervieux-Payette, P.C., Kelleher, P.C.,
Kroft, Massicotte, Meighen, Moore, Prud’homme, P.C., (10).

Other senator present: The Honourable Senator Baker, P.C. (1).

In attendance: Ms. June Dewetering and Mr. Alexandre
Laurin, Analysts, Library of Parliament.

Also in attendance: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to the Order of Reference adopted by the Senate on
Tuesday, February 24, 2004 the committee undertook its
examination of Bill C-13, An Act to amend the Criminal Code
(capital markets fraud and evidence-gathering).

WITNESSES:

Officials from the Department of Justice Canada:

Mr. Donald K. Piragoff, Acting Assistant Deputy Minister,
Criminal Law Policy and Community Justice Branch;

Mr. William Bartlett, Senior Counsel, Criminal Law Policy;

Ms. Joanne Klineberg, Counsel, Criminal Law Policy;

Mr. Normand Wong, Counsel, Criminal Law Policy.

Mr. Piragoff made an opening statement and, with
Mr. Bartlett, Mr. Wong and Ms Klineberg, answered questions.

The committee discussed a draft legislative budget.

It was moved by the Honourable Senator Prud’homme, P.C.:

Membres du comité présents: Les honorables sénateurs Biron,
Fitzpatrick, Harb, Kelleher, c.p., Kroft, Maheu, Massicotte,
Meighen, Moore, Prud’homme, c.p., et Tkachuk (11).

É g a l em e n t p r é s e n t s : Mme Jun e Dewe t e r i n g e t
M. Alexandre Laurin, analystes, Bibliothèque du Parlement.

Il est convenu de permettre au personnel des membres du
comité d’assister aux réunions à huis clos.

Le comité discute de ses travaux futurs.

Il est convenu d’inscrire l’examen des cotes de crédit à l’ordre
du jour.

À 11 h 45, le comité suspend ses travaux jusqu’à nouvelle
convocation de la présidence.

ATTESTÉ:

OTTAWA, le mercredi 25 février 2004
(3)

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des banques et du commerce
se réunit aujourd’hui à 16 h 15, dans la salle 505 de l’édifice
Victoria, sous la présidence de l’honorable sénateur Kroft
(président).

Membres du comité présents: Les honorables sénateurs
Biron, Fitzpatrick, Harb, Hervieux-Payette, c.p., Kelleher, c.p.,
Kroft, Massicotte, Meighen, Moore, Prud’homme, c.p. (10).

Autre sénateur présent: L’honorable sénateur Baker, c.p. (1).

Également présents: Mme June Dewetering et M. Alexandre
Laurin, analystes, Bibliothèque du Parlement.

Aussi présents: Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément à l’ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat le mardi
24 février 2004, le comité entreprend l’étude du projet de loi C-13,
Loi modifiant le Code criminel (fraude sur les marchés financiers
et obtention d’éléments de preuve).

TÉMOINS:

Hauts fonctionnaires du ministère de la Justice du Canada:

M. Donald K. Piragoff, sous-ministre adjoint par intérim,
Division de la politique en matière de droit pénal et de
justice communautaire;

William Bartlett, avocat principal, Section de la politique en
matière de droit pénal;

Mme Joanne Klineberg, avocate, Section de la politique en
matière de droit pénal;

M. Normand Wong, avocat, Section de la politique en matière
de droit pénal.

M. Piragoff fait une déclaration et, avec l’aide de M. Bartlett,
de M. Wong et de Mme Klineberg, répond aux questions.

Le comité discute d’un projet de budget législatif.

Il est proposé par l’honorable sénateur Prud’homme, c.p.,:
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That the following budget application for the fiscal year ending
March 31, 2004 be concurred in:

Professional and Other Services $ 9,750
Transportation and Communications $ 0
All Other Expenditures $ 1,000
TOTAL $ 10,750

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.

At 17:25 p.m., the meeting continued in camera.

The committee undertook discussion of its future business.

It was agreed that names of potential witnesses for the
committee’s consideration of Bill C-13 be forwarded to the
clerk by Friday, February 27, 2004.

At 17:45 p.m., the committee adjourned to the call of the
Chair.

ATTEST:

OTTAWA, Thursday, February 26, 2004
(4)

The Standing Senate Committee on Banking, Trade and
Commerce met at 11:05 a.m., this day, in room 505, Victoria
Building, the Chair, the Honourable Senator Kroft, presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Angus, Biron, Fitzpatrick, Harb, Hervieux-Payette, P.C.,
Kelleher, P.C., Kroft, Massicotte, Meighen, Moore,
Prud’homme, P.C., (10).

Other senator present: The Honourable Senator Baker, P.C.(1).

In attendance: Ms. June Dewetering and Mr. Alexandre
Laurin, Analysts, Library of Parliament.

Also in attendance: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to the Order of Reference adopted by the Senate on
Tuesday, February 24, 2004, the committee continued its
examination of Bill C-13, An Act to amend the Criminal Code
(capital markets fraud and evidence-gathering).

WITNESSES:

From the Canadian Council of Criminal Defence Lawyers:

Mr. William M. Trudell, Chair.

From the Criminal Lawyers’ Association:

Mr. Michael Lomer, Treasurer.

Officials from the Department of Justice Canada:

Ms. Joanne Klineberg, Counsel, Criminal Law Policy;

Mr. Normand Wong, Counsel, Criminal Law Policy.

Mr. Trudell and Mr. Lomer made opening statement and
answered questions from members of the Committee.

Que les prévisions budgétaires suivantes pour l’exercice se
terminant le 31 mars 2004 soient adoptées:

Services professionnels et autres 9 750 $
Transports et communications 0 $
Autres dépenses 1 000 $
TOTAL 10 750 $

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

À 17 h 25, la séance se poursuit à huis clos.

Le comité discute de ses travaux futurs.

Il est convenu de transmettre au greffier les noms de témoins
qui pourraient venir témoigner dans le cadre de l’étude du comité
sur le projet de loi C-13, d’ici le vendredi 27 février 2004.

À 17 h 45, le comité suspend ses travaux jusqu’à nouvelle
convocation de la présidence.

ATTESTÉ:

OTTAWA, le jeudi 26 février 2004
(4)

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des banques et du commerce
se réunit aujourd’hui à 11 h 05, dans la salle 505 de l’édifice
Victoria, sous la présidence de l’honorable sénateur Kroft
(président).

Membres du comité présents: Les honorables sénateurs Angus,
Biron, Fitzpatrick, Harb, Hervieux-Payette, c.p., Kelleher, c.p.,
Kroft, Massicotte, Meighen, Moore et Prud’homme, c.p. (11).

Autre sénateur présent: L’honorable sénateur Baker, c.p. (1).

É ga l emen t p r é s e n t s : Mme June Dewe t e r i n g e t
M. Alexandre Laurin, analystes, Bibliothèque du Parlement.

Aussi présents: Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément à l’ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat le mardi
24 février 2004, le comité poursuit l’étude du projet de loi C-13,
Loi modifiant le Code criminel (fraude sur les marchés financiers
et obtention d’éléments de preuve).

TÉMOINS:

Du Conseil canadien des avocats de la défense:

M. William M. Trudell, président.

De la Criminal Lawyer’s Association:

M. Michael Lomer, trésorier.

Hauts fonctionnaires du ministère de la Justice du Canada:

Mme Johanne Klineberg, avocate, Section de la politique en
matière de droit pénal;

M. Normand Wong, avocat, Section de la politique en matière
de droit pénal.

M. Trudell et M. Lomer font une déclaration et répondent aux
questions des membres du comité.
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Mr. Wong and Ms. Klineberg made statements and answered
questions from members of the Committee.

The committee discussed its future business.

It was agreed, that March 10, 2004 will be the last day set aside
to hear witnesses on the Committee’s examination of Bill C-13.

At 12:44 p.m., the committee adjourned to the call of the
Chair.

ATTEST:

Gérald Lafrenière

Clerk of the Committee

M. Wong et Mme Klineberg font une déclaration et répondent
aux questions des membres du comité.

Le comité discute de ses travaux futurs.

Il est convenu que le 10 mars 2004 sera le dernier jour réservé à
l’audition de témoins relativement à l’étude du comité sur le projet
de loi C-13.

À 12 h 44, le comité suspend ses travaux jusqu’à nouvelle
convocation de la présidence.

ATTESTÉ:

Le greffier du comité,
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REPORT OF THE COMMITTTEE

Thursday, February 12, 2004

The Standing Senate Committee on Banking, Trade and
Commerce has the honour to table its

FIRST REPORT

Your Committee, which was authorized by the Senate to incur
expenses for the purpose of its examination and consideration of
such legislation and other matters as were referred to it, reports,
pursuant to Rule 104 of the rules, that the expenses incurred by
the Committee during the Second Session of the Thirty-seventh
Parliament are as follows:

1. With respect to its examination and consideration of
legislation:

Professional and other services $ 32,261
Transportation and Communications $ 40
All other expenditures $ 65
Witness expenses $ 10,719
TOTAL $ 43,085

2. With respect to its special study on the financial system in
Canada authorized by the Senate on Wednesday, October 23,
2002:

Professional and other services $ 65,158
Transportation and Communication $ 51,919
All other expenditures 8,100
Witness expenses $ 5,727
TOTAL $ 130,904

3. With respect to its special study on bankruptcy authorized
by the Senate on Tuesday, October 29, 2002:

Professional and other services $ 48,377
Transportation and Communications $ 140
All other expenditures $ 0
Witness expenses $ 3,376
TOTAL $ 51,893

4. With respect to its special study on bank mergers authorized
by the Senate on Wednesday, November 6, 2002:

Professional and other services $ 2,228
Transportation and Communications $ 0
All other expenditures $ 57
Witness expenses $ 0
TOTAL $ 2,285

Your Committee examined 5 bills (C-3, C-48, C-249, S-2
and S-21).

During the session, your Committee held 51 meetings
(110 hours), heard 193 witnesses and submitted 16 reports in
relation to its work.

Respectfully submitted,

RICHARD H. KROFT

Chairman

RAPPORT DU COMITÉ

Le jeudi 12 février 2004

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des banques et du commerce a
l’honneur de déposer son

PREMIER RAPPORT

Votre comité, qui a été autorisé par le Sénat à engager des
dépenses aux fins d’examiner les mesures législatives et autres
questions qui lui ont été déférées, rapporte, conformément à
l’article 104 du Règlement, le relevé suivant des dépenses
encourues à cette fin par le comité au cours de la deuxième
session de la trente-septième législature:

1. Relatif à son étude des mesures législatives:

Services professionnels 32 261 $
Transport et communications 40 $
Autres dépenses 65 $
Dépenses des témoins 10 719 $
TOTAL 43 085 $

2. Relatif à son étude spéciale sur l’état du système financier
canadien autorisée par le Sénat le mercredi 23 octobre 2002:

Services professionnels 65 158 $
Transport et communications 51 919 $
Autres dépenses 8 100 $
Dépenses des témoins 5 727 $
TOTAL 130 904 $

3. Relatif à son étude spéciale sur la faillite autorisée par le
Sénat le mardi 29 octobre 2002:

Services professionnels 48 377 $
Transport et communications 140 $
Autres dépenses 0 $
Dépenses des témoins 3 376 $
TOTAL 51 893 $

4. Relatif à son étude spéciale sur la fusion des banques
autorisée par le Sénat le mercredi 6 novembre 2002:

Services professionnels 2 228 $
Transport et communications 0 $
Autres dépenses 57 $
Dépenses des témoins 0 $
TOTAL 2 285 $

Votre comité a étudié 5 projets de loi (C-3, C-48, C-249, S-2
et S-21).

Durant la session, le comité a tenu 51 réunions (110 heures),
entendu 193 témoins et soumis 16 rapports relatifs à ses travaux.

Respectueusement soumis,

Le président,
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EVIDENCE

OTTAWA, Thursday, February 12, 2004

The Standing Senate Committee on Banking, Trade and
Commerce met this day at 11:00 a.m., pursuant to rule 88 of
the Rules of the Senate, to organize the activities of the committee.

[English]

Mr. Gérald Lafrenière, Clerk of the Committee: Honourable
senators, there is a quorum. As clerk of your committee, it is my
duty to preside over the election of the chair. I am ready to receive
motions to that effect.

Senator Massicotte: I move that the Honourable Senator Kroft
do take the chair of this committee.

Mr. Lafrenière: Are there any other nominations?

Senator Prud’homme: I am very happy. I was going to move
Senator Massicotte just to be consistent — nothing against
Senator Kroft, but just to make the morning livelier. However, I
withdraw.

Mr. Lafrenière: Therefore, seeing no other motions, I will put
the question formally.

It is moved by the Honourable Senator Massicotte that the
Honourable Senator Kroft do take the chair. Is it your pleasure,
honourable senators, to adopt the motion?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

Mr. Lafrenière: I declare the motion carried, and I invite
Senator Kroft to take the chair.

Senator Richard H. Kroft (Chairman) in the Chair.

The Chairman: I want to thank you, and I would like to
welcome our new clerk to the committee. I do not know if he has
met anyone yet, but Mr. Lafrenière has taken over filling the big
shoes of Denis Robert, and I am sure we will sail on with our
usual effectiveness.

The second order of business is the election of the deputy chair.

Senator Meighen: I move the nomination of Senator
Tkachuk for the position of deputy chair.

The Chairman: Are there any other nominations? I declare the
nominations closed and Senator Tkachuk elected deputy chair.

Senator Tkachuk: Thank you very much.

The Chairman: We require a motion that there be a
Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure, which we know most
commonly as a steering committee.

Senator Hervieux-Payette: I so move.

The Chairman: Is it agreed?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

TÉMOIGNAGES

OTTAWA, le jeudi 12 février 2004

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des banques et du commerce
se réunit aujourd’hui, à 11 heures, conformément à l’article 88 du
Règlement du Sénat, en vue d’organiser ses travaux.

[Traduction]

M. Gérald Lafrenière, greffier du comité: Honorables
sénateurs, je constate que nous avons le quorum. En tant que
greffier du comité, il est de mon devoir de procéder à l’élection du
président. Je suis prêt à recevoir les motions à cet effet.

Le sénateur Massicotte: Je propose que l’honorable sénateur
Kroft assume la présidence du comité.

M. Lafrenière: Y a-t-il d’autres propositions?

Le sénateur Prud’homme: Je suis très heureux. J’allais proposer
la candidature du sénateur Massicotte — je n’ai rien contre le
sénateur Kroft— dans le seul but de donner un peu de piquant à
nos discussions ce matin, mais je retire ma proposition.

M. Lafrenière: Comme il n’y a pas d’autres motions, nous
allons passer au vote.

Il est proposé par l’honorable sénateur Massicotte que
l’honorable sénateur Kroft assume la présidence du comité.
Plaît-il aux honorables sénateurs d’adopter la motion?

Des voix: D’accord.

M. Lafrenière: Je déclare la motion adoptée. J’invite le
sénateur Kroft à occuper le fauteuil.

Le sénateur Richard H. Kroft (président) occupe le fauteuil.

Le président: Je tiens à vous remercier. Je veux souhaiter la
bienvenue à notre nouveau greffier. Je ne sais pas s’il a eu
l’occasion de rencontrer les membres du comité, mais
M. Lafrenière remplace M. Denis Robert, qui était très
compétent. Je suis certain que nous allons continuer d’aller de
l’avant avec la même efficacité.

Le deuxième point à l’ordre du jour est l’élection du vice-
président.

Le sénateur Meighen: Je propose la candidature du sénateur
Tkachuk au poste de vice-président.

Le président: Y a-t-il d’autres propositions? La période de
mises en candidature est close, et le sénateur Tkachuk est dûment
élu vice-président.

Le sénateur Tkachuk: Merci beaucoup.

Le président: Il nous faut une motion pour créer un Sous-
comité du programme et de la procédure, communément appelé
comité de direction.

Le sénateur Hervieux-Payette: J’en fais la proposition.

Le président: Êtes-vous d’accord?

Des voix: Oui.
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Senator Prud’homme: On this point, for my own
enlightenment, is there a general rule? Perhaps the clerk could
inform us. Are all steering committees composed of only two
senators or three?

Mr. Lafrenière: The motion requires that three senators be part
of the steering committee: the chair, the deputy chair and another
person designated after the usual consultation, which is usually
done through the whip’s office.

Senator Prud’homme: When the motion says, ‘‘and one other
member of the committee to be designated after the usual
consultation,’’ being the only independent, it does not say that I
am excluded from being consulted. I wish to be informed, at least,
of the consultation that will take place, if you do not mind. The
motion does not say one way or the other. I put that to the very
able chair and to the deputy chair. I would feel more part of the
team, even though you do not decide, but I would appreciate that
we establish a new precedent for consultation.

I saw the chair acknowledging that because head nods are not
put in the record.

The Chairman: Yes, you are right. I acknowledge that and I
confirm that I nodded my head in agreement.

Next, we require a motion to print the committee’s
proceedings.

Senator Massicotte: I so propose.

The Chairman: Is it agreed?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chairman: Carried.

We require a motion to give authorization to hold meetings
and to print evidence when a quorum is not present. I could read
the subsequent detail on what the practice is.

Senator Prud’homme: I so move.

The Chairman: Everyone has a copy, do they?

Senator Prud’homme: Yes. Even though I eliminate myself
there, I do agree that I cannot say, if I am there, that I can
represent the opposition. I agree with this motion totally.

The Chairman: Is it agreed?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chairman: Carried.

Motion No. 6 is next.

Senator Moore: I so move.

The Chairman: Is it agreed?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chairman: Carried.

Motion No. 7 regards research staff.

Senator Moore: I so move.

Le sénateur Prud’homme: Est-ce qu’il existe, à ce sujet, une
règle générale? Le greffier pourrait peut-être nous le dire. Est-ce
que les comités de direction sont uniquement composés de deux
ou trois sénateurs?

M. Lafrenière: La motion stipule que trois sénateurs doivent
faire partie du comité de direction: le président, le vice-président
et un autre membre désigné après les consultations d’usage,
habituellement avec le bureau du whip.

Le sénateur Prud’homme: La motion dit, et je cite: «et d’un
autre membre du comité désigné après les consultations d’usage».
Or, le fait que je sois le seul sénateur indépendant ne m’exclut pas
du processus de consultation. J’aimerais qu’on me tienne, à tout le
moins, au courant de la situation, si vous n’y voyez pas
d’inconvénient. La motion ne dit rien à ce sujet. Je m’en remets
au président et au vice-président. J’aurais l’impression de faire
davantage partie de l’équipe, même si ce n’est pas à vous de
décider. J’aimerais toutefois qu’on établisse un nouveau précédent
pour ce qui est des consultations.

Je vois que le président fait un signe de la tête. Les hochements
de tête ne sont pas consignés au compte rendu.

Le président: Vous avez tout à fait raison. Je précise, pour le
compte rendu, que j’ai fait signe que oui.

La motion suivante porte sur l’impression des délibérations des
comités.

Le sénateur Massicotte: J’en fais la proposition.

Le président: Êtes-vous d’accord?

Des voix: Oui.

Le président: La motion est adoptée.

La motion suivante porte sur l’autorisation de tenir des
réunions et l’impression des témoignages en l’absence de
quorum. Je peux vous dire quelle est la règle d’usage.

Le sénateur Prud’homme: J’en fais la proposition.

Le président: Vous en avez tous une copie?

Le sénateur Prud’homme: Oui. Même si je suis exclu du
processus, il est vrai que je ne peux pas dire, si je suis là, que je
peux représenter l’opposition. J’appuie en tous points cette
motion.

Le président: Êtes-vous d’accord?

Des voix: Oui.

Le président: La motion est adoptée.

Nous passons maintenant à la motion 6.

Le sénateur Moore: J’en fais la proposition.

Le président: Êtes-vous d’accord?

Des voix: Oui.

Le président: La motion est adoptée.

La motion 7 porte sur le personnel de recherche.

Le sénateur Moore: J’en fais la proposition.
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Senator Angus: Can we not make one motion to do all of these
at once?

The Chairman: We are being asked to do them individually.

Motion No. 7 was moved by Senator Fitzpatrick. Is it agreed?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chairman: Carried.

Motion No. 8 concerns the authority to commit funds and
certify accounts. Do we have a motion?

Senator Harb: I so move.

The Chairman: Is it agreed?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chairman: Motion No. 9 concerns travel.

Senator Prud’homme: I have a point here. You will remember
that I did not raise too much fuss.

I will not travel. It is as simple as that. However, it would be
nice not to have the events that took place during the last
meetings, where we arrived one morning and it was already
decided four and four were approved. I was totally unaware of
that decision. I know it eliminates the independents, but I would
appreciate again from you, being a gentleman, that, when there is
a trip, I will play music with the committee with pleasure, even
though it is at my expense of being excluded from any trip, as you
have done with the Washington and New York trips. Of course, I
would have liked to be more informed. I do not demand much,
but I should like to at least know before the decision is taken. I
make a commitment here today that I will not ask to be one of
those who may travel. I have come from another committee where
we had a long discussion about a trip for the Foreign Affairs
Committee. Again, I just want, in the good spirit of cooperation,
to know ahead of time if you ever have to decide that you must
travel, even though I will not ask to travel.

The Chairman: Thank you for that, senator. The motion calls
for that decision to be made by the steering committee.

Senator Prud’homme: Right.

The Chairman: Consideration and consultation are
appropriate.

Do I have a motion on the travel?

Senator Massicotte: I so move.

The Chairman: Is it agreed?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chairman: Motion No. 10 is next; designation of members
travelling on committee business.

Senator Tkachuk: I so move.

The Chairman: Is it agreed?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

Le sénateur Angus: Ne pouvons-nous pas proposer que le
comité adopte toutes ces motions en même temps?

Le président: On nous demande de les examiner séparément.

Le sénateur Fitzpatrick propose l’adoption de la motion 7.
Êtes-vous d’accord?

Des voix: Oui.

Le président: La motion est adoptée.

La motion 8 porte sur l’autorisation d’engager des fonds et
d’approuver les comptes à payer. Quelqu’un peut-il proposer la
motion?

Le sénateur Harb: J’en fais la proposition.

Le président: Êtes-vous d’accord?

Des voix: Oui.

Le président: La motion 9 porte sur les voyages.

Le sénateur Prud’homme: Je veux faire un commentaire.
N’oubliez pas que je n’ai pas demandé grand-chose jusqu’ici.

Je n’accompagnerai pas le comité pendant ses déplacements.
Point à la ligne. Toutefois, je ne voudrais pas que ce qui s’est passé
au cours des dernières réunions se reproduise de nouveau. Nous
sommes arrivés un matin, et la décision avait déjà été prise. Je
n’en savais rien. Je sais que les sénateurs indépendants sont exclus,
mais j’aimerais bien qu’on me tienne au courant, car vous savez
que, lorsqu’un voyage est prévu, je vais appuyer la décision du
comité, même si je ne suis pas de la partie. Je cite, à titre
d’exemple, les voyages de Washington et de New York. Bien
entendu, j’aurais aimé en savoir plus. Je n’exige pas grand-chose,
mais j’aimerais, à tout le moins, être informé avant qu’une
décision ne soit prise. J’ai dit, aujourd’hui, que je ne demanderai
pas à accompagner le comité dans ses déplacements. J’ai assisté à
une réunion d’un autre comité où nous avons longuement discuté
d’un voyage que doit entreprendre le Comité des affaires
étrangères. Encore une fois, j’aimerais, dans un esprit de
collaboration, savoir à l’avance qu’un voyage est prévu, même
si je ne demanderai pas d’y participer.

Le président: Merci, sénateur. Selon la motion, cette décision
doit être prise par le comité de direction.

Le sénateur Prud’homme: C’est exact.

Le président: Nous allons faire preuve de considération et vous
consulter.

Quelqu’un peut-il proposer la motion?

Le sénateur Massicotte: J’en fais la proposition.

Le président: Êtes-vous d’accord?

Des voix: Oui.

Le président: Nous passons à la motion 10, qui porte sur la
désignation des membres qui voyagent pour le compte du comité.

Le sénateur Tkachuk: J’en fais la proposition.

Le président: Êtes-vous d’accord?

Des voix: Oui.
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The Chairman: Motion No. 11 concerns the expenses of
witnesses.

Senator Biron: I so move.

The Chairman: Is it agreed?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chairman: Motion No. 12 deals with the electronic
coverage of public meetings.

Senator Meighen: I so move.

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chairman: Carried.

Motion No. 13 is informational. It is proposed that we
continue with our traditional meeting times of Wednesday at
4 p.m., which is expressed specifically at 4 o’clock, as opposed to
when the Senate rises. That is more effective in terms of giving
witnesses fair notice of a time. There is also this time at 11 o’clock.

Senator Massicotte: If the Senate has not risen, there will not be
a meeting?

The Chairman: We cannot meet if the Senate has not risen.
Failing consent, we cannot meet.

Senator Meighen: What about the reverse? If the Senate
adjourns earlier, can we meet earlier?

The Chairman: Certainly we can. It is a question of witnesses. If
they are local, we try to keep them on advice to follow what is
happening in the house and get it going earlier. We can do
whatever we want. It is the witnesses’ scheduling that creates the
problem. Sometimes we reverse the order or whatever makes
sense to accommodate them.

Senator Fitzpatrick: I presume we will be meeting here at room
505 in the Victoria Building. I do not know whether it is
convenient to others. I am not sure where everyone’s offices are,
but is there any chance we can meet in either the East Block or the
Centre Block?

The Chairman: I have raised that question before. We meet on
occasion in the East Block for teleconferencing, which is where
that facility exists. I have asked often about meeting in that room
on a regular basis. The problem is that it is very difficult to
schedule meetings there because it is the main teleconferencing
facility. I know from my experience on the Internal Economy
Committee that whatever committee is scheduled there is always
being asked to move somewhere else.

Historically, I know that this committee met in the room that is
still called the Banking, Trade and Commerce Room, room 256 in
the Centre Block, opposite the Francophonie room. I will make
inquiries on the subject. Having said that, you may have noticed
something walking in over the past months.

Those of you with offices in the building know that there are
two new committee rooms being built that we were supposed to
be in as of last September, but that still has not happened. Those
are newly designed committee rooms. One of the issues with this

Le président: La motion 11 porte sur les frais de déplacement
des témoins.

Le sénateur Biron: J’en fais la proposition.

Le président: Êtes-vous d’accord?

Des voix: Oui.

Le président: La motion 12 porte sur la diffusion des
délibérations publiques par les médias d’information électronique.

Le sénateur Meighen: J’en fais la proposition.

Des voix: D’accord.

Le président: La motion est adoptée.

La motion 13 n’est donnée qu’à titre d’information. Elle
propose que le comité continue de se réunir les mercredis à
16 heures, et non à l’ajournement du Sénat, ce qui permet de
donner un avis raisonnable aux témoins. Elle propose également
que le comité se réunisse à 11 heures.

Le sénateur Massicotte: S’il n’y a pas ajournement du Sénat, il
n’y a pas de réunion?

Le président: Nous ne pouvons pas nous réunir s’il n’y a pas
ajournement du Sénat. Sans consentement, nous ne pouvons pas
nous réunir.

Le sénateur Meighen: Et si l’inverse se produit? Si le Sénat
ajourne plus tôt, est-ce que le comité peut se réunir plus tôt?

Le président: Absolument. Cela dépend des témoins. Quand ils
viennent de la région, nous essayons de les tenir au courant de ce
qui se passe et de les convoquer plus tôt. Nous pouvons faire ce
que nous voulons. C’est plutôt la disponibilité des témoins qui
pose problème. Nous inversons parfois l’ordre de comparution si
cela les arrange.

Le sénateur Fitzpatrick: Je présume que nous allons nous réunir
dans la pièce 505 de l’édifice Victoria. Je ne sais pas si cela fait
l’affaire des autres membres du comité. Je ne sais pas où se
trouvent leurs bureaux, mais serait-il possible de se réunir dans
l’édifice de l’Est ou dans l’édifice du Centre?

Le président: J’ai déjà soulevé la question. Le comité se réunit à
l’occasion dans l’édifice de l’Est, puisque c’est là qu’est située la
salle de téléconférence. J’ai souvent demandé que le comité tienne
ses séances régulières dans cette pièce. Le problème, c’est qu’il est
très difficile d’y organiser des réunions, parce que c’est là que se
trouvent les principales installations de téléconférence. Je fais
partie du Comité de régie interne, et je sais que chaque fois qu’un
comité tient une réunion à cet endroit, on lui demande de se
déplacer.

Le Comité des banques et du commerce se réunit depuis
toujours dans la pièce 256 de l’édifice du Centre, pièce qui porte le
même nom que le comité et qui est située en face de la salle de la
Francophonie. Je vais toutefois me renseigner. Cela dit, vous vous
êtes rendu compte qu’il y a eu des changements ces derniers mois.

Ceux qui ont des bureaux dans l’édifice savent que deux
nouvelles salles de comité sont en train d’être aménagées. Elles
devaient être prêtes en septembre dernier. Ce sont de nouvelles
salles. Le problème, c’est qu’il y a souvent beaucoup de personnes
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committee is that, as compared to other committees, we very
often have large numbers of people in the room. The new rooms
have been designed for an audience. Part of the problem with
room 256 in the Centre Block, and even with the East Block
room, although it is very gracious as a meeting room, is that it is
very poor in terms of space for others viewing the meeting.

Senator Fitzpatrick: I do not want to be presumptuous, but I
wonder whether other members of the committee have views.

Senator Tkachuk: We like it here.

Senator Angus: We very much like it here. It is a bright and
lovely room. We have been meeting here for the 11 years that I
have been on the committee.

The Chairman: The clerk will review the options and bring that
back to the committee.

Senator Prud’homme: I am concerned about the time of 4
o’clock because, as you know, from time to time there could be
major debates taking place in the Senate on Wednesday
afternoons after 4 o’clock. If you are not there, tough luck.
You have the choice of staying in the chamber and being absent
here. This took place in the last session. Therefore, I am
concerned about sitting at 4 o’clock, whether or not the house
sits. That does not preclude a member from not giving consent.

For example, two days ago I had a big day, and during that
time a motion I wanted to speak on was sent to committee
because I was not there. You need to be there.

There was a debate with the last administration, as you will
remember, to try to make arrangements for committees to sit
around 3:30 every Wednesday. Therefore, I am reluctant to say,
‘‘Come what may, we will sit at 4 o’clock.’’ I think it should be left
to the discretion of the house at that time, with negotiations.
When there are negotiations, it works. Imposing decisions on
people does not work.

The Chairman: We have had this discussion privately and on
the floor of the Senate before, senator. All we are saying here is
that this is the time slot of regular meetings.

Senator Prud’homme: That is right. Excellent.

The Chairman: You are pointing out that there are
circumstances that create difficulties for either the committee or
individuals, and that is the reality we have to deal with from time
to time. These are the regular hours.

The Chairman: Is there any other business?

Senator Harb: In the House of Commons, at the outset of every
meeting, we would normally set up rules for the length of
interventions of witnesses and members. On some committees, we
set a time limit for the asking of questions. I have been told that
there are no such rules here, that it is left up to the chair to handle
those types of situations. The steering committee may want to
look at guidelines for how long members can take to ask
questions of witnesses. Even if the guidelines are not entrenched

qui assistent à nos réunions, ce qui n’est pas le cas des autres
comités. Les nouvelles salles ont été conçues dans le but
d’accueillir un auditoire. Le problème tient en partie au fait que
la pièce 256 de l’édifice du Centre, et celle qui se trouve dans
l’édifice de l’Est, même si elles sont très accueillantes, sont plutôt
petites.

Le sénateur Fitzpatrick: Je ne veux pas être présomptueux, mais
je me demande ce que pensent les autres membres du comité.

Le sénateur Tkachuk: Nous aimons bien nous réunir ici.

Le sénateur Angus: Cette salle nous plaît beaucoup. Elle est
bien éclairée et accueillante. Cela fait 11 ans que je fais partie du
comité et que nous nous réunissons ici.

Le président: Le greffier va revoir les options et faire le point
avec le comité.

Le sénateur Prud’homme: C’est plutôt le fait que le comité se
réunit à 16 heures qui me préoccupe, car, comme vous le savez, il
arrive, à l’occasion, que le Sénat tienne des débats importants les
mercredis après-midi, après 16 heures. Si vous n’êtes pas là, tant
pis. Si vous décidez de rester, vous manquez la réunion du comité.
C’est ce qui est arrivé lors de la session antérieure. Le fait que le
comité se réunisse à 16 heures me préoccupe, que le Sénat siège ou
non, parce que cela pourrait empêcher un sénateur de rejeter une
motion.

Par exemple, il y a deux jours, j’ai été fort occupé. Le Sénat a
décidé de renvoyer une motion à un comité sans que je puisse en
débattre, parce que je n’étais pas là. Vous devez être présent.

Si vous vous souvenez bien, on a essayé de s’entendre avec la
dernière administration pour que les comités se réunissent vers
15 h 30, les mercredis. Par conséquent, j’hésite à dire: «Peu
importe ce qui arrive, nous allons nous réunir à 16 heures.» Cette
décision devrait être prise par le Sénat, à la suite de négociations.
Quand on négocie, on arrive à trouver une solution. Quand on
impose des décisions, cela ne fonctionne pas.

Le président: Sénateur, nous avons discuté de la question en
privé et au Sénat. Tout ce que nous disons ici, c’est que le comité
va se réunir à telle et telle heure.

Le sénateur Prud’homme: C’est exact. Très bien.

Le président: Vous dites qu’il y a des circonstances qui créent
des difficultés, ou pour le comité ou pour ceux qui en font partie,
et c’est une situation avec laquelle nous devons parfois composer.
C’est là l’horaire des séances régulières.

Le président: Y a-t-il d’autres questions?

Le sénateur Harb: Habituellement, au début de chaque séance,
les comités de la Chambre fixent des règles pour la durée des
interventions des témoins et des députés. Certains comités fixent
une limite de temps pour les questions. On m’a dit que de telles
règles n’existent pas ici, qu’il revient à la présidence de trancher.
Le comité de direction pourrait peut-être envisager d’établir des
lignes directrices à ce sujet et de fixer des limites de temps pour les
questions posées aux témoins. Ces lignes directrices, même si elles

26-2-2004 Banques et commerce 1:15



in a motion and voted on, at least it gives the chair authorization
to step in, if necessary. It is my hope that this will not be
necessary.

Second, as I said to you privately the other day, the
committee’s name gives the impression that trade is part of the
committee’s mandate. You indicated that the committee really
deals only with local trade. It is sometimes quite difficult to
differentiate between local and international trade. International
trade seems to be lumped in with foreign affairs and international
trade.

Since trade plays such an important role in Canada in terms of
how much gross domestic product we generate as a result of it, the
Senate may want to give it a little more relevancy. We may want
to have informal discussions with foreign affairs and international
trade to find a home for it on the Senate side to give it the
importance it deserves, considering the impact that trade has on
the Canadian economy.

While I was on the House of Commons side, I chaired the trade
subcommittee. I found a home for it, notwithstanding that even
on the other side it seemed to be almost an orphan. It is an ad hoc
subcommittee that reported to the Foreign Affairs and
International Trade Committee, which in turn reported to
Parliament. There was a movement to give it a lot more teeth
than it had in the past. Nonetheless, timing was not on our side,
and I was tossed to the better side of Parliament; namely, the
Senate side.

I hope that some discussion will take place between members
of the steering committees and your leadership and that of the
deputy chair, along with the chair of the international trade
committee, to find a mechanism for that.

The Chairman: I will answer both questions quickly. Both the
Senate and this committee have traditions that we have followed,
although that does not mean that we are not open to discussion.

On the suggestion of a time limit, the practice has been that this
is very situational. To take one situation, twice a year we have a
visit from the Governor of the Bank of Canada. At that time,
there is always a discussion between the chair and the deputy
chair on a number of items, including who will speak, the order
and time allocation, because in that situation it is critical.
Normally, we have been quite successful proceeding in a very
informal way. Frankly, the interest level of different senators,
who is able to be present to hear particular witnesses and the
subject matter varies. By and large, the chair, with effective eye
communication with members, has been able to keep the time
fairly balanced. Sometimes, if a senator is on to a line of
questioning that is of broad interest, which we all have a sense is
productive, that senator continues.

The steering committee will talk about this issue. I am just
telling you that historically we have had a relaxed, flexible
approach that has worked quite well.

ne font pas l’objet d’une motion soumise à un vote, donneraient à
tout le moins à la présidence l’autorisation d’intervenir, au besoin.
J’espère toutefois qu’elle n’aurait pas à le faire.

Ensuite, comme je vous l’ai déjà dit lors d’une conversation
privée, le nom du comité donne l’impression que le commerce fait
partie du mandat du comité. Vous avez dit que le comité ne
s’occupait en fait que de commerce local. Il est parfois assez
difficile de faire la différence entre le commerce local et le
commerce international. Le commerce international semble
associé aux affaires étrangères et au commerce international.

Comme le commerce est un facteur déterminant du produit
intérieur brut du Canada, le Sénat pourrait vouloir y accorder un
peu plus de poids. Nous pourrions décider de discuter de façon
informelle avec les Affaires étrangères et le Commerce
international de moyens pour que le Sénat accorde au
commerce l’importance qu’il mérite, compte tenu de son impact
sur l’économie canadienne.

Lorsque j’étais à la Chambre des communes, j’ai été président
du Sous-comité du commerce. Ainsi nous en discutions en
profondeur, même si le sujet semble négligé même dans l’autre
Chambre. Il s’agit d’un sous-comité spécial faisant rapport au
Comité des affaires étrangères et du commerce international, qui
fait à son tour rapport au Parlement. Il y avait une volonté
d’accroître considérablement l’importance accordée au
commerce, mais ce n’était pas le bon moment. C’est alors que
j’ai été nommé à la meilleure Chambre du Canada, soit le Sénat.

J’espère que les membres du comité de direction vont en
discuter avec la direction de votre parti, la vice-présidence et la
présidence du Comité du commerce international pour trouver un
mécanisme à cette fin.

Le président: Je vais répondre rapidement à vos deux questions.
Le Sénat ainsi que ce comité suivent des traditions, mais cela ne
signifie pas que nous sommes fermés à la discussion.

Pour ce qui est de votre proposition de fixer une limite de
temps, dans l’usage, tout dépend beaucoup des circonstances. Par
exemple, deux fois par année, nous recevons la visite du
gouverneur de la Banque du Canada. À cette occasion, la
présidence et la vice-présidence s’entendent toujours sur certains
éléments, dont le nom de ceux qui s’exprimeront, l’ordre de parole
et le temps alloué à chacun, parce que dans ce cas, c’est
fondamental. En règle générale, nous nous débrouillons très
bien sans règle formelle. Bien honnêtement, le degré d’intérêt des
différents sénateurs, les disponibilités de chacun pour venir
entendre tel ou tel témoin et les sujets abordés varient. Dans la
grande majorité des cas, le président est capable d’assurer un bon
équilibre dans le temps d’allocution simplement en gardant un
bon contact visuel avec les membres du comité. Il arrive aussi
qu’un sénateur se lance dans une série de questions d’intérêt
général qui semblent à tous très productives et que nous le
laissions poursuivre.

Le comité de direction va se pencher sur la question. Je vous dis
seulement que nous avons toujours favorisé un cadre souple,
détendu, et que cette façon de faire fonctionne très bien.
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The subject of international trade was thoroughly discussed in
the Rules Committee about six months ago. All of the committee
mandates were reviewed, and there were a number of changes.
For example, the new National Security and Defence Committee
took some time to develop its name properly. All committee
names and mandates were reviewed. The particular question that
you have raised was carefully considered, and I participated in
those considerations with the Foreign Affairs Committee and the
Rules Committee. There is no question that the history and
tradition in the Senate is that the Foreign Affairs Committee has
addressed issues of international trade, and the ‘‘trade’’ referred to
has been trade within Canada, trade perhaps in the more
traditional sense of the word.

It is true that there can be areas where some of these things
come together. Senator Kelleher has had an interest in some of
the effects on international banking.

For instance, implications of the free trade agreement and
those issues are squarely within the mandate of the Foreign
Affairs Committee, and that is well understood in the Senate.

Senator Meighen: However, we do talk about them from time
to time.

The Chairman: Yes. When an issue comes up that we would
like to address, there is nothing wrong— and it does happen from
time to time — with entering into discussion with the other
committee and saying that we would like to do this; have you got
an interest? Nothing is carved in stone. However, the general
designation has been that international trade is in the ambit of the
Foreign Affairs Committee.

Senator Hervieux-Payette: As a comment, I think we are in a
new situation. International trade now has become a full-fledged
ministry. They are in the process of separating the two ministries.
There will be two different entities. For a long time, international
trade was under the umbrella of foreign affairs. I am sure that
when it comes to international affairs and defence, there might be
some overlap and problems to decide, but we never had to do that
because it was under the umbrella of foreign affairs.

I have a particular interest in the free trade of the Americas.
The Foreign Affairs Committee has a long list of applications. I
have been here since 1995. I feel that, in terms of expertise related
to business and all the corporations that can help trade, they
almost all report here. Perhaps after the election— and before—
I would think that it could be re-discussed. If the two ministries
remain separate, I think that at that time it would be good to
initiate discussions so that this question is here. Whether we are
talking about bankruptcy, or any other piece of legislation before
this committee, they almost always have something to do with
trade indirectly.

The Chairman: Certainly it is a moving target, and these things
will always be in front of us. I would not want to foreclose it at all.
Even in the government’s structure, traditionally trade and

Le Comité du Règlement a discuté en profondeur de la
question du commerce international il y a environ six mois. Tous
les mandats des comités ont été revus et divers changements ont
été apportés. Par exemple, le nouveau Comité de la sécurité
nationale et de la défense a pris le temps de bien réfléchir à son
nom. Tous les noms et les mandats des comités ont été revus. La
question que vous soulevez a bien été prise en considération, et j’ai
participé aux discussions avec le Comité des affaires étrangères et
celui du Règlement. Il ne fait aucun doute que selon l’histoire et la
tradition du Sénat, c’est le Comité des affaires étrangères qui
étudie les enjeux du commerce international et que le mot
«commerce»dans notre nom renvoie au commerce à l’intérieur du
Canada, soit au commerce dans le sens un peu plus classique du
terme.

Il est vrai que dans certains domaines, ces aspects sont très liés.
Par exemple, le sénateur Kelleher s’est intéressé aux effets des
opérations bancaires internationales.

Il n’en demeure pas moins que tout ce qui découle de l’accord
de libre-échange, entre autres, relève directement du mandat du
Comité des affaires étrangères, et c’est bien compris au Sénat.

Le sénateur Meighen: Nous en parlons quand même de temps
en temps.

Le président: C’est vrai. Lorsque surgit un enjeu dont nous
voulons parler, il n’y a rien de mal — et cela arrive de temps en
temps — à en discuter avec l’autre comité, à lui dire que nous
voulons faire telle étude et à lui demander s’il est intéressé? Rien
n’est coulé dans le béton. Cependant, la règle générale veut que le
commerce international soit du ressort du Comité des affaires
étrangères.

Le sénateur Hervieux-Payette: J’aimerais souligner qu’à mon
avis, nous sommes dans une toute nouvelle situation. Le ministère
du Commerce international est maintenant un ministère à part
entière. On est en train de séparer les deux ministères. Il y aura
maintenant deux entités différentes. Pendant longtemps, le
commerce international était sous l’égide des Affaires
étrangères. Lorsqu’il est question d’affaires internationales et de
défense, il peut y avoir un chevauchement et des problèmes à
régler, mais il n’a jamais été à nous de prendre des décisions parce
que ces enjeux relèvent des Affaires étrangères.

Je m’intéresse tout particulièrement au libre-échange des
Amériques. Le Comité des affaires étrangères a une longue liste
de demandes. Je suis ici depuis 1995. J’ai l’impression que presque
toutes les sociétés ou organismes ayant une expertise dans le
domaine des affaires et pouvant contribuer au commerce font
rapport à ce comité. Peut-être qu’après les élections, et même
avant, on pourra en rediscuter. Si les deux ministères demeurent
séparés, je crois qu’il pourrait être bon de discuter de la question.
Que nous soyons saisis d’un projet de loi sur la faillite ou sur tout
autre sujet, les enjeux qui nous préoccupent ont presque toujours
un lien indirect avec le commerce.

Le président: Il ne fait aucun doute que c’est un sujet en
évolution, et ces questions reviendront toujours. Je ne voudrais
pas clore définitivement la discussion. Même dans la structure du
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commerce was a separate department from foreign affairs. It is
only fairly recently that they were together.

One thing on which we agree is that we do not want to give up
turf. We do not want to lose the place of this committee as being
central to the commercial concerns of the country, and we will
watch this closely.

If there is no other business, I would ask for a motion to
adjourn the open portion of the meeting.

Senator Hervieux-Payette: I move the adjournment.

The Chairman: I would like to now go in camera.

The committee continued in camera.

The committee resumed in public.

The Chairman: A motion in both official languages has been
circulated.

Senator Massicotte: I move that we accept the budget.

Senator Tkachuk: It is a little high, is it not?

Senator Hervieux-Payette: I move the adoption of the budget.

The Chairman: Is it agreed, honourable senators?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The committee adjourned.

OTTAWA, Wednesday, February 25, 2004

The Standing Senate Committee on Banking, Trade and
Commerce, to which was referred Bill C-13, to amend the
Criminal Code (capital markets fraud and evidence-gathering),
met this day at 4:15 p.m. to give consideration to the bill.

Senator Richard H. Kroft (Chairman) in the Chair.

[English]

The Chairman: I call to order this meeting of the Standing
Senate Committee on Banking, Trade and Commerce.

In our consideration of Bill C-13, we have with us today
officials from the Department of Justice.

Please proceed, Mr. Piragoff.

Mr. Donald K. Piragoff, Acting Assistant Deputy Minister,
Criminal Law Policy and Community Justice Branch, Department
of Justice Canada: Honourable senators, it gives us great pleasure
to appear before the committee on this topic, because the
committee already has a very broad understanding of the
diverse range of issues involved in the current crisis of investor
confidence, not only in this country but also on this continent,
and the various means of improving it.

gouvernement, le commerce a longtemps été de la compétence
d’un ministère séparé des affaires étrangères. Ce n’est que tout
récemment que les deux compétences ont été combinées.

Nous sommes tous d’accord pour dire que nous ne voulons pas
perdre cette compétence. Nous ne voulons pas que notre comité
perde sa place comme organe central dans le domaine du
commerce au pays, et nous allons suivre le dossier de très près.

S’il n’y a pas d’autres points à l’ordre du jour, je vous
demanderais une motion afin de lever la séance publique.

Le sénateur Hervieux-Payette: Je propose la levée de la séance.

Le président: J’aimerais maintenant que nous poursuivions nos
discussions à huis clos.

Le comité poursuit ses travaux à huis clos.

Le comité reprend ses travaux publics.

Le président: Vous avez reçu une motion dans les deux langues
officielles.

Le sénateur Massicotte: Je propose que nous acceptions le
budget.

Le sénateur Tkachuk: Il est un peu élevé, n’est-ce-pas?

Le sénateur Hervieux-Payette: Je propose l’adoption du
budget.

Le président: Êtes-vous d’accord, honorables sénateurs?

Des voix: D’accord.

La séance est levée.

OTTAWA, le mercredi 25 février 2004

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des banques et du commerce
se réunit aujourd’hui, à 16 h 15, pour étudier le projet de
loi C-13 visant à modifier le Code criminel (fraudes sur les
marchés financiers et obtention d’éléments de preuve).

Le sénateur Richard H. Kroft (président) occupe le fauteuil.

[Traduction]

Le président: Je déclare ouverte cette séance du Comité
sénatorial permanent des banques et du commerce.

Dans le cadre de notre examen du projet de loi C-13, nous
recevons aujourd’hui des hauts fonctionnaires du ministère de la
Justice.

Vous pouvez y aller, monsieur Piragoff.

M. Donald K. Piragoff, sous-ministre adjoint par intérim,
Division de la politique en matière de droit pénal et de justice
communautaire, ministère de la Justice du Canada: Honorables
sénateurs, nous nous réjouissons de comparaître devant vous à ce
sujet, parce que votre comité possède déjà une connaissance
approfondie du large éventail de questions touchant la crise de
confiance actuelle des investisseurs, non seulement au Canada,
mais aussi sur l’ensemble du continent, ainsi que des différents
moyens d’améliorer la situation.
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The range of issues is clearly reflected in your report produced
in June 2003, which was released just days after Bill C-46, the
former version of this bill, was introduced in the last session.

Your report recognizes the complex inter-jurisdictional nature
of regulating the financial system — which and forms the
backdrop for the measures in Bill C-13.

The provincial governments, as you are aware, are responsible
for regulating the securities industries, the conditions under which
companies can issue securities in the province, the rules they must
follow, if they do so, and for establishing securities commissions
that investigate and prosecute the breach of those rules.

The federal government’s proper jurisdiction in the securities
sector is a controversial matter, one that is currently under
discussion in various quarters. In December, the Wise Persons’
Committee released its report, calling for a national securities
regulator. Discussions continue in other arenas on such issues.

Unlike the complex matter of legislative jurisdiction over the
securities industry, the criminal law is and always has been a
matter of federal legislative authority. The bill before you today,
Bill C-13, is the federal government’s response to weakened
investor confidence from a strictly criminal law perspective. The
proposals are designed to enhance the ability of police and
prosecution authorities to investigate and prosecute capital
markets fraud cases and restore the confidence of Canadians
and foreigners in the integrity of our financial markets.

Bill C-13 is a legislative package that complements a federal
enforcement initiative that makes detecting and punishing capital
market fraud a real and concrete priority. The 2003 budget
allocated up to $30 million a year over the next five years to create
integrated market enforcement teams (IMETs) in four key
financial centres. These teams will be comprised of RCMP
investigators, federal lawyers, and forensic accountants, working
cooperatively with securities regulators and local law
enforcement, to ferret out major cases of fraud affecting the
capital markets on a national scale. Three such teams have
recently become operational, one in Vancouver and two in
Toronto.

Bill C-13, the legislative part of this strategy, is multipronged
and addresses four separate areas of criminal law that I will
briefly describe. The first component of Bill C-13 is comprised of
new offences. Our review of the Criminal Code found that we
already have strong and effective laws to deal with capital markets
fraud, including a broad and effective fraud offence, obstruction

La gamme des questions en cause est clairement présentée dans
votre rapport de juin 2003. Celui-ci a d’ailleurs été rendu public
quelques jours seulement après que le projet de loi C-46,
l’ancienne version du présent texte de loi, a été introduit au
cours de la dernière session.

Vous reconnaissez dans votre rapport à quel point il peut être
complexe de réglementer le système financier qui relève de
plusieurs sphères de compétence — un contexte qui sert de toile
de fond aux mesures prévues dans le projet de loi C-13.

Comme vous le savez, ce sont les gouvernements provinciaux
qui sont responsables de la réglementation des industries des
valeurs mobilières, des conditions régissant l’émission de valeurs
mobilières par des sociétés dans la province, des règles à suivre, le
cas échéant, et de la création de commissions des valeurs
mobilières pour enquêter et entreprendre des poursuites lorsque
ces règles sont enfreintes.

La responsabilité particulière du gouvernement fédéral dans le
secteur des valeurs mobilières est un sujet controversé, qui fait
actuellement l’objet de discussions à différents paliers. En
décembre, le Comité de personnes averties a rendu public son
rapport qui préconisait la création d’un poste de responsable
national de la réglementation en matière de valeurs mobilières.
Des discussions à ce sujet se poursuivent sur d’autres tribunes.

À la différence de la question complexe de la compétence
législative en matière de valeurs mobilières, le droit pénal continue
de relever de l’autorité des législateurs fédéraux. Le texte de loi
que vous examinez aujourd’hui, le projet de loi C-13, est la
réponse du gouvernement fédéral à la baisse de confiance des
investisseurs du strict point de vue du droit pénal. Les
propositions qu’il renferme visent à rendre les autorités
policières et judiciaires mieux aptes à faire enquête et à intenter
des poursuites dans les cas de fraude sur les marchés financiers et
à restaurer ainsi la confiance des Canadiens et des investisseurs
étrangers dans l’intégrité de nos marchés.

Le projet de loi C-13 contient un ensemble de mesures
législatives venant renforcer une initiative fédérale d’application
de la loi, qui fait de la détection de la fraude financière et des
sanctions afférentes une priorité réelle et concrète. Le budget 2003
a accordé jusqu’à 30 millions de dollars par année sur une période
de cinq ans pour la création d’équipes intégrées d’application de la
loi dans le marché (EIALM) dans quatre centres financiers clés.
Ces équipes seront constituées d’enquêteurs de la GRC, d’avocats
fédéraux et de juricomptables, qui travailleront de concert avec les
responsables de la réglementation en matière de valeurs
mobilières et les autorités policières locales, pour mettre au jour
les principaux cas de fraude touchant les marchés financiers à
l’échelle nationale. Trois de ces équipes ont récemment amorcé
leurs activités, une à Vancouver et deux à Toronto.

Le projet de loi C-13, la branche législative de cette stratégie,
comporte plusieurs volets et concerne quatre secteurs distincts du
droit pénal dont je vais vous entretenir brièvement. Le projet de
loi C-13 prévoit d’abord de nouvelles infractions. Notre examen
du Code criminel nous a permis de constater que nous disposions
déjà de lois rigoureuses et efficaces pour traiter les cas de fraude
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of justice, filing a false prospectus, falsifying documents of
various sorts, and others. However, we did identify two gaps in
the law, which Bill C-13 seeks to fill.

Improper insider trading is prohibited by provincial securities
laws, but not by the Criminal Code. Insider trading can cause
significant damage both to individual investors and to the
company whose securities are traded, as well as fuel the
impression to investors that market transactions are unfair. The
use of the criminal law now appears to be a necessary additional
instrument for deterring this kind of corporate malfeasance
because of its symbolic value and because of the more severe
penalties available there.

The other new offence sometimes gets referred to as whistle-
blower protection, which is a subject receiving much attention
these days. The offence in Bill C-13 is a very targeted and narrow
form of whistle-blower protection and should not be confused
with the broader whistle-blowing issues and remedies currently
being debated. The new offence provides a form of protection to
employees through deterrence, by making it an offence for
employers to make employment-related threats or to take
retaliatory actions against employees, to stop them from
providing information about unlawful acts to law enforcement
authorities.

It should be noted that the offence does not apply where the
employee wants to reveal information about an activity that is not
illegal, such as information about financial mismanagement or
where the employee wants to reveal it to anyone other than law
enforcement, such as the media. It is very much a targeted offence
dealing with a revelation of criminal activity and protection of
employees in that regard.

The second component of the bill is comprised of sentencing
enhancements. The bill proposes to raise the sentencing of capital
market fraud offences and certain white-collar crimes in general
to the level of serious crimes in our law. The maximum prison
term for the primary fraud offence, section 380 of the Criminal
Code, would be increased from 10 to 14 years, and fraudulent
manipulation of stock exchange transactions, in section 382 of the
Criminal Code, would be increased from the current 5 to a new
10-year maximum. A maximum prison term of 14 years is the
highest maximum sentence under the Criminal Code, short of a
term of life imprisonment. The bill also provides more guidance to
judges in sentencing by spelling out certain aggravating factors,
such as a large number of victims or the exploitation of one’s
reputation in the community in order to commit the offence,
factors that demand harsher denunciation and tougher penalties
in individual cases.

The third component of the bill is the proposal to give the
federal government the jurisdiction to prosecute concurrently
with the provinces fraud and certain market-related offences.

financière, notamment au niveau des sanctions, de l’entrave à la
justice, du dépôt de prospectus fallacieux et de la falsification de
documents de toutes sortes. Nous avons toutefois décelé dans la
loi deux lacunes que nous cherchons à combler grâce au projet de
loi C-13.

Les délits d’initiés sont interdits par les lois provinciales en
matière de valeurs mobilières, mais pas par le Code criminel. Les
délits d’initiés peuvent causer d’importants dommages, tant aux
investisseurs individuels qu’à la société dont les valeurs sont
échangées, en plus d’ancrer les investisseurs dans leur conviction
que les transactions financières sont inéquitables. Compte tenu de
sa valeur symbolique et des sanctions plus sévères qu’il permet, le
recours au droit pénal semble s’imposer comme mesure
additionnelle de dissuasion pour ce genre de méfait corporatif.

L’autre nouvelle infraction concerne la protection des
dénonciateurs, un sujet suscitant beaucoup d’intérêt par les
temps qui courent. Les dispositions du projet de loi C-13
concernent une forme très ciblée et très précise de la protection
des dénonciateurs qu’il convient de ne pas confondre avec des
questions et des solutions plus vastes, qui sont actuellement
débattues dans ce dossier. Les nouvelles dispositions offrent, au
moyen de la dissuasion, une certaine forme de protection aux
employés en rendant coupables d’une infraction les employeurs
qui profèrent des menaces liées à l’emploi ou qui prennent des
mesures disciplinaires contre des employés, pour les empêcher de
fournir aux autorités policières des informations sur des
agissements illégaux.

Il convient de noter qu’il n’y a pas infraction lorsque l’employé
veut révéler des renseignements au sujet d’une activité qui n’est
pas illégale, comme de l’information à propos d’une mauvaise
gestion financière ou lorsque l’employé veut révéler les
renseignements à n’importe qui d’autre qu’aux autorités
policières, aux médias par exemple. Il s’agit donc d’une
infraction très ciblée qui vise uniquement la divulgation
d’activités criminelles et la protection des employés à ce chapitre.

Le projet de loi prévoit également des sentences plus
rigoureuses. Il propose d’augmenter les sanctions pour les
fraudes financières et certains crimes commis dans le monde des
affaires en général, afin de les porter au niveau des crimes graves
prévus par nos lois. Il propose ainsi de faire passer de 10 à 14 ans
la peine d’emprisonnement maximale pour la principale infraction
de fraude visée à l’article 380 du Code criminel, et de 5 à 10 ans
pour les manipulations frauduleuses d’opérations boursières
visées à l’article 382. Il faut signaler qu’un emprisonnement
maximal de 14 ans est la peine la plus forte prévue au Code
criminel, à l’exception de l’emprisonnement à vie. Le projet de loi
vise également à mieux guider les juges dans la détermination de
la peine en précisant certaines circonstances aggravantes, comme
un nombre élevé de victimes ou l’exploitation de la situation de
confiance d’une personne au sein de la collectivité, des facteurs
qui exigent une dénonciation plus vigoureuse et des peines plus
sévères.

La troisième composante du projet de loi propose d’accorder
au gouvernement fédéral le pouvoir d’intenter des poursuites en
même temps que les provinces dans les cas de fraude ou
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Federal prosecution resources in this area would be restricted to a
narrow range of cases that threaten the national interest and the
integrity of our capital markets and does serious damage to
investor confidence in institutions that are critical to the
Canadian economy.

This amendment would enable the federal government to add
resources to these prosecutions to ensure that all of these cases
can be prosecuted effectively. The federal government does not
intend to replace or overtake provincial prosecutorial jurisdiction,
but rather to complement it. That is an important point, senators.
We want to work together with the provinces, not supplant the
provinces.

Justice officials are currently working with provincial
prosecution services to establish protocols to ensure coordinated
and effective implementation of federal jurisdiction in a form that
is satisfactory to all parties. These protocols would affirm the
provincial primacy in this area, beginning with a provincial right
of first refusal in each case and a partnership approach
throughout.

The last component of the bill is the creation of new measures
to enhance evidence gathering in regard not only to fraud-related
offences but all criminal offences. For a number of years, law
enforcement has been asking for the addition of production order
powers to the Criminal Code, and Bill C-13 would add this tool to
the investigative toolbox of all law enforcement officers. Whereas
a search warrant allows police officers to search a certain place for
evidence, a production order would compel a person in possession
or control of relevant information to produce that information,
even if the individual stores it outside of Canada. The person
would be required to produce the information to the police within
a specified period of time. It should be noted that these
production orders could only be served on persons in
possession of evidence but that are not the subject of the
investigation — that is, served on third parties to the
investigation, not suspects.

The bill creates two forms of production orders. The first is a
general type of production order, which may be used in
circumstances where a search warrant would normally be used
and would be based on the same general standards and protected
by the same constitutional safeguards. The second, a specific
production order, has been designed as a first-step investigative
tool that would be limited to specific types of information for
which there is a lower expectation of privacy. A judge or justice
will have to be satisfied that there are reasonable grounds to
suspect that the information will assist in the investigation of an
offence.

d’infractions connexes. L’application des ressources fédérales en
matière de poursuites dans ce domaine sera restreinte à une
gamme étroite de cas qui menacent l’intérêt national et l’intégrité
de nos marchés financiers et minent sérieusement la confiance des
investisseurs dans des institutions qui sont essentielles à
l’économie canadienne.

Cette modification permettrait au gouvernement fédéral
d’injecter les ressources nécessaires pour que ces poursuites
puissent se dérouler efficacement dans tous les cas. Le
gouvernement fédéral n’a pas l’intention de remplacer les
provinces ou de se substituer aux compétences provinciales en
matière de poursuite, mais plutôt de les compléter. C’est là un
point très important, honorables sénateurs. Nous voulons
travailler de concert avec les provinces, et non pas les supplanter.

Les fonctionnaires du ministère de la Justice travaillent
actuellement avec les responsables provinciaux afin d’établir des
protocoles de poursuite qui garantiront une mise en oeuvre
coordonnée et efficace de la compétence provinciale dans une
forme satisfaisante pour toutes les parties en cause. Ces
protocoles réaffirmeront la primauté provinciale en la matière, à
commencer par un droit de premier refus dans chacun des cas et
une approche de partenariat dans tous les dossiers.

Le dernier élément du projet de loi C-13 est la création d’outils
améliorés pour l’obtention d’éléments de preuve, non seulement
dans les cas de fraude mais pour toutes les infractions criminelles.
Depuis plusieurs années, les forces policières demandent l’ajout de
pouvoirs liés à une ordonnance de communication dans le Code
criminel, et le projet de loi C-13 accordera cet outil à tous les
agents responsables de l’application de la loi. Considérant qu’un
mandat de perquisition permet à la police de fouiller un certain
lieu pour y trouver des éléments de preuve, une ordonnance de
communication obligerait une personne à produire les
renseignements pertinents, même s’ils se trouvent à l’extérieur
du Canada. La personne visée devrait fournir ces renseignements
à la police dans un délai fixé. Il convient de noter que ces
ordonnances de communication ne seraient servies qu’aux
personnes en possession de preuves qui ne font pas elles-mêmes
l’objet de l’enquête — c’est-à-dire qu’elles seraient servies à des
tiers, et non aux suspects eux-mêmes.

Le projet de loi crée deux types d’ordonnance de
communication. Premièrement, une ordonnance générale, à
laquelle on peut recourir dans les cas où on aurait normalement
recours à un mandat; une telle ordonnance serait fondée sur les
mêmes normes générales et protégée par les mêmes garanties
constitutionnelles. Deuxièmement, une ordonnance de
communication spécifique qui a été conçue comme un outil
d’enquête préliminaire dont l’application serait limitée à des
renseignements particuliers pour lesquels les attentes en matière
de vie privée sont moindres. Un juge ou un juge de la paix devra
être convaincu qu’il existe des motifs raisonnables de soupçonner
que l’information en question pourrait être utile dans le cadre
d’une enquête sur un crime.
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In particular, the narrow scope of the specific production order
would target only general threshold information related to bank
accounts, such as, the name, the address, the account number or
the date that an account was opened, but it would not relate to the
account transactions or the amounts within an account.

Hence, a distinction is made between information that has a
high expectation of privacy and information that has a lower
expectation of privacy.

Again, both production orders will be available for
investigating all criminal offences but will be particularly useful
to the efficient and effective gathering of the financial information
that is critical to investigating capital markets fraud cases.

Senators, those are the main features of the bill. The bill,
together with the focus commitment of additional enforcement
resources in the integrated market enforcement teams will help to
deter and punish fraudulent activity that affects the capital
markets and restore confidence here and abroad in the integrity of
our Canadian capital markets.

Thank you, honourable senators, and we welcome your
questions.

Senator Baker: Honourable senators, I am concerned about
this general measure that covers not just the crimes you are
attempting to target but all criminal offences, and that is a major
change in proposed new subsections of section 487 of the
Criminal Code, concerning search warrants, but this time they
are called production orders.

A recent decision of the British Columbia Supreme Court
struck down section 492.2 of the Criminal Code, which is the
search warrant for number recorder warrants, as being
unconstitutional. They did this because, according to the
Supreme Court of British Columbia, the Supreme Court of
Canada has judged in many cases that there should at least be
reasonable grounds to believe that evidence would be obtained
concerning a specific offence.

In other words, if you look at all of the search warrant
provisions now in the Criminal Code, the judge must have
reasonable grounds to believe or suspect — or a justice,
depending on what section you are talking about — that
evidence will be found concerning a particular offence as
identified in the warrant. Here you are changing that section of
the Criminal Code to give a judge or a justice — it says both,
there you go — the power on the basis that the issuing judge or
justice suspects that there is evidence to assist an investigation.

In your opinion, is that constitutional?

Mr. Normand Wong, Counsel, Criminal Law Policy,
Department of Justice Canada: Honourable senators, the recent
case of the B.C. Supreme Court dealt with a 492.2 warrant, which

En particulier, compte tenu de la portée étroite de l’ordonnance
de communication de renseignements spécifiques, celle-ci viserait
uniquement des renseignements de base liés à des comptes
bancaires, comme le nom, l’adresse et le numéro de compte ou
la date à laquelle un compte a été ouvert, mais ne viserait ni les
transactions effectuées dans le compte ni les sommes qui s’y
trouvent.

Par conséquent, on fait une distinction entre des
renseignements pour lesquels les attentes en matière de vie
privée sont élevées ou réduites.

Encore là, les deux types d’ordonnance de communication
pourront servir lors d’enquêtes relatives à toute infraction
criminelle, mais elles seront particulièrement précieuses pour la
collecte efficiente et efficace de renseignements financiers
d’importance capitale dans les enquêtes sur les cas de fraude sur
les marchés financiers.

Sénateurs, ce sont là les principales caractéristiques du projet
de loi. Alliée à l’injection de ressources supplémentaires pour les
équipes intégrées d’exécution de la loi sur le marché, cette mesure
contribuera à dissuader et à sanctionner les activités frauduleuses
qui entachent les marchés de capitaux et à restaurer la confiance,
ici et à l’étranger, dans l’intégrité de nos marchés financiers.

Merci beaucoup, honorables sénateurs. Nous sommes
maintenant prêts à répondre à vos questions.

Le sénateur Baker: Honorables sénateurs, ce qui me préoccupe,
c’est que cette mesure de nature générale vise non seulement les
infractions que vous souhaitez cibler, mais toutes les infractions
criminelles. Cela représente un changement important aux
nouvelles dispositions proposées de l’article 487 du Code
criminel concernant les mandats, mais en l’occurrence, on les
appelle des ordonnances de communication.

Dans un arrêt récent, la Cour suprême de la Colombie-
Britannique a annulé l’article 492.2 du Code criminel, qui porte
sur le mandat pour les enregistreurs de numéro, l’ayant jugé
inconstitutionnel. La Cour suprême de la Colombie-Britannique a
déclaré avoir fondé sa décision sur le fait que dans de nombreuses
affaires, la Cour suprême du Canada avait jugé qu’il devait y
avoir à tout le moins un motif raisonnable de croire que l’on
obtiendrait ainsi une preuve relative à une infraction spécifique.

Autrement dit, si l’on considère toutes les dispositions
concernant les mandats figurant actuellement dans le Code
criminel, le juge doit avoir des motifs raisonnables de croire ou
de soupçonner — ou encore un juge de paix, selon la partie en
cause —, que l’on recueillerait ainsi des preuves concernant une
infraction particulière identifiée dans le mandat. En l’occurrence,
on modifie cet article du Code criminel pour conférer ce pouvoir à
un juge ou un juge de paix — voilà, les deux sont mentionnés
— au motif que ce juge ou ce juge de paix soupçonne qu’il existe
des éléments de preuve susceptibles d’être utiles dans le cadre
d’une enquête.

À votre avis, est-ce constitutionnel?

M. Normand Wong, avocat, Section de la politique en matière de
droit pénal, ministère de la Justice du Canada: Honorables
sénateurs, le cas dont la Cour suprême de la Colombie-
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is a dial number recorder warrant. There were some interesting
facts in that case, in that the police were able to obtain toll records
for various phone numbers that were not actually suspects in the
investigation. As a result of those facts, the judge said that
the warrant was overreaching, in that it provided that
information when it should not have.

Senator Baker also alluded to the judge referring to Supreme
Court cases talking about when there is an expectation of privacy
and certain personal information that there should be reasonable
grounds to so believe. The Supreme Court has also said in a
number of cases that, where there is a lower expectation of
privacy, that standard of reasonable grounds to believe does not
have to be met, that it should be somewhat lower.

In developing this provision, what we sought to do was to keep
the status quo. Currently, many police forces around Canada
have good relationships with financial institutions or other
institutions where they can get this threshold information. In
many instances, they do not need any sort of warrant to get this
information. This information is critical to begin an investigation
and to keep it going in order to get a search warrant or any other
type of warrant that requires reasonable grounds to believe.

If police are hamstrung by having to go to a higher threshold in
order to get this information, they will be stopped at step one.
They will not be able to get that information and will not be able
to conduct an investigation.

Senator Baker: Two questions come to mind. First, you cannot
get somebody’s bank account number or identify somebody’s
bank account number today without a search warrant. That is a
violation of section 8 of the Charter. A police officer cannot
phone up a bank and say, ‘‘I want the bank account number of so
and so.’’

At present, you would use a 487 warrant, 487.1 or 487.01, if
you were seeking that information. There are other warrants that
you could get, but these are the two principal means.
Section 487.01 was passed in 1996, when I was in the House of
Commons and serving on the Justice Committee. Section 487.01
said that that warrant could only be issued if the warrant could
not issue under any other act of Parliament or the Criminal Code;
is that not right, Mr. Wong?

Mr. Wong: That is correct.

Senator Baker: That is right. The reason given for that change
to the Criminal Code at that time was that you could, if you were
looking for somebody’s banking information or their telephone
records, have the judge, given a reason for it, issue a particular
type of warrant that would not work under any other section of
the code. I will give you an example.

Britannique a été saisie récemment portait sur un mandat assujetti
à l’article 492.2, c’est-à-dire un mandat d’enregistreur de numéro.
Cette affaire a donné lieu à des faits intéressants. En effet, les
autorités policières ont été en mesure d’obtenir les registres
d’appels pour divers numéros de téléphone qui ne faisaient pas
l’objet de soupçons dans le cadre de l’enquête. Pour cette raison,
le juge a décrété que le mandat avait une portée excessive puisqu’il
avait mis au jour des renseignements qui n’auraient pas dû l’être.

Le sénateur Baker a aussi mentionné que le juge avait évoqué
des cas examinés par la Cour suprême, cette dernière ayant précisé
qu’il faut avoir des motifs raisonnables de croire en l’utilité de
cette démarche lorsque sont en cause des renseignements
personnels ou assortis d’attentes en matière de vie privée. La
Cour suprême a également précisé dans de nombreux cas que si
les attentes en matière de vie privée sont réduites, le critère des
motifs raisonnables n’est pas tenu d’être respecté, que les
exigences à cet égard sont moindres.

Notre but, en élaborant cette disposition, était de conserver le
statu quo. À l’heure actuelle, de nombreuses forces policières au
Canada entretiennent de bonnes relations avec les institutions
financières ou d’autres institutions où elles peuvent obtenir ces
renseignements préliminaires. Dans bien des cas, elles n’ont pas
besoin de mandat pour obtenir ces renseignements. Cette
information est cruciale pour lancer une enquête et pour la
poursuivre dans le but d’obtenir un mandat de perquisition ou
tout autre type de mandat exigeant des motifs raisonnables de
croire.

Si l’on complique le travail des policiers en leur imposant un
seuil plus élevé pour obtenir ces renseignements, on bloquera tout
dès le départ. Ils ne seront pas en mesure d’obtenir cette
information et, par conséquent, de faire enquête.

Le sénateur Baker: Deux questions viennent à l’esprit.
Premièrement, à l’heure actuelle, on ne peut obtenir le numéro
de compte bancaire de quelqu’un ou identifier le numéro de
quelqu’un sans mandat. Cela va à l’encontre de l’article 8 de la
Charte. Un policier ne peut téléphoner à une banque en disant:
«Je veux savoir le numéro de compte de telle ou telle personne.»

En ce moment, pour obtenir ce renseignement, il faut avoir un
mandat en vertu des articles 487, 487.1 ou 487.01. Il y a d’autres
mandats que l’on peut obtenir, mais ce sont les deux principaux.
L’article 487.01 a été adopté en 1996, alors que je siégeais à la
Chambre des communes et au Comité de la justice. Il y est précisé
que ce mandat peut être émis uniquement s’il ne peut l’être en
vertu d’une autre loi du Parlement ou du Code criminel; est-ce
exact, monsieur Wong?

M. Wong: C’est exact.

Le sénateur Baker: Si l’on a modifié le Code criminel à cette
époque, c’est pour permettre au juge, pourvu qu’il ait de bonnes
raisons de le faire, d’émettre un mandat particulier qu’il n’aurait
pas été possible d’émettre en vertu d’un autre article du Code,
advenant que vous cherchiez à obtenir des renseignements
bancaires ou encore les relevés de comptes de téléphone de
quelqu’un. Permettez-moi de vous donner un exemple.

26-2-2004 Banques et commerce 1:23



If you wanted information in Montreal, from the telephone
company, and you are in Ontario, the judge would issue the
warrant that covers for two months, for one issue, to be issued by
a justice or a judge in Quebec. It would be issued for one time
only. That would be the special thing that qualifies you for that
warrant.

If you were using that section, the judge would have to have
reasonable grounds to suspect that there was evidence there on
the commission of a crime. What this is, is that there is evidence
that would assist in an investigation. Under this provision, I can
see now why you could not use a 487.01.

Have you consulted with associations of defence lawyers in
Canada or the Canadian Bar Association? Have they passed
judgment on this proposed new section of the Criminal Code?
The B.C. court decision was to strike down section 491.2, because
it is unconstitutional.

The Chairman: Senator Baker, for your information, we will
have the Canadian Council of Criminal Defence Lawyers before
us tomorrow and the Criminal Lawyers’ Association.

Senator Baker: I wonder what they told them.

The Chairman: We can speculate; he is free to say, but we can
hear directly also what they have to say.

Senator Baker: Do you agree that the British Columbia
Supreme Court, in January, struck down section 492.2 search
warrants because they violate section 7 of the Charter, I believe it
was, in that it is unconstitutional— not, as you suggested, that it
was because of the way the information was obtained, that it was
not just the target telephone number information but all the
phone numbers that phoned in and out of that target phone, their
names and addresses, which would be contrary to section 492.2
anyway? However, section 492.2 was struck down because it
was contrary to case law as established by the Supreme Court of
Canada; is that correct?

Mr. Piragoff: Section 492.2 is a totally different issue. That is a
provision that talks about the collection of prospective
information into the future, a provision that talks about a
DNR order, ability to collect telephone numbers from a certain
period of time from today forward.

The case that the honourable senator was referring to is a case
where, as a result of that order, more than just telephone numbers
were collected. That is why the court said that, to that extent, the
provision was unconstitutional.

The provision before honourable senators does not talk about
prospective evidence. It talks about records that already exist. It is
not a provision that says, ‘‘In the next 90 days, the bank must
disclose certain information.’’ It asks, ‘‘Do you have information
with respect to a particular holder?’’ In other words, ‘‘Does he

Supposons que vous voulez obtenir des renseignements d’une
compagnie de téléphone à Montréal et que vous êtes en Ontario.
Le juge autoriserait un mandat valable pour deux mois, qui serait
émis par un juge de paix ou un juge du Québec et ce, pour une fois
seulement. Ce serait une situation spéciale qui vous permettrait
d’obtenir ce mandat.

Si vous vous prévalez de cet article, le juge devrait avoir des
motifs raisonnables de soupçonner qu’il existe des preuves qu’un
crime a été perpétré. Autrement dit, des preuves qui pourraient
être utiles dans le cadre d’une enquête. Dans le contexte de cette
disposition, je comprends maintenant pourquoi on ne peut
recourir à l’article 487.01.

Avez-vous consulté des associations d’avocats de la défense au
Canada ou l’Association du Barreau canadien? Se sont-ils
prononcés au sujet de ce nouvel article que l’on se propose
d’ajouter au Code criminel? La Cour suprême de la Colombie-
Britannique a décidé d’annuler l’article 491.2, au motif qu’il allait
à l’encontre de la Constitution.

Le président: Sénateur Baker, pour votre information, nous
accueillons demain des représentants du Conseil canadien des
avocats de la défense et de la Criminal Lawyers Association.

Le sénateur Baker: Je me demande ce qu’ils leur ont dit.

Le président: Nous pouvons faire des suppositions; le témoin
est libre de parler, mais nous pouvons entendre directement ce
qu’ils ont à dire.

Le sénateur Baker: Ne convenez-vous pas qu’en janvier, la
Cour suprême de la Colombie-Britannique a annulé des mandats
émis en vertu de l’article 492.2 parce qu’ils contrevenaient à
l’article 7 de la Charte? À mon avis, c’est parce que cet article était
inconstitutionnel et non pas, comme vous l’avez laissé entendre,
parce que les renseignements obtenus ne se limitaient pas aux
renseignements découlant du numéro de téléphone ciblé, mais
qu’ils englobaient tous les numéros de téléphone visés par des
appels effectués en provenance ou à destination du téléphone
cible, avec les noms et les adresses des interlocuteurs, ce qui serait
de toute façon contraire à l’article 492.2. Cependant,
l’article 492.2 a été annulé parce qu’il était contraire à la
jurisprudence telle qu’établie par la Cour suprême du Canada,
n’est-ce pas?

M. Piragoff: L’article 492.2 porte sur tout autre chose. Il s’agit
d’une disposition concernant la collecte de renseignements utiles
pour l’avenir, une disposition relative à une ordonnance
d’enregistreur de numéro, à la capacité de faire la collecte de
numéros de téléphone pendant une certaine période, à compter
d’aujourd’hui et après.

Dans le cas mentionné par l’honorable sénateur, à la suite
d’une telle ordonnance, on a recueilli plus que des numéros de
téléphone. Voilà pourquoi la cour a jugé que puisqu’il en était
ainsi, cette disposition était inconstitutionnelle.

Or, la disposition qu’examinent les honorables sénateurs ne fait
pas état de preuves futures. Il est question de registres qui existent
déjà. Ce n’est pas une disposition en vertu de laquelle la banque
est tenue de divulguer certains renseignements dans les 90 jours
qui suivent. On demande plutôt: «Avez-vous des renseignements
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have an account?’’ — that is basically what we are asking about,
the small, specific order. The judge — not just the police — has
reasonable grounds to suspect that the bank is in possession of
information that will facilitate the investigation. The type of
evidence is whether this particular individual has a bank account;
if so, what is the number of that bank account?

That is it. You cannot get from this order the amount of money
in the bank account or the transactions in that bank account. You
have to use a search warrant or a general production order to get
that information. Those are at a higher threshold.

As I indicated, the scheme is based on differentiating between
information that has high expectations of privacy, such as actual
amounts and transactions, as opposed to lower expectations of
privacy, which is, the existence of a bank account.

Senator Kelleher: I want to go to a much lower level of
questioning because I am not familiar with any of those sections
of the Criminal Code. However, I am familiar with the Criminal
Code, and I am also familiar with securities matters, securities
frauds and things of that nature.

I commend you for bringing forth this new legislation. A
certain amount of it is in response to what our American friends
south of the border are doing in their area. I think that we have
pretty good legislation on the books right now, even without this
new bill, which is great. In the States, they lay the charges, get
convictions, out come the orange suits and these people go to jail.

Perhaps you can explain to me, since you are under the
prosecutorial area, why do we not seem to get many convictions?
Frankly, if we do get convictions, nobody ever goes to jail. I just
do not understand this.

I am a believer in orange suits. I am a great believer that things
are not going to change much here in Canada. God knows, we
have had our share of scandals here. Nobody has even been
charged yet in Bre-X.

What is the problem here? Are we not pursuing the cases to
trial? When we get there, are we being met with a judiciary that
does not regard these crimes as serious and that does not put
people in jail?

Can you perhaps try to explain to me what our problem is here
compared with the record in the States? I am not saying that
things are not a bit overboard in the States — they may be.
However, surely to goodness we could do a little better than we
are doing at the present time.

Mr. William Bartlett, Senior Counsel, Criminal Law Policy,
Department of Justice Canada: I agree with you that the record in
the United States seems to be better in terms of the speed with

concernant un titulaire de compte en particulier?» Autrement dit,
on veut savoir s’il a un compte. Essentiellement, c’est ce qu’on
veut savoir. Il s’agit d’une ordonnance étroite et spécifique. Le
juge — et non seulement la police — a des motifs raisonnables de
soupçonner que la banque est en possession de renseignements
susceptibles de faciliter l’enquête. En l’occurrence, il s’agit de
savoir si l’individu visé a un compte dans cette banque et, dans
l’affirmative, son numéro.

Rien de plus. On ne peut obtenir au moyen de cette
ordonnance le solde du compte ou les transactions qui y ont été
effectuées. Pour ce faire, il faut obtenir un mandat ou une
ordonnance de communication générale, deux documents qui
sont assujettis à des exigences plus élevées.

Comme je l’ai indiqué, le système se fonde sur la différence
entre des renseignements assortis d’attentes élevées en matière de
vie privée, comme les sommes et les transactions figurant dans un
compte, et des renseignements assortis d’attentes réduites en
matière de vie privée, comme la simple existence d’un compte
bancaire.

Le sénateur Kelleher: Je vais poser des questions beaucoup
moins pointues puisque je ne suis pas familier avec ces
dispositions du Code criminel. Cela dit, je connais bien le Code
criminel ainsi que les questions liées aux valeurs mobilières, aux
fraudes en valeurs mobilières, etc.

Je vous félicite de présenter cette nouvelle mesure. Par certains
côtés, elle constitue le pendant de ce que font dans ce domaine nos
amis Américains. À mon avis, la législation actuelle est déjà
solide, même sans ce nouveau projet de loi, ce qui est formidable.
Aux États-Unis, on porte des accusations, on obtient des
condamnations, on sort les uniformes orange et les coupables se
retrouvent en prison.

Étant donné que vous travaillez pour la Couronne, vous
pourriez peut-être m’expliquer pourquoi nous ne semblons pas
aller chercher de nombreuses condamnations? Franchement,
même si des gens sont reconnus coupables, personne ne va
jamais en prison. Je ne comprends tout simplement pas cela.

Je crois fermement aux uniformes orange. Cela dit, je ne pense
pas que les choses vont beaucoup changer ici au Canada. Dieu
sait que nous avons eu notre part de scandales au pays. Personne
n’a même jamais été accusé dans l’affaire Bre-X.

Quel est le problème ici? Pourquoi n’intentons-nous pas des
procès dans ces affaires? Et lorsque c’est le cas, pourquoi notre
appareil judiciaire ne semble-t-il pas considérer ces crimes aussi
sérieux que d’autres et n’envoie-t-il pas les coupables en prison?

Peut-être pourriez-vous m’expliquer quel est notre problème si
l’on compare notre situation à la feuille de route aux États-Unis?
Je ne dis pas que les États-Unis ne poussent pas un peu loin —
sans doute. Cependant, nous pourrions certainement faire mieux
qu’à l’heure actuelle.

M. William Bartlett, avocat principal, Section de la politique en
matière de droit pénal, ministère de la Justice du Canada: Je
conviens avec vous que la feuille de route des États-Unis semble

26-2-2004 Banques et commerce 1:25



which charges are laid and the speed with which they are resolved,
either through guilty pleas or trial. Without a doubt, the
sentencing in the United States is significantly harsher.

There are a number of differences in Canada, including a very
different approach to sentencing. We simply do not have the very
harsh maximums and the relatively harsh minimums, particularly
in the federal level. The American sentencing provisions provide
for the sentencing ranges. You will have seen this on any TV show
where the police get the person into the District Attorney’s office,
and they say, ‘‘For your offence, you will get six to 12.’’ That
comes out of a grid. Plug in a few factors, and you get both a floor
and a ceiling for sentencing.

The experience has been mixed in the United States. Many
American states are now abandoning their sentencing grids for a
number of reasons, including the fact that they cannot build the
prisons fast enough. They have to release people before the
sentence is up, including some quite violent offenders, because
they simply run out of room to house them, even at four to a cell.

The American system is different. In Canada, we leave the
sentencing to the discretion of the sentencing judges. The
American sentencing system, I must admit, because it is so
harsh, does provide a significant motivation to people to plead
guilty and offer information on others at a fairly early stage.

In Canada, that would be regarded as improper duress. I am
told that Law & Order is a fairly accurate depiction of what occurs
in plea-bargaining in the United States. The prospect of the place
where the person would wind up in the sentencing grid is a
powerful incentive to turn or plead to the charge.

I should like to address the way in which we will deal with this
in Canada. The bill addresses sentencing, but not with minimum
sentencing because our experience with minimum sentencing is
that it does not work well. They rather distort things. The
sentences become ceilings rather than floors. They become the
maximum, rather than the minimum. Judges simply do not accept
that kind of imposition on their sentencing indiscretion and find
various ways to get out of it, frankly.

This bill raises the maximum sentence with respect to fraud
from 10 to 14 years. That is the largest maximum sentence we
have in the Criminal Code, short of a term of up to life
imprisonment. We would add some sentencing factors, both
aggravating and non-mitigating factors, that will point the judges

meilleure pour ce qui est de la rapidité avec laquelle on porte des
accusations et on résout de telles affaires, que ce soit à la suite
d’une reconnaissance de culpabilité ou d’un procès. Il ne fait
aucun doute qu’aux États-Unis, le système de détermination de la
peine est beaucoup plus sévère.

Il existe certains nombres de différences avec le Canada, y
compris en ce qui a trait à l’approche en matière de détermination
de la peine. Nous n’avons tout simplement pas les peines
maximales très sévères et les peines minimales relativement
sévères qu’il y a là-bas, particulièrement au niveau fédéral. Les
dispositions américaines en matière de détermination de la peine
prévoient des fourchettes de peines. Vous avez pu le constater en
regardant n’importe quelle émission de télévision. Les autorités
policières emmènent l’inculpé au Bureau du procureur de district
et c’est là qu’on lui dit: «Pour votre crime, vous purgerez de 6 à
12 ans de prison.» Ces peines sont issues d’une grille. Ajoutez à
cela quelques facteurs, et vous avez à la fois un plancher et un
plafond pour ce qui est des peines.

L’expérience a connu un succès mitigé aux États-Unis. De
nombreux États américains abandonnent maintenant leurs
barèmes de peines pour diverses raisons, notamment le fait
qu’ils ne peuvent construire de prisons assez vite. Ils doivent
remettre des détenus en liberté avant l’expiration de leur peine, y
compris des détenus violents, tout simplement parce qu’ils n’ont
pas suffisamment de place dans leurs prisons, même en les
entassant à quatre par cellule.

Le système américain est différent. Au Canada, la
détermination de la peine relève du juge qui prononce la peine.
Étant donné sa sévérité, je l’avoue, le système de détermination de
la peine américain motive énormément les inculpés à plaider
coupable et à fournir des renseignements sur d’autres assez
rapidement.

Au Canada, cela serait considéré comme une contrainte
abusive. On me dit que Law & Order présente un portrait assez
fidèle des négociations de plaidoyers aux États-Unis. Le fait que
l’inculpé sache ce que lui réserve la grille de détermination de la
peine est un incitatif puissant à collaborer ou à reconnaître sa
culpabilité.

J’aimerais expliquer comment nous allons fonctionner à cet
égard au Canada. Le projet de loi aborde la question de la
détermination de la peine, mais sans préciser de peine minimale
car d’après notre expérience, l’imposition d’une peine minimale ne
fonctionne pas bien. Cela a plutôt pour effet de fausser la donne.
Les peines en question deviennent des plafonds plutôt que des
seuils. Elles se transforment en peines maximales au lieu d’être des
peines minimales. Les juges n’acceptent tout simplement pas
qu’on limite ainsi leur pouvoir discrétionnaire en matière de
détermination de la peine et, en vérité, ils trouvent divers moyens
de contourner cela.

La mesure porte la peine maximale pour fraude de 10 à 14 ans.
Il s’agit là de la plus longue peine maximale prévue au Code
criminel, l’emprisonnement à perpétuité mis à part. À cela, nous
ajouterions certains facteurs aggravants et non atténuants, qui
amèneront les magistrats à imposer des peines plus sévères dans
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towards higher sentences in any major fraud cases, not just capital
markets fraud cases. It should produce sentences that better
reflect the seriousness of these cases.

However, people do get significant jail terms in Canada. It is
not as well reported as it is in the United States— they do not get
sentences of quite that order, but sentences of five to nine years
are not that uncommon. The sentencing data is a little sketchy on
that, but they do certainly occur.

The accompanying program of an intensive enforcement effort
with integrated teams in all the major financial centres, some
significant resources to the RCMP, with legal advisors and
additional resources for prosecutions, will put the priority on
these cases, at both the investigative and prosecutorial stages, to
ensure that they are investigated with as much alacrity as possible,
that charges are laid where appropriate and that the cases are
prosecuted as effectively and as quickly as they can be.

We have certain constitutional safeguards in place, including
constitutionally mandated disclosure, causes some challenges at
these trials. They are very complex trials.

There are problems with getting these trials dealt with in any
relatively short period of time, but they can be made more
effective and efficient. We hope the measures, both on the
operational and legislative sides, will address that.

Senator Kelleher: Will there be sufficient money to supply the
resources so that we have the people to prosecute white-collar
crime? As a former solicitor general, I have some knowledge of
this area, and I have knowledge of the fact that there is not much
money allocated for white-collar crimes within Canada. I am just
concerned that not much is going to happen if we do not have
people out there to handle these cases. Also, frankly, I think we
have a bit of a problem with our judiciary, who are not prepared
to give any lengthy sentences, or any sentences at all, for jail.

I should like to have your comments on those.

Mr. Bartlett: Well, senator, part of the IMET program, the
integrated market enforcement team, includes resources for
federal prosecutors. There will be some challenges in coming to
amicable arrangements with the provinces, to allow these federal
prosecutorial resources to be employed, but there is money for
additional federal prosecutors to be employed.

There is some money in the program to assist the provinces
with some of the unusual costs that they face. We have to deal
with the concerns the provinces have that this may involve some
infringement of their turf, but we are making some progress on
that. We hope there will be additional skilled personnel available
to ensure that these cases are all prosecuted, and prosecuted
effectively.

tous les cas majeurs de fraude, et non seulement de fraude
touchant les marchés financiers. Nous devrions ainsi voir des
peines qui reflètent mieux le caractère sérieux de ces cas.

Cela dit, les coupables au Canada se voient imposer de lourdes
peines d’emprisonnement. On en fait moins de cas dans les médias
qu’aux États-Unis — les peines ne sont pas du même ordre —,
mais des peines de prison de cinq à neuf ans ne sont pas rares. Les
données concernant les peines sont plutôt fragmentaires, mais
chose certaine, il arrive que de telles peines soient imposées.

Le programme d’accompagnement, qui prévoit un effort
d’exécution de la loi intensif mené à bien par des équipes
intégrées dans tous les grands centres financiers, l’injection de
ressources importantes dans la GRC, de même que le recrutement
de conseillers juridiques et d’effectifs accrus pour la Couronne
nous permettra d’accorder la priorité à ces affaires, tant au niveau
de l’enquête que des poursuites. On veut ainsi s’assurer que les
enquêtes se fassent avec la plus grande célérité, que des
accusations soient portées lorsque cela s’impose et que les
poursuites soient engagées aussi efficacement et rapidement que
possible.

Certaines garanties constitutionnelles, y compris la
communication de la preuve mandatée par la Constitution,
imposent certains défis lors de tels procès. Il s’agit de procès
très complexes.

Il est difficile de mener à bien ces procès dans un court laps de
temps, mais on peut certes les rendre plus efficients et efficaces.
Nous espérons que la mesure, qui intervient tant sur le plan
législatif qu’opérationnel, nous permettra d’améliorer la situation.

Le sénateur Kelleher: Aura-t-on suffisamment de fonds pour
financer ces ressources et avoir les effectifs voulus pour poursuivre
en justice les fraudeurs? Ayant déjà été solliciteur général, je ne
suis pas un néophyte dans le domaine, et je sais qu’il n’y a pas
tellement d’argent alloué à la lutte contre la fraude au Canada. Je
crains simplement qu’il ne se passe pas grand-chose si nous ne
pouvons compter sur des effectifs accrus pour traiter ces cas. Pour
être franc, je suis assez déçu de nos magistrats, qui ne sont pas
disposés à imposer de lourdes peines d’emprisonnement, ni même
quelque peine que ce soit.

J’aimerais que vous commentiez mes propos.

M. Bartlett: Sénateur, dans le cadre du programme d’équipes
intégrées d’exécution de la loi dans le marché, on prévoit
l’allocation de ressources pour embaucher des procureurs
fédéraux. Il ne sera pas facile de conclure des arrangements à
l’amiable avec les autorités provinciales pour permettre le recours
à ces procureurs fédéraux, mais on a prévu des fonds pour en
embaucher d’autres.

Le programme prévoit des fonds pour aider les provinces à
absorber certains coûts inhabituels. Celles-ci craignent, par
ailleurs, que cette mesure n’empiète sur leur champ de
compétence. Nous réalisons toutefois des progrès sur ce front.
Nous espérons que des ressources spécialisées additionnelles
seront effectivement consacrées aux poursuites.
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Senator Kelleher: What about the apparent — I say
apparent — problem with the judiciary not wishing to ever
incarcerate these people who are convicted? I know we do not like
to ever criticize the judiciary, but it has never bothered me in the
past.

Mr. Bartlett: There is case law, particularly in the last few
years, indicating that the courts do recognize, at higher levels
particularly, that large-scale fraud is a serious offence that does
require a prison sentence for deterrence and denunciation. Part of
the effect that raising the maximum sentence and providing for
these sentencing factors should have is that it is a new element
that prosecutors will be putting before the courts, and arguing
that the intent of Parliament, as it clearly is, is that there should be
higher sentences in these cases. If the result is not higher
sentences, that is something that could be taken to an appellate
level to get guidance from appellate courts about how to
implement the clear intent of Parliament in this regard.

[Translation]

Senator Hervieux-Payette: Mention is made in one section of
the bill of protecting employees. However, persons who obtain
information about stocks, at gatherings of family and friends, for
example, and who may wish to share that information have only
two options. Either they can say nothing and buy some stock, or,
they can make a complaint. To whom should a person with inside
information direct their complaint? To the former Quebec
Securities Commission, which now goes by another name, to
the Montreal Stock Exchange or to law enforcement personnel? I
do not see how filing a complaint with the police would be very
useful. I am not talking about a employee as such, but about
someone with inside information that should not be disseminated,
information that could have a major impact on a stock’s
performance.

As far as the stock market is concerned, given the way
information spreads like wildfire these days, one person may have
some information, and yet the next day, 90 people have the same
information. Disclosure sets off a chain reaction. Therefore, let
me repeat my question: To whom should a person in this situation
direct their complaint?

[English]

Mr. Bartlett: Senator, nothing will have changed insofar as any
citizen who has information that a criminal offence has occurred
can and should go to the police. Any citizen who is aware of
insider trading could now go to a securities commission and make
a complaint. If an offence of insider trading is added to the
Criminal Code, an individual could go to the police with that
information.

The offence that we have in here addresses employees, because
their employment situation is often quite vulnerable if they
disclose illegal conduct that is occurring in the company in which
they work. However, certainly anyone else with information
would have the option of either going to the securities
commission, the regulators in the province, if what they fear

Le sénateur Kelleher: On a l’impression — et j’insiste là-
dessus — que l’appareil judiciaire ne tient pas à incarcérer les
coupables. Nous n’aimons pas critiquer l’appareil judiciaire, mais
cette question ne m’a jamais préoccupé dans le passé.

M. Bartlett: Si l’on se fie aux décisions qui ont été rendues,
notamment au cours des dernières années, les tribunaux
reconnaissent que la fraude à grande échelle, surtout aux
échelons supérieurs, est une infraction grave qui doit faire
l’objet d’une peine d’emprisonnement aux fins de dissuasion, et
qui doit être dénoncée. Les dispositions relatives à l’aggravation
de la peine maximale et aux facteurs qui doivent être pris en
compte lors de la détermination de la peine devraient, entre
autres, permettre aux procureurs de démontrer aux tribunaux que
l’intention du Parlement est très claire, à savoir que ces délits
doivent être assortis de peines plus sévères. Si des peines plus
sévères ne sont pas imposées, les cours d’appel pourront être
appelées à définir ce qu’est l’intention claire du Parlement dans ce
domaine.

[Français]

Le sénateur Hervieux-Payette: Il est question dans l’article de
protéger les employés. Cependant, des gens qui obtiennent des
informations sur des transactions, lors de réunions de familles ou
d’amis, par exemple, et qui répandent ces informations, n’ont que
deux options. D’une part, ils ne disent rien et achètent les actions
ou, d’autre part, ils portent plainte. J’aimerais savoir où ces
personnes détenant une information privilégiée portent plainte.
Est-ce à l’ancienne Commission des valeurs mobilières du Québec
— qui a changé de nom —, à la Bourse de Montréal ou au poste
de police? Je ne pense pas que porter plainte au poste de police
serait très utile. Je ne parle pas d’un employé, mais d’une personne
qui détiendrait une information interne qui ne devrait pas circuler
et qui pourrait avoir une influence énorme sur le cours de la
bourse.

En ce qui concerne le téléphone arabe, dans le cas de la Bourse,
c’est une personne qui détient l’information, pourtant, le
lendemain, 90 personnes peuvent être au courant. C’est alors
que nous avons une réaction en chaîne. Alors je le répète:
où doit-on porter plainte?

[Traduction]

M. Bartlett: Sénateur, il n’y a rien de changé à cet égard: la
personne qui sait qu’un acte criminel a été commis doit et devrait
le signaler à la police. La personne qui sait qu’un délit d’initié a
été commis peut maintenant déposer une plainte auprès d’une
commission des valeurs mobilières. Le délit d’initié, s’il est
considéré comme une infraction en vertu du Code criminel, doit
être rapporté à la police.

L’infraction qui est créée vise les employés, parce que leur
situation est souvent très précaire lorsqu’ils dénoncent une
conduite illégale au sein de l’entreprise. Toutefois, la personne
en possession de renseignements peut s’adresser soit à la
commission des valeurs mobilières, soit à l’organisme de
réglementation de la province, si elle pense qu’il s’agit d’une
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has occurred is a provincial offence, or a regulatory matter. If it is
a matter of fraud, or the new insider trading offence, or something
that constitutes an offence under the Criminal Code, an
individual could certainly go to the police with that information.

In the case of a fraud, or insider trading, in the four major
financial centres they could certainly go to these new market
enforcement teams, and report it to the RCMP in those teams.

Senator Hervieux-Payette: For Quebec and Ontario, we have
different police forces— provincial police forces, not the RCMP.
Are you assured that there is a special training program for the
police force in these two provinces, and are you aware that there
will be special training for the RCMP around the country?

Mr. Bartlett: Certainly the RCMP officers who will be
involved in this program will be specially selected and specially
trained. I know that the investigators in the OPP anti-rackets
branch, and the parallel section of the Sûreté du Québec are quite
experienced and well trained.

The IMET program will do everything it can to coordinate
with these existing police forces — the OPP, the Sûreté and the
municipal police forces, like the Metro Toronto police force, the
metro fraud squad — to ensure that all of them are working
effectively together and that all of them are as aware as possible of
what the others are doing and of the tools that are available, and
using them as effectively as possible.

Senator Hervieux-Payette: It means that you have consulted
with them and they are in agreement with the new law?

Mr. Bartlett: We have had no particular comments from the
Sûreté. We have discussed this with representatives of the OPP
anti-rackets and the metro fraud squad, and they were certainly
supportive, yes.

Senator Prud’homme: Did you have discussions with the
Sûreté?

Mr. Bartlett: We had no discussions with the Sûreté, no.

Senator Prud’homme: So, of course, you did not receive any
comments.

Mr. Bartlett: The bill has been on the table for some time, but,
no, we have not had any particular discussions with them.

The Chairman: With respect to the IMET teams, who is in
charge?

Mr. Bartlett: The IMETs will be led by the RCMP, if you will,
but the management of the unit will take the form of a joint
management team, with representatives from the RCMP, the
federal prosecution service, which will be supplying the legal
advisors, other police forces and attorneys general who have been
brought into the program and are cooperating with and

infraction provinciale ou d’une question de réglementation. S’il
s’agit d’un acte de fraude, d’un délit d’initié ou d’une autre
infraction pénale, elle peut certainement transmettre ces
renseignements à la police.

On peut, dans les quatre grands centres financiers, signaler
l’acte de fraude ou le délit d’initié aux équipes intégrées
d’application de la loi dans les marchés, aux agents de la GRC
qui font partie de ces équipes.

Le sénateur Hervieux-Payette: Le Québec et l’Ontario sont
desservis par des corps policiers différents — c’est-à-dire des
forces de police provinciales, et non pas la GRC. Existe-t-il un
programme de formation spécial pour les corps policiers de ces
deux provinces? Est-ce que les agents de la GRC en poste dans les
différentes régions du pays vont avoir droit à une formation
spéciale?

M. Bartlett: Les agents de la GRC qui vont participer au
programme vont être sélectionnés avec soin et bénéficier d’une
formation spéciale. Je sais que les enquêteurs qui font partie de
l’escouade des crimes économiques de la PPO, et de son pendant
au sein de la Sûreté du Québec, sont très expérimentés et bien
formés.

Les équipes intégrées d’application de la loi dans les marchés
vont s’efforcer de coordonner leurs activités avec celles des corps
policiers existants — la PPO, la Sûreté, les forces de police
municipales, comme la force policière ou la brigade de la fraude
de la Communauté urbaine de Toronto — afin de s’assurer
qu’elles travaillent effectivement en collaboration, qu’elles sont au
courant, dans la mesure du possible, de ce que font les autres,
qu’elles connaissent les outils mis à leur disposition, outils qu’elles
utiliseront avec efficacité.

Le sénateur Hervieux-Payette: Vous les avez donc consultées?
Elles appuient la nouvelle loi?

M. Bartlett: La Sûreté ne nous a pas fait part de ses
commentaires. Nous avons discuté de la question avec des
représentants de l’escouade des crimes économiques de la PPO
et de la brigade de la fraude de la Communauté urbaine de
Toronto. Ils appuient l’initiative.

Le sénateur Prud’homme: En avez-vous discuté avec la Sûreté?

M. Bartlett: Non, nous ne l’avons pas fait.

Le sénateur Prud’homme: Donc, vous n’avez pas reçu de
commentaires de sa part.

M. Bartlett: Le projet de loi existe déjà depuis un bon moment,
mais, non, nous n’en avons pas discuté avec la Sûreté.

Le président: Qui est responsable des équipes intégrées
d’application de la loi dans les marchés?

M. Bartlett: Les équipes vont être dirigées par la GRC.
Toutefois, l’unité va être gérée par un comité mixte formé de
représentants de la GRC, du service fédéral des poursuites, qui
s’occupera de détacher les conseillers juridiques, les policiers, les
procureurs généraux qui ont été affectés au programme. Ils
travailleront tous en collaboration. Des intervenants de l’industrie
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coordinated with the program, and perhaps some of the industry
stakeholders, on some basis. They cannot be brought in entirely
because there are sensitive issues that would be discussed, but they
might be brought in to discuss certain strategic issues. There will
be a fairly broad-based management team that will manage these
units. The chair will be the RCMP. The actual investigating will
be done by RCMP officers or other provincial or municipal police
officers that are brought into the units to do the investigation.

Senator Massicotte: Honourable senators, I have a couple of
questions. I want to support Senator Kelleher on the importance
of such legislation, the importance for efforts to clean up. There is
still a bit too much looseness in our policing of securities
commissions and infractions.

My friends at the RCMP would suggest that the problem so far
has not been a lack of legislation but a lack of resources to even
pursue and find out if one did wrong — never mind bring the
person to jail. I also share the same opinion, that I do not see
much visibility. If you want there to be a deterrent, it must be
visible, where we do put these people in jail. Somehow, we have to
find a way to make it a deterrent, because if it is written there but
is not known, it does not have much effect.

Let me ask you two more questions. Included in Sarbanes-
Oxley were specific provisions, wherein the CO and CEO had to
sign an affidavit stating that the financial statements represent
fairly the financial position of the company. It had specific
provisions for jail terms if that representation was deemed to be
inaccurate.

We do not deal with that. OSCE requires that more recently,
but it is not in our proposed act. Why would that not be the case?

Mr. Bartlett: That is a matter of securities regulation. At the
moment, securities regulation falls entirely to the provincial and
territorial securities commissions and the laws that they enforce
that regulate securities in all of the provinces and territories.
There are 13 of them. There are proposals to create a national
securities regulator. The Department of Finance commissioned
the Wise Persons’ Committee, which reported some months ago
recommending such a national securities regulator. However,
several provinces have strong reservations about the idea. Hence,
whether or not that will come to fruition remains to be seen, and
there are a lot of discussions ahead. However, those are not
criminal matters.

In the United States, the jurisdiction at the federal level, in
particular, is very mixed. In fact, the American federal
government has no direct criminal law jurisdiction. It does
make tremendous criminal law as an adjunct to its other heads of
power, and, in this case, it has power over interstate commerce,
which includes securities matters, because they almost invariably
cross state lines. Sarbanes-Oxley has a great deal of regulatory
provisions, as well as offence provisions supporting those
regulatory provisions. In Canada, at the moment that falls
entirely to the provinces; it is not a criminal matter that would be
appropriate to deal with in the Criminal Code.

viendront peut-être s’ajouter au groupe. Toutefois, ils ne
participeront pas aux discussions lorsque des questions de
nature délicate seront abordées. Ils le feront lorsque certaines
stratégies seront examinées. L’équipe de gestion qui chapeautera
ces unités sera diversifiée. Elle sera présidée par la GRC. Les
enquêtes elles-mêmes seront menées par des agents de la GRC, ou
encore par des membres des forces de police provinciales ou
municipales affectés aux unités chargées de faire enquête.

Le sénateur Massicotte: Honorables sénateurs, j’ai quelques
questions à poser. J’insiste, tout comme l’a fait le sénateur
Kelleher, sur l’importance de cette mesure législative, sur la
nécessité d’intervenir dans ce domaine. Les commissions des
valeurs mobilières de même que les infractions qui sont commises
ne font pas l’objet d’une surveillance suffisamment rigoureuse.

Mes amis au sein de la GRC vont dire que ce n’est pas
l’absence d’une loi qui pose problème, mais plutôt le manque de
ressources pour même trouver et poursuivre les contrevenants —
sans parler de les emprisonner. Je pense, moi aussi, qu’il y a un
manque de visibilité. Si vous voulez que ces mesures aient un effet
dissuasif, il faut qu’une peine d’emprisonnement soit imposée.
Nous devons effectivement trouver un moyen de leur donner un
tel effet. Autrement, elles ne serviront pas à grand-chose.

Je voudrais vous poser deux questions. La loi Sarbanes-Oxley
précise que le directeur des finances et le chef de la direction
doivent signer une déclaration attestant que les rapports
financiers reflètent fidèlement la situation de la société. La loi
prévoit des peines d’emprisonnement si cette déclaration est jugée
inexacte.

Il n’est aucunement question de cela dans le projet de loi.
L’OSCE a imposé la même exigence récemment. Le projet de loi,
lui, n’en fait pas mention. Pourquoi?

M. Bartlett: Cette question relève du règlement sur les valeurs
mobilières. À l’heure actuelle, le règlement est appliqué par les
commissions des valeurs mobilières provinciales et territoriales. Il
tombe sous le coup des lois qui régissent les valeurs mobilières
dans les provinces et les territoires. On en compte treize. On a déjà
proposé de créer un organisme national de réglementation des
valeurs mobilières. Le ministère des Finances a demandé à un
comité des sages de se pencher là-dessus. Le comité a
recommandé, il y a quelques mois, qu’un tel organisme soit mis
sur pied. Toutefois, plusieurs provinces s’y opposent. Je ne sais
pas si cet organisme de réglementation va finir par voir le jour,
mais il reste encore beaucoup de points à discuter. Toutefois, cette
question ne relève pas du droit pénal.

Aux États-Unis, la compétence au niveau fédéral, notamment,
est très partagée. En fait, le gouvernement fédéral n’exerce pas de
compétence directe sur le droit criminel. Il adopte des lois pénales,
et ce pouvoir s’ajoute à ceux qu’il possède déjà. Dans ce cas-ci, il a
le pouvoir de légiférer dans le domaine du commerce entre États,
et cela englobe les valeurs mobilières, puisque celles-ci intéressent
invariablement tous les États. La loi Sarbanes-Oxley comprend
un grand nombre de dispositions réglementaires qui sont assorties
de sanctions. Au Canada, cette question relève uniquement de la
compétence des provinces. Elle n’a rien à voir avec le Code
criminel.
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Senator Massicotte: If the certification is proven to be wrong or
erroneous, would that not be a fraud and, therefore, it falls under
the act?

Mr. Bartlett: There are provisions, certainly in the Criminal
Code, for making false documents. For example, there is
section 397 of the Criminal Code, where you simply submit any
kind of document with intent to defraud. So, in a general sense,
yes, if they submitted the certification with the intent to defraud,
there would be offences in the Criminal Code to cover it.

What we do not have is something that directly focuses in on
an obligation to submit a financial statement and an offence for
failure to do so or failure to do so according to the required
process or time, or that sort of regulatory provision that goes
much further than making a false document with intent to
defraud.

Senator Massicotte: On the whistle-blower stuff, I can
appreciate that if an employee blows the whistle, resulting in an
infraction against the employer, the employee is protected.
However, if, for some reason, good or bad, the employer is not
convicted of an infraction, is there any protection for the
employee in that circumstance?

Mr. Bartlett: The employee is protected through the deterrent
effect of the criminal law. The criminal law cannot get into the
civil matter of requiring that employees be reinstated, and so on.
That is the sort of thing that, for example, the federal government
is looking at in terms of a broad-based whistle-blower policy and,
perhaps, whistle-blowing legislation that would actually protect
the employment situation itself.

The Criminal Code can deter this conduct by making it an
offence and punishing employers when they do it so that they will
be deterred from taking that sort of action.

Senator Massicotte: I am not sure I understood your answer.
Your answer is that the employee is protected if there is an
infraction, however, the employee is not protected if, for some
reason, the infraction is not proven; is that accurate?

Mr. Bartlett: All employees are protected to the extent that, if
any employee is threatened or retaliatory action is taken, the
employer is liable to a criminal offence. The criminal law attempts
to deter anyone from taking that sort of action for fear of the
criminal law consequences. If you are asking whether we can step
in and stop the employer from taking the action, the criminal law
cannot do that. That would be a civil matter, although, if what the
employer is doing constitutes a criminal offence, that would have
some impact on the civil remedies that the employee could then
pursue.

Senator Massicotte: I am not sure I understand.

If an employee accused his or her employer of an infraction but
for some reason the court does not agree with that accusation can
the employer fire the employee? Just a yes or no will be good
enough.

Le sénateur Massicotte: N’y aurait-il pas fraude s’il s’avérait
que la déclaration est fausse ou erronée? Est-ce cet acte ne
relèverait pas de la loi?

M. Bartlett: Le Code criminel contient des dispositions sur les
faux documents. L’article 397, par exemple, porte sur le dépôt de
documents avec l’intention de frauder. Donc, oui, si une
déclaration dans l’intention de frauder était soumise, des
sanctions seraient appliquées en vertu du Code criminel.

Ce qui nous manque, ce sont des dispositions qui exigent le
dépôt d’un rapport financier et qui prévoient l’application de
sanctions en cas de non-présentation d’un rapport ou en cas de
non-présentation d’un rapport selon les règles établies ou dans les
délais prévus, ou une disposition réglementaire qui ne se limite pas
uniquement à la falsification de documents avec l’intention de
frauder.

Le sénateur Massicotte: Concernant la dénonciation, je crois
comprendre que l’employé, lorsqu’il dénonce une infraction qui se
traduit par la mise en accusation de l’employeur, bénéficie d’une
protection. Toutefois, si, pour une raison ou pour une autre,
qu’elle soit bonne ou mauvaise, l’employeur n’est pas accusé, est-
ce que l’employé bénéficie quand même d’une protection?

M. Barlett: L’employé est protégé grâce à l’effet dissuasif de la
loi pénale. Toutefois, la loi pénale ne peut, par exemple, exiger
que l’employé réintègre son poste, puisque cette question relève
du domaine civil. Or, c’est le genre de chose que le gouvernement
fédéral prévoit proposer dans le cadre d’une politique générale sur
la dénonciation, et peut-être d’une loi sur la dénonciation qui
protégerait, dans les faits, la situation d’emploi du fonctionnaire.

Le Code criminel peut dissuader ce genre de comportement en
transformant celui-ci en infraction et en sanctionnant les
employeurs pris en défaut.

Le sénateur Massicotte: Je ne sais pas si j’ai bien compris. Vous
dites que l’employé bénéficie d’une protection s’il est prouvé
qu’une infraction a été commise. Toutefois, il n’a droit à aucune
protection si, pour une raison ou pour une autre, l’infraction n’a
été démontrée. Est-ce bien cela?

M. Barlett: Tous les employés bénéficient d’une protection
dans la mesure où, si un employé est menacé ou que des mesures
disciplinaires sont prises à son endroit, l’employeur est coupable
d’un acte criminel. La loi pénale tente de dissuader quiconque de
poser un tel geste, compte tenu des conséquences que cela
entraîne. Si vous voulez savoir si nous pouvons intervenir et
empêcher l’employeur de poser un tel geste, la réponse est non, car
la loi pénale nous empêche de le faire. Cette question relève du
droit civil quoique. Toutefois, si le geste posé par l’employeur est
assimilé à un acte criminel, cela peut avoir un impact sur les
recours en matière civile que peut exercer un employé.

Le sénateur Massicotte: Je ne sais pas si j’ai bien compris.

Si un employé accuse son employeur d’avoir commis une
infraction, et que, pour une raison ou pour une autre, le tribunal
rejette l’accusation, est-ce que l’employeur peut renvoyer
l’employé? Un oui ou un non suffira.

26-2-2004 Banques et commerce 1:31



Mr. Bartlett: Yes. And the employer could fire the employee
even if the court did agree that it was an infraction, but the
employer would then be liable to punishment.

Senator Massicotte: And if there is no infraction, there is no
recourse?

Mr. Piragoff: If there is no infraction, senator, then the court
has basically said that the state has not taken away the cloak of
innocence from the employer. Everyone, including the employee,
is presumed innocent until proven guilty in a court. If the
prosecution cannot prove that the employee is guilty then the
employee is innocent.

Mr. Bartlett is saying that this is not a civil code or a labour
code issue. It deals with the criminal liability of the employer. If
the employer committed an offence, he can be prosecuted. This
does not mean that the employee cannot be fired— the employee
may be fired. However, if the employer committed a crime in
doing so, the employer can be disciplined or punished, but that
does not reinstate the employee in his or her job.

Senator Massicotte: I am not a lawyer, but I think the answer
was no, right?

Mr. Piragoff: Yes.

Senator Fitzpatrick: I believe this is a step in the right direction.
However, I am not sure that it is not necessary to take other steps.

One of the areas that concern me is offshore trading and the
potential for offshore insider trading. First, I do not know
whether you have any idea how much offshore insider trading
might or might not take place. I think that is pretty tough to
determine. It is a complicated process, with nominees and banks
and the CDS system. However, how would you go about
identifying offshore trading other than through whistle blowers?
If you do identify them, how do you go after offshore insider
trading and how do you punish offshore insider traders?

Mr. Piragoff: The key issue with respect to the bill is that this
legislation would apply to some conduct occurring in Canada.
The question is: How much conduct must occur in Canada?

There are common law rules developed by the courts, by the
Supreme Court of Canada, which say that Canadian courts can
exercise their jurisdiction with respect to conduct occurring cross
border if there is a significant connection to Canada. The courts
would look at the transaction in question, and the significance of
the individual.

We would be talking about individuals in Canada who may be
advised in Canada of certain information but they traded on the
New York Stock Exchange, for example. The courts would look
at that situation. There have been cases of fraud, for example,
where Canadians, by telephone, have created false impressions or
made false pretences to investors in the United States, and the
Canadian courts have said that that is enough to give Canadian
courts jurisdiction. The courts will deal with situations of cross-
border criminality.

M. Barlett: Oui. Et l’employeur peut renvoyer l’employé même
si le tribunal juge qu’il y a eu infraction. Toutefois, l’employeur, à
ce moment-là, serait passible d’une sanction.

Le sénateur Massicotte: Et s’il n’y a pas eu d’infraction
commise, il n’y a pas de recours?

M. Piragoff: S’il n’y a pas eu d’infraction commise, sénateur, ce
que dit essentiellement le tribunal dans ce cas-là, c’est que
l’employeur a droit à la présomption d’innocence. Chacun, y
compris l’employé, est présumé innocent jusqu’à preuve du
contraire. Si la poursuite ne peut prouver que l’employé est
coupable, alors l’employé est innocent.

D’après M. Bartlett, cette question ne relève pas du code civil
ou du code du travail. Il est question ici de la responsabilité
criminelle de l’employeur. L’employeur qui a commis une
infraction peut faire l’objet de poursuites. Cela ne veut pas dire
que l’employé ne peut être renvoyé — il peut l’être. Toutefois, si
l’employeur, en le renvoyant, commet un crime, il peut faire
l’objet de sanctions ou de mesures disciplinaires, sauf que cela n’a
pas pour effet de réintégrer l’employé licencié.

Le sénateur Massicotte: Je ne suis pas avocat, mais je pense que
la réponse est non, n’est-ce pas?

M. Piragoff: C’est cela.

Le sénateur Fitzpatrick: Ce projet de loi constitue un pas dans
la bonne direction. Toutefois, je me demande s’il n’y a pas lieu de
prendre d’autres mesures.

Ce qui me préoccupe, c’est le commerce transfrontalier et la
possibilité que des délits d’initié soient commis à l’étranger.
D’abord, savez-vous si les délits de ce genre sont fréquents? Cela
doit être assez difficile à dire. Le processus est compliqué, à cause
des prête-noms, des banques, du système SDC. Toutefois, les
dénonciateurs ne sont-ils pas les seuls à pouvoir signaler les délits
d’initié commis à l’étranger? Si vous arrivez à trouver les
coupables, comment pouvez-vous intenter des poursuites contre
eux et leur imposer des sanctions?

M. Piragoff: Ce qu’il surtout retenir, c’est que cette mesure
législative s’appliquerait aux gestes posés au Canada. La question
qu’il faut se poser est la suivante: dans quelle mesure ces gestes
doivent-ils avoir été posés au Canada?

Selon les règles de common law établies par les tribunaux, la
Cour suprême du Canada, les tribunaux canadiens peuvent
exercer leur compétence dans le cas d’agissements illicites
transfrontaliers si l’existence de liens significatifs avec le Canada
est démontrée. Les tribunaux peuvent examiner la transaction en
question, et évaluer l’importance des liens.

Il est question ici de personnes au Canada qui ont accès à
certains renseignements au Canada, mais qui ont joué à la Bourse
de New York, par exemple. Les tribunaux pourraient être saisis
de l’affaire. Il y a eu, par exemple, des cas de fraude où des
Canadiens, par téléphone, ont créé de fausses impressions ou
donné de faux prétextes à des investisseurs aux États-Unis. Les
tribunaux canadiens ont affirmé qu’ils avaient compétence en la
matière. Ils vont examiner les agissements illicites transfrontaliers.
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Senator Fitzpatrick: You spoke about the United States. I
guess a lot of trading takes place, whether it is insider trading or
otherwise, in the form of offshore trading from Europe. I think
what I hear you say is that this does not necessarily reach into
those jurisdictions. Therefore, if a person wants to inside trade
and has some information but does not want to get caught, the
individual does it offshore?

Mr. Piragoff: I was just using the United States as an example.

The principle is that if there is a significant connection to
Canada, the courts can exercise jurisdiction irrespective of where
that other jurisdiction may be. It could be on the other side of the
world. If there is a significant connection in Canada, then the
courts may exercise jurisdiction over the offence.

Senator Fitzpatrick: Would you say it is harder to reach insider
trading if it comes from offshore than within Canada? You have
real difficulty getting information on bank accounts in certain
countries in Europe. Do you have a program to track that
information down with a reasonable cost?

Mr. Piragoff: We have, senator. It is not so much a legal
problem, it is more a problem of trying to gather evidence from
foreign authorities. We do have mutual legal assistance treaties
with a number of countries that permit us to request those
authorities to use their judicial process to acquire information
from banks for an investigation in Canada, and vice versa. We are
able to execute search warrants, for example, on Canadian banks
in order to provide information with respect to a foreign
investigation.

Senator Harb: In your answer to Senator Prud’homme, you
gave two conflicting answers. Would you care to correct that for
the record? When he asked you whether or not you consulted with
the Sûreté you said ‘‘yes’’ and then after that you said ‘‘no.’’ Is it
‘‘yes’’ or ‘‘no’’?

Senator Prud’homme: It is ‘‘no.’’

Mr. Bartlett: We have not talked directly to the Sûreté yet.

Senator Harb: My question is along the same lines as Senator
Massicotte. Did you state that you cannot put protections in place
for whistle-blowers?

Mr. Bartlett: If you are talking about labour code protections,
we cannot do that in the criminal law. The federal government is
presently considering whistle-blower legislation that might put in
place exactly those sorts of protections vis-à-vis federal
government employees, protections that would deal exactly with
that sort of job protection.

Provinces would certainly have that right and the federal
government might have some jurisdiction to do so in regard to
federally regulated industries. However, that is not something we
could do in the criminal law.

Le sénateur Fitzpatrick: Vous avez parlé des États-Unis.
J’imagine qu’il y a beaucoup de transactions qui s’effectuent,
qu’il s’agisse de transactions intéressées ou autres, sous forme
d’échanges transfrontaliers avec l’Europe. Si j’ai bien compris,
cette mesure législative ne peut pas forcément être appliquée en
Europe. Par conséquent, une personne qui veut commettre un
délit d’initié, qui possède des renseignements et qui ne veut pas se
faire prendre peut effectuer cette transaction à l’étranger, n’est-ce
pas?

M. Piragoff: J’ai utilisé les États-Unis comme exemple.

Le fait est que si l’existence de liens significatifs avec le Canada
est démontrée, les tribunaux peuvent exercer leur compétence, peu
importe le pays en cause. Ils pourraient le faire à l’autre bout du
monde. Si l’existence de liens significatifs avec le Canada est
démontrée, les tribunaux peuvent exercer leur compétence en la
matière.

Le sénateur Fitzpatrick: À votre avis, est-il plus difficile de
prouver un délit d’initié si l’acte est commis à l’étranger et non au
Canada? Il est très difficile d’obtenir des renseignements sur les
comptes bancaires dans certains pays d’Europe. Existe-t-il un
mécanisme qui vous permet d’obtenir ces renseignements à un
coût raisonnable?

M. Piragoff: Oui. Il n’y a pas vraiment de problème sur le plan
juridique. Il est très difficile de recueillir des éléments de preuve
auprès des autorités étrangères. Nous avons conclu des traités
d’entraide juridique avec plusieurs pays, traités qui nous
permettent de leur demander si nous pouvons utiliser leur
appareil judiciaire pour obtenir des banques des renseignements
pour une enquête menée au Canada, et vice-versa. Nous pouvons,
par exemple, exécuter des mandats de perquisition auprès des
banques canadiennes afin qu’elles fournissent des renseignements
qui peuvent aider à faire avancer une enquête menée à l’étranger.

Le sénateur Harb: Vous avez donné deux réponses
contradictoires au sénateur Prud’homme. Pouvez-vous être plus
précis? Il vous a demandé si vous aviez consulté la Sûreté. Vous
avez d’abord dit «oui», et ensuite, «non». Est-ce oui ou non?

Le sénateur Prud’homme: C’est non.

M. Bartlett: Nous n’avons pas encore discuté avec la Sûreté.

Le sénateur Harb: Ma question recoupe celle du sénateur
Massicotte. Avez-vous dit que vous ne pouviez offrir des garanties
aux dénonciateurs?

M. Bartlett: Si vous parlez des garanties en vertu du code du
travail, le droit pénal ne nous le permet pas. Le gouvernement
fédéral étudie actuellement le projet de loi sur les dénonciateurs,
qui accorderait exactement le même genre de garanties aux
fonctionnaires fédéraux en protégeant leurs emplois.

Les provinces disposeraient certes de ce droit, et le
gouvernement fédéral pourrait posséder certains pouvoirs pour
intervenir de cette façon à l’égard des industries relevant de ses
compétences. Cependant, le droit criminel ne nous le permet pas.
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Senator Harb: In a bill that deals with the Competition Act, we
introduced an amendment to the act to deal specifically with
whistle-blowers when it comes to price fixing and price
manipulation. Are you aware of that aspect of the Competition
Act component?

Mr. Bartlett: Yes, we are certainly aware of the provisions in
the Competition Act dealing with price fixing and a number of
other related matters.

Senator Harb: There is a mechanism for protection of whistle-
blowers in that act. Are you aware of that protection mechanism
that is being put in place that introduces not only a penalty in
civic terms, but also in criminal terms, for an employer who takes
measures against an employee who may come forward with
information as it relates to price fixing or price manipulation?

Mr. Bartlett: The Competition Act is based on several heads of
power. There is not only the criminal law power, but also there
are civil and administrative provisions in the Competition Act, as
well as provisions of a criminal nature based on the criminal law
power. The Criminal Code is based purely on the criminal law
power, and we cannot get into civil or administrative matters in
the code.

Senator Harb: Your bill deals mostly with penalties. Are there
any plans to deal with preventives in terms of education,
awareness and things like that? If that is the case, at what point
in time will that come forward?

Mr. Bartlett: Much of the focus of the IMET program, which
is an enforcement program, has been based on bringing the
criminal law enforcement people together with the securities
enforcement people and the industry. The RCMP members
involved in setting up these IMET units have had many
consultations with the securities industry. We have met with the
securities industry, the investment dealers association and
particularly their enforcement wing. That coordinating exercise
will provide the opportunity for the sort of education exercise that
you are talking about.

The industry is very concerned about any sort of criminality in
its ranks. It has its own programs. There will be, as part of this
overall program, an attempt made to coordinate the industry’s
programs with what law enforcement is doing.

Senator Meighen:Mr. Bartlett, put in its simplest terms, one of
the main elements of this proposed legislation is to introduce a
criminal penalty for improper insider trading, a penalty that did
not heretofore exist; is that correct?

Mr. Bartlett: That is correct, senator.

Senator Meighen: By way of editorial comment, I think that
would come as a great surprise to most Canadians — that there
was no criminal penalty for insider trading.

Le sénateur Harb: Dans un projet de loi qui portait sur la Loi
sur la concurrence, nous avions présenté une mesure pour
modifier la loi afin de viser précisément les dénonciateurs,
lorsqu’il s’agissait de fixation ou de manipulation des prix.
Connaissez-vous cet aspect de la Loi sur la concurrence?

M. Bartlett: Oui, nous sommes certes au courant des
dispositions de la Loi sur la concurrence portant sur la fixation
des prix et plusieurs autres questions connexes.

Le sénateur Harb: Cette loi comporte un mécanisme assurant la
protection des dénonciateurs. Êtes-vous au courant qu’un
mécanisme de protection est proposé afin d’imposer non
seulement des pénalités mais également des sanctions pénales à
l’employeur qui prend des mesures contre un employé qui a
dévoilé une fixation ou une manipulation des prix?

M. Bartlett: La Loi sur la concurrence joue sur plusieurs
tableaux. Ses dispositions portent non seulement sur le droit
criminel mais également sur le droit civil et administratif. Le Code
criminel ne porte que sur le droit criminel, et ne peut traiter de
questions administratives ou civiles.

Le sénateur Harb: Votre projet de loi porte surtout sur des
pénalités. Prévoit-on y ajouter des mesures préventives comme
l’éducation, la conscientisation, etc.? Le cas échéant, quand ces
mesures seront-elles intégrées?

M. Bartlett: Le programme des équipes intégrées d’application
de la loi dans les marchés, qui est un programme d’application de
la loi, repose essentiellement sur l’intégration des responsables de
l’application du droit criminel, des intervenants au sein de
l’industrie et des responsables de l’application de la loi en
matière de valeurs mobilières. Les agents de la GRC ayant
participé à la création des équipes intégrées ont tenu de
nombreuses séances de consultation avec les responsables en
matière de valeurs mobilières. Nous avons rencontré ces
responsables, l’Association canadienne des courtiers en valeurs
mobilières et, particulièrement, les responsables de l’application
de la loi dans ce domaine. Cet exercice de coordination
équivaudra aux mesures de sensibilisation dont vous parlez.

L’industrie se préoccupe beaucoup de ce genre de crimes
commis en son sein. Elle a mis en oeuvre des programmes à cette
fin. Dans le cadre de cette initiative générale, on essaiera de faire
coordonner les programmes de l’industrie avec les mesures prises
par les autorités policières.

Le sénateur Meighen: Monsieur Bartlett, pour parler le plus
simplement possible, nous dirons que l’un des principaux éléments
du projet de loi vise à imposer une sanction pénale pour les délits
d’initié, une sanction qui n’existe pas encore, n’est-ce pas?

M. Bartlett: C’est exact, sénateur.

Le sénateur Meighen: Je me permets le commentaire suivant: je
pense que la plupart des Canadiens seraient grandement surpris
d’apprendre qu’il n’existe aucune sanction pénale pour les délits
d’initié.
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We will now introduce a criminal penalty element for fraud
and increase the maximum sentence from 10 to 14 years, which, in
effect, would mean that if a person was guilty and got the
maximum sentence they would be eligible for parole after four
years rather than three years, if the one-third rule were to apply.
That is not a significant amount of change, I do not think.

In terms of criminal prosecution, can you tell me why in your
view — and I do not think this requires anything more than
knowledge of the system— there were no criminal charges laid in
such an egregious affair as the Bre-X case? Is it because of lack of
legislation? Is it because of lack of resources? Is it because of lack
of evidence?

Mr. Bartlett: I really cannot comment on a particular case. I
can only say that there was an extensive investigation.

Senator Meighen: Is it not a fact that people were told that
something existed when it did not exist?

Mr. Bartlett: That would certainly seem to be the case, senator,
yes.

Senator Meighen: That seems to be, at its simplest, a
reasonably clear case of fraud; is that correct?

Mr. Bartlett: It certainly would seem to be, yes, senator.

Senator Meighen: I ask my question again: Why would there
not have been a criminal charge laid for fraud?

Mr. Piragoff: Honourable senators, the responsibility for
prosecuting fraud under the Criminal Code lies with the
provincial authority, provincial Attorneys General. We have no
knowledge as to the investigation, the strength of the investigation
or what reasons in the public interest the Attorney General of a
province may or may not have decided to prosecute.

This bill would give the federal government concurrent
jurisdiction with the provinces to prosecute serious fraud. The
federal government would be able to prosecute in a situation even
if a province did not.

Whether the federal government would do it or not, as we
indicated earlier, we are involved in negotiating protocols with the
provinces because this traditionally is an area of their
responsibility.

We said at the beginning that this legislation is to complement
their authority, not supplement their authority. Some provinces
do not have the resources to investigate or prosecute complex
frauds because of the paperwork involved and the complexity.
The federal government has offered its prosecutors and resources
to those provinces. Other provinces have sophisticated anti-fraud
investigative teams and prosecutors and would be able to
undertake a complex fraud.

Nous ajouterons une sanction pénale pour les fraudes et
porterons de 10 à 14 ans la peine maximale, ce qui signifierait que
quiconque est déclaré coupable et reçoit la peine maximale serait
admissible à la libération conditionnelle après quatre ans au lieu
de trois, si la règle du tiers s’appliquait. À mon avis, il ne s’agit pas
d’un changement important.

Sur le plan des poursuites au criminel, pouvez-vous me dire
pourquoi, d’après vous — et je pense que la simple connaissance
du système permet de répondre à cette question —, aucune
accusation criminelle n’a été portée dans la si flagrante affaire
Bre-X? Y avait-il une lacune législative? Est-ce en raison d’un
manque de ressources? Est-ce à cause d’un manque de preuves?

M. Bartlett: Je ne peux pas réellement formuler d’observations
sur ce cas précis. Je ne peux que répondre qu’une enquête
exhaustive a eu lieu.

Le sénateur Meighen: N’est-il pas vrai qu’on a dit que quelque
chose existait alors que ce n’était pas le cas?

M. Bartlett: Sénateur, je dirais que ce serait effectivement le
cas.

Le sénateur Meighen: Pour parler le plus simplement possible, il
semble s’agir d’un cas assez évident de fraude, n’est-ce pas?

M. Bartlett: Cela semblerait certainement être le cas, sénateur.

Le sénateur Meighen: Je pose de nouveau ma question:
Pourquoi aucune accusation criminelle de fraude n’a-t-elle été
portée?

M. Piragoff: Honorables sénateurs, c’est aux autorités
provinciales, aux procureurs généraux provinciaux, qu’il
incombe d’engager des poursuites au criminel pour les cas de
fraude en vertu du Code criminel. Nous ne savons absolument
rien sur l’enquête, sur sa pertinence ou sur les motifs susceptibles
d’amener le procureur général d’une province à engager des
poursuites dans l’intérêt public.

Le projet de loi donnerait au gouvernement fédéral des
pouvoirs analogues à ceux des provinces, lui permettant
d’engager des poursuites pour les fraudes graves. Le
gouvernement fédéral pourrait le faire dans certains cas où une
province serait dans l’impossibilité de le faire.

Quant à savoir si le gouvernement fédéral engagerait de telles
poursuites ou non, nous participons, comme nous l’avons indiqué
auparavant, à la négociation des protocoles avec les provinces,
parce qu’il s’agit d’un domaine de compétence relevant
traditionnellement des provinces.

Nous avons dit au tout début que le projet de loi offrirait des
pouvoirs qui viendraient compléter ceux des provinces et non pas
s’y ajouter. Certaines provinces n’ont pas les ressources
permettant de mener les enquêtes ou de poursuivre les
personnes accusées de fraude, en raison de la complexité des
affaires et du travail administratif à accomplir. Le gouvernement
fédéral a offert à ces provinces ses ressources et ses procureurs.
D’autres provinces disposent de procureurs et d’enquêteurs
spécialisés dans les cas de fraude. Elles seraient en mesure de
s’attaquer à un cas complexe de fraude.
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I cannot speak about the past. I cannot speak about why a
particular investigation went right or wrong. All I can say is that
this legislation would provide another alternative to deal with
complex fraud cases in situations where a province might not be
able to proceed because of lack of resources.

Senator Meighen: Is that sine qua non? They have to
demonstrate that they have no resources or they merely have to
ask for them?

Mr. Piragoff: We are negotiating protocols with them as to
when they would want us to step into their ballpark and take up
the bat. We do not want to just walk in and take the bat when we
feel we should take it; we want to ensure that we are not stepping
on their toes. We are involved in discussions with the provinces to
respect their primacy but still ensure that we have the power to
ensure that Canadians have confidence that, if the provinces do
not or cannot prosecute these cases, the federal government will
ensure that there is a national standard and that there is national
confidence across the country in our Canadian markets.

Senator Meighen: The first part of your answer is the one I
anticipated. The second part at least gives some ray of hope.

Was it you, Mr. Bartlett, who mentioned that in the bill there is
some provision for resources to hire prosecutors, or somewhere
there is a provision for the hiring of prosecutors? Can you give me
some idea of the magnitude of this resource?

Mr. Bartlett: It is not in the bill, but for all components of the
IMET program the funding that was announced in Budget 2003
amounts to up to $30 million a year. That includes the
investigative resources, some federal prosecutorial resources and
some funding for assisting provinces with exceptional
prosecutorial costs.

Senator Meighen: It is hard to judge whether $30 million will
make a significant difference or not.

Mr. Bartlett: Obviously, the more resources the better. It is
$30 million more than there was before, and it is concentrated
resources, which I would suggest is the key. It is concentrated on
this area with these specialized integrated enforcement teams and
with legal advice along the way. If things work out as we hope, the
prosecutors will be earmarked to be ready to handle these cases
when they arrive and they will develop some special expertise in
them. Perhaps the resources will have a greater effect than simply
throwing more resources into the system, because they will be
targeted on this particular problem.

Senator Meighen: Let us hope so.

Senator Prud’homme: My question is supplementary to that of
Senator Meighen. You said that in these cases prosecution is a
provincial matter. I did well in criminal law at university, but I

Je ne peux pas parler du passé. Je ne peux pas parler des
raisons pour lesquelles une enquête particulière a été efficace ou
inefficace. Je peux tout simplement dire que le projet de loi
offrirait une solution de rechange pour s’attaquer aux cas
complexes de fraude, lorsqu’une province ne serait pas en
mesure d’engager des poursuites, faute de ressources.

Le sénateur Meighen: Serait-ce un préalable absolu? Devraient-
elles prouver qu’elles n’ont pas les ressources nécessaires ou
pourraient-elles simplement le demander?

M. Piragoff: Nous négocions des protocoles avec les provinces
sur les modalités nous permettant de leur venir en aide et
d’intervenir à leur demande. Nous ne voulons pas intervenir
lorsque nous croyons que nous devrions le faire. Nous voulons
nous assurer que nous ne leur marchons pas sur les pieds. Nous
participons à des négociations avec les provinces en respectant
leur primauté, tout en nous assurant cependant que nous pouvons
garantir que les Canadiens sauront que, si les provinces
n’engagent pas ou ne peuvent pas engager les poursuites
pertinentes dans ces affaires, le gouvernement fédéral appliquera
une norme nationale et que les Canadiens auront confiance dans
nos marchés.

Le sénateur Meighen: La première partie de votre réponse est
celle à laquelle je m’attendais. La deuxième partie me donne du
moins un certain espoir.

Est-ce vous, monsieur Bartlett, qui avez signalé que le projet de
loi contenait des dispositions régissant les ressources qui
permettent d’embaucher des procureurs ou qu’un autre texte
législatif comportait de telles dispositions? Pouvez-vous nous
donner une idée de l’ampleur de ces ressources?

M. Bartlett: Il ne s’agit pas du projet de loi en cause. Le
financement de l’ensemble du programme des équipes intégrées
d’application de la loi dans les marchés a été annoncé dans le
budget de 2003. Il s’agissait d’un montant maximal de 30 millions
de dollars par année, pour notamment les enquêtes, les poursuites
par le fédéral et certains montants réservés aux provinces aux
prises avec des coûts exceptionnels en matière de poursuites.

Le sénateur Meighen: Il est difficile de juger si un montant de
30 millions de dollars fera bouger les choses ou non.

M. Bartlett: De toute évidence, on n’a jamais assez de
ressources. C’est 30 millions de dollars de plus que ce dont on
disposait auparavant, et ces ressources visent certains aspects, ce
qui est essentiel, selon moi. Les ressources visent un domaine où
seront mises à contribution ces équipes intégrées qui pourront
également donner des conseils juridiques. Si le tout fonctionne
comme nous l’espérons, les procureurs pourraient s’attaquer
d’emblée à ces affaires et ils acquerront certaines compétences
spéciales à cet égard. Le fait d’affecter les ressources à un
problème particulier entraînera peut-être un effet plus
considérable que la simple attribution de ressources
supplémentaires au sein d’un système déjà en place.

Le sénateur Meighen: Espérons-le.

Le sénateur Prud’homme: Ma question fait suite à celle du
sénateur Meighen: vous avez dit qu’il incombe aux provinces
d’entamer des poursuites dans ces affaires. J’ai bien réussi mes
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have not practised criminal law. Do you mean to say that under
the Criminal Code there is currently no provision for the federal
government to intervene if a province does not sue in the case of
such a financial debacle?

Mr. Bartlett: At the moment, senator, although the federal
government has the full constitutional authority to prosecute any
federal criminal offence, including under the Criminal Code,
Criminal Code prosecutions have traditionally been within the
purview of the provinces under their authority under the
Constitution for the administration of justice, and the definition
of ‘‘Attorney General’’ in section 2 of the Criminal Code gives
jurisdiction over most offences under the Criminal Code to the
provincial Attorney General.

In recent years, Parliament has given concurrent jurisdiction to
the federal Attorney General over some of the criminal
organization offences and all of the new terrorism offences that
were created in Bill C-36.

Senator Prud’homme: That is where I wanted you to lead me.

Mr. Bartlett: However, most of the Criminal Code still lies
solely with the provincial Attorneys General pursuant to that
definition. The bill would change that definition for fraud and the
related market offences.

Senator Prud’homme: It is more important to have amended
the Criminal Code to allow the government to sue the Hells
Angels than to sue for white-collar crimes, which are more fancy,
I suppose?

Mr. Piragoff: This bill would do that, senator.

Senator Prud’homme: Yes, I read it.

Mr. Piragoff: This bill recognizes that some things are in the
national interest, such as fighting terrorism and fighting
organized crime. They are not crimes of a local nature but
crimes of a national nature and the bill recognizes that the federal
government should be involved in their prosecution. This bill adds
capital market fraud to that list of crimes against the state rather
than only against individuals.

Senator Baker: Much of this money would go to the RCMP, I
presume, for investigative purposes such as hiring forensic
accountants.

Mr. Bartlett: That is correct.

Senator Baker: Of course, the laying of charges and the
investigation would be done by the RCMP.

Mr. Bartlett: That is correct.

The Chairman: With that, let me thank the witnesses for their
presentations.

cours de droit criminel à l’université, mais je n’ai jamais exercé le
droit criminel. Dites-vous que le Code criminel ne contient
actuellement aucune disposition permettant au gouvernement
fédéral d’intervenir si une province n’engage pas de poursuites
dans une affaire impliquant un tel désastre financier?

M. Bartlett: Même si le gouvernement fédéral détient tous les
pouvoirs constitutionnels lui permettant d’engager des poursuites
pour une infraction pénale relevant de ses compétences,
notamment en vertu du Code criminel, la constitution accorde
encore aux provinces le pouvoir d’engager des poursuites en vertu
du Code criminel aux fins de l’administration de la justice, et la
définition de «procureur général» à l’article 2 du Code criminel
attribue au procureur général provincial les pouvoirs nécessaires à
l’égard de la plupart des infractions en vertu du Code criminel.

Au cours des dernières années, le Parlement a donné des
pouvoirs analogues au procureur général fédéral à l’égard de
certaines infractions liées aux organisations criminelles et des
nouvelles infractions créées aux termes du projet de loi C-36 en
matière de terrorisme.

Le sénateur Prud’homme: C’est là où je voulais que vous en
veniez.

M. Bartlett: Cependant, en vertu de cette définition, c’est aux
procureurs généraux provinciaux qu’incombent la plupart des
responsabilités sur le plan du Code criminel. Le projet de loi
modifierait cette définition en ce qui concerne les fraudes et les
autres infractions liées aux marchés.

Le sénateur Prud’homme: Il est plus important de modifier le
Code criminel pour permettre au gouvernement de poursuivre les
Hells Angels plutôt que les cols blancs qui commettent des
fraudes, ce qui frappe davantage les esprits, je suppose?

M. Piragoff: Le projet de loi donnerait de tels pouvoirs,
sénateur.

Le sénateur Prud’homme: Oui, je l’ai lu.

M. Piragoff: Le projet de loi reconnaît que certains aspects
relèvent de l’intérêt national, notamment la lutte contre le
terrorisme et contre le crime organisé. Ces crimes ne sont pas de
nature locale, mais de nature nationale, et le projet de loi
reconnaît que le gouvernement fédéral devrait participer aux
poursuites engagées. Le projet de loi ajoute la fraude sur les
marchés financiers à la liste des infractions contre l’État plutôt
que contre la personne.

Le sénateur Baker: Je présume que la majeure partie de cet
argent serait affectée à la GRC pour lui permettre d’embaucher
des comptables judiciaires aux fins des enquêtes.

M. Bartlett: C’est exact.

Le sénateur Baker: Naturellement, la GRC porterait les
accusations et exécuterait les enquêtes.

M. Bartlett: C’est exact.

Le président: Vous me permettrez de remercier les témoins de
leurs exposés.
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I would ask committee members to stay to deal with a couple
of administrative matters. One will be dealt with publicly, and the
other quickly in camera.

You have before you the proposed legislation budget that must
go to Internal Economy for approval.

Senator Prud’homme: I move the adoption of the budget.

The Chairman: Is it agreed, honourable senators?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chairman: Carried. We will now go in camera.

The committee continued in camera.

OTTAWA, Thursday, February 26, 2004

The Standing Senate Committee on Banking, Trade and
Commerce, to which was referred Bill C-13, to amend the
Criminal Code (capital markets fraud and evidence gathering),
met this day at 11:05 a.m. to give consideration to the bill.

Senator Richard H. Kroft (Chairman) in the Chair.

[English]

The Chairman: Today we will be continuing our consideration
of Bill C-13, to amend the Criminal Code, capital markets fraud
and evidence gathering.

Our witnesses today are, from the Canadian Council of
Criminal Defence Lawyers, Mr. William Trudell, Chair; and
from the Criminal Lawyers’ Association of Ontario, Mr. Michael
Lomer, Treasurer.

Welcome, gentlemen, it is nice to have you here.

Mr. William Trudell, Chair, Canadian Council of Criminal
Defence Lawyers: Mr. Chairman and honourable senators, on
behalf of the Canadian Council of Criminal Defence Lawyers,
which is a council with representatives from across the country, I
am honoured and pleased to be given the opportunity to be here
on this very important bill. Bill C-45, the corporate criminal
liability bill, which was passed recently, is almost a companion
bill, and we were concerned that there was not a great deal of
consultation on that bill, but are very pleased to be asked to
appear and, perhaps, assist in relation to this bill.

You may not be surprised to hear me say this, but the
Canadian council feels this bill is unnecessary. Now that it is in
the Senate, I will not suggest that it not be passed, but perhaps
some of the detailed provisions should be looked at. However, we
feel, in tracking this bill and some of the changes that the
government introduced, that it is a response to capital market
fraud in the United States, and the government says that in its
background paper. That is not a secret. This is a Canadian
response, in our respectful submission, to what has been an
American problem. This is the Canadian response, with great
respect, to Sarbanes-Oxley. We feel that if there were a single

Je demanderais aux membres du comité de ne pas quitter les
lieux afin de régler deux questions administratives, dont la
dernière sera étudiée à huis clos.

Vous avez devant vous le projet de budget qui sera soumis à
l’approbation du Bureau de régie interne.

Le sénateur Prud’homme: Je propose l’adoption du budget.

Le président: Les honorables sénateurs sont-ils d’accord?

Des voix: D’accord.

Le président: Le budget est adopté. Nous nous réunissons
maintenant à huis clos.

La séance se poursuit à huis clos.

OTTAWA, le jeudi 26 février 2004

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des banques et du commerce,
auquel a été renvoyé le projet de loi C-13, modifiant le Code
criminel (fraude sur les marchés financiers et obtention d’éléments
de preuve), se réunit aujourd’hui à 11 h 05 pour étudier le projet
de loi.

Le sénateur Richard H. Kroft (président) occupe le fauteuil.

[Traduction]

Le président: Nous poursuivrons aujourd’hui l’étude du projet
de loi C-13, modifiant le Code criminel (fraude sur les marchés
financiers et obtention d’éléments de preuve).

Nous recevons aujourd’hui M. William Trudell, président du
Conseil canadien des avocats de la défense, et M. Michael Lomer,
trésorier de la Criminal Lawyers’ Association of Ontario.

Messieurs, nous vous souhaitons la bienvenue.

M. William Trudell, président, Conseil canadien des avocats de
la défense: Monsieur le président et honorables sénateurs, au nom
du Conseil canadien des avocats de la défense, qui regroupe des
représentants de toutes les régions du pays, c’est un honneur et un
plaisir pour moi d’être ici pour vous entretenir de ce projet de loi
très important. Le projet de loi C-45, portant sur la responsabilité
pénale des organisations, qui a été adopté récemment, lui est
presque complémentaire. Nous avons déploré le fait qu’il y ait eu
peu de consultations sur ce projet de loi, mais nous sommes ravis
qu’on nous demande de comparaître ici et, peut-être, de vous
aider à examiner le projet de loi qui est devant vous.

Le Conseil canadien est d’avis que ce projet de loi n’est pas
nécessaire, ce que vous ne serez sans doute pas étonnés
d’apprendre. Or, puisqu’il est maintenant devant le Sénat, je ne
vais pas plaider en faveur de son rejet, mais je ferai valoir que
certaines dispositions devraient être examinées. Toutefois, en
suivant le cours de ce projet de loi et les amendements que le
gouvernement y a apportés, nous constatons qu’il s’agit d’une
réponse aux fraudes sur les marchés financiers commises aux
États-Unis, ce que dit d’ailleurs le gouvernement dans son
document d’information. Ce n’est pas un secret. Nous
soutenons respectueusement qu’il s’agit d’une réponse
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securities regulator in this country, the provincial regulators can
cover, and are covering and prosecuting vigorously insider
trading and some of the provisions that you find in this
criminal legislation.

We are saying — although as a criminal lawyer, it would be
surprising for me to say that we do not want any more business —
this area is covered. My friend Mr. Lomer will talk about the
federal government being involved in prosecutions of a criminal
nature as opposed to overseeing criminal legislation. We feel —
and I am sorry Mr. Atkinson was not able to be here today —
that the provincial regulators cover this area of insider trading
and this bill is not necessary, but is an optic response, in our
respectful submission, to what seems to be occurring throughout
the world in terms of issues of corporate governance.

Having said that, the bill itself — and we will perhaps talk
about certain provisions — is very vague. There is a lack of
definition, for instance, in the term ‘‘security’’ that is quite
different from securities regulations. We are very concerned about
the ‘‘whistle-blower,’’ in search of a better term, clauses in this bill.
For the first time, this is being criminalized, which is quite unique,
and we would request that you seriously look at this because it
does not even have the same protections as Sarbanes-Oxley. That
is because the information of the complainer, for instance, does
not even have to be truthful. It does not have to be reliable. It is
just information. We certainly hope you will look at that.

We are very concerned about the vagueness of some of the
terms in the bill. We are very concerned about particular clauses.
The government, in its working paper, talked about this type of
legislation only being used perhaps in unusual cases, where the
alleged offence has the potential to adversely affect the stability of
the Canadian economy. Distinguished representatives of the
government may have said to you yesterday, I do not know, that
this will not be used except in exceptional circumstances, but I
would like to point out that where the Canadian economy is put
at risk is one of the factors listed in clause 380.1, which is an
aggravating factor. Therefore, it will not be used just for those
unusual alleged offences that affect the economy, the Canadian
marketplace. It is proposed legislation that once introduced, in
our respectful submission, will be used almost exclusively, in
contrast to the provincial prosecutions that cover this area at this
time.

I would like to say, and I say it with all sincerity, that this
proposed legislation is not necessary. If this proposed legislation
did not get passed, what would be left in this country? What
would be left are provincial regulators, who can and are pursuing
offences under provincial regulations and statutes. This, in my
submission, and I say it with respect, is an optic piece of proposed
legislation that is not necessary and is very invasive.

canadienne à un problème américain, et plus particulièrement à la
loi Sarbanes-Oxley. S’il doit n’y avoir qu’un seul contrôle des
valeurs mobilières au Canada, nous croyons que les organismes
de réglementation provinciaux peuvent couvrir et couvrent
effectivement les délits d’initié et certaines dispositions de ce
projet de loi et que ces autorités ont la compétence voulue en
matière de poursuite.

Nous disons que les dispositions actuelles couvrent déjà cette
question — bien qu’il soit surprenant qu’un criminaliste comme
moi dise que nous ne voulons plus de travail. Mon ami,
M. Lomer, vous parlera de la participation du gouvernement
fédéral dans des poursuites de nature criminelle par opposition à
la surveillance de la législation pénale. Nous sommes d’avis — et
je regrette que M. Atkinson ne puisse être ici aujourd’hui — que
les organismes de réglementation provinciaux couvrent les délits
d’initié et que ce projet de loi n’est pas nécessaire. Avec égards,
nous soutenons qu’il s’agit d’une réaction optique à ce qui semble
se produire partout dans le monde relativement à la gouvernance
d’entreprise.

Cela dit, le projet de loi en soi est très vague — et nous
parlerons peut-être de certaines dispositions. Par exemple,
l’expression «valeurs mobilières» n’est pas définie, ce qui diffère
du Règlement sur les valeurs mobilières. Les dispositions portant
sur la «dénonciation», à défaut d’un meilleur terme, nous
préoccupent beaucoup. Pour la première fois, cette situation est
criminalisée, ce qui est assez particulier, et nous vous demandons
de vous pencher sérieusement sur cet aspect parce qu’on ne
prévoit pas les mêmes protections que dans la loi Sarbanes-Oxley.
Par exemple, l’information du plaignant n’a pas besoin d’être
vraie, ni fiable. Il ne s’agit que d’information. Nous espérons que
vous examinerez cet aspect.

L’imprécision de certains termes utilisés dans le projet de loi
nous préoccupe beaucoup, de même que certains articles. Dans
son document de travail, le gouvernement dit que ce type de
législation ne servirait peut-être que dans des cas inhabituels,
lorsque l’infraction présumée peut nuire à la stabilité de
l’économie canadienne. Il est possible que de distingués
représentants du gouvernement vous aient dit hier que ces
dispositions ne seraient invoquées que dans des circonstances
exceptionnelles, mais j’aimerais souligner que nuire à l’économie
canadienne est l’un des facteurs énumérés à l’article 380.1, c’est-à-
dire une circonstance aggravante. Par conséquent, ces dispositions
ne seront pas utilisées uniquement pour ces présumées infractions
inhabituelles qui touchent l’économie et le marché canadien. En
toute déférence, nous soutenons qu’une fois adoptées, ces
disposit ions seront uti l isées presque exclusivement,
contrairement aux poursuites provinciales qui couvrent déjà
cette question.

J’aimerais dire, très sincèrement, que ce projet de loi n’est pas
nécessaire. S’il n’était pas adopté, que resterait-il dans ce pays? Il
resterait les organismes de réglementation provinciaux qui ont
déjà le pouvoir d’intenter des poursuites en vertu des lois et des
règlements provinciaux. À mon avis, et je le dis avec respect, il
s’agit d’un projet de loi qui n’est pas nécessaire et qui porte
atteinte à la vie privée.
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The last point I would make before I pass it on to my friend,
Mr. Lomer, is this: It is a very troublesome piece of proposed
legislation, because you see a particular clause that says that when
someone with stature in the community, someone who has
achieved a reputation and then uses that reputation for the
purposes of committing an offence, it is almost looked upon as an
aggravating factor. In other words, people can no longer use their
reputation in the community in terms of discussing what sentence
they should receive for an offence.

In our respectful submission, that targets a particular class of
persons. When someone is convicted of fraud, if they are
prominent in the community, that prominence is really a
neutral factor; they will be prosecuted, and courts say all the
time, ‘‘You are in a position of trust.’’ However, to single out, in
my respectful submission, a certain person or class of persons is
unfair, uncalled for and quite unique. Who else but persons who
have established some kind of reputation in the community are
going to be involved in trading in securities? We are concerned
about the breadth and vagueness of this proposed legislation.

I thank you very much. I will try to answer any specific
questions you may have at a later point.

Mr. Michael Lomer, Treasurer, Criminal Lawyers’ Association
of Ontario: On behalf of the Criminal Lawyers’ Association of
Ontario, I want to thank you for the invitation to be here,
although I must admit that it still seems a little curious that I am
before the Standing Senate Committee on Banking, Trade and
Commerce. Normally, we appear before the Standing Senate
Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs. In any event, I
understand that proposed criminal legislation is before your
committee.

What I would like to speak on in general terms has to do with
what we normally would call the division between when a state
authority can intervene or interfere in the private affairs of an
individual and when it cannot. That has been defined in our
Supreme Court from a case going back as far as Hunter v.
Southam, that there are certain prerequisites before the state can
interfere with the private affairs of the individuals who live in this
country.

That has tracked its way through legislation that we have now.
For example, the general search warrant power, which is the
power of the ‘‘basket’’ clause, if you will, for search warrants, is
found at 478.01, a section of the code that is in the same part of
the Criminal Code as the provisions at which you are looking
today — or some of them anyway. That provides the basis on
which we will allow the state to interfere by way of executing
search warrants on third parties or individuals and get material
with respect to criminal offences. It clearly sets out what is
required.

The first thing required in 487.01 is that a judge — it has to be
a judge — finds that there is, in information on oath and in
writing, reasonable grounds to believe, not, I point out, to
suspect; a reasonable suspicion is not reasonable grounds to
believe. Suspicion is suspicion. The phrase, ‘‘grounds to believe,’’

Avant de céder la place à mon ami, M. Lomer, j’aimerais faire
valoir un dernier point: ce projet de loi est très troublant puisqu’il
établit qu’il y a une circonstance aggravante lorsqu’une personne
ayant une certaine stature ou une bonne réputation dans la
collectivité utilise cette réputation pour commettre une fraude. En
d’autres termes, une personne ne peut plus invoquer sa réputation
au sein d’une collectivité pour débattre de la peine qu’elle doit
recevoir pour une infraction commise.

Nous soutenons respectueusement que cette disposition vise
une certaine catégorie de personnes. Lorsqu’une personne est
reconnue coupable de fraude, le fait qu’elle tienne une place
importante dans une collectivité est un facteur neutre; elle sera
poursuivie, et les tribunaux diront immanquablement «Vous êtes
dans une position de confiance». Toutefois, je soutiens
respectueusement qu’il est injuste, non approprié et inusité de
cibler une certaine personne ou catégorie de personnes. Qui
d’autre qu’une personne ayant acquis une certaine réputation au
sein d’une collectivité peut faire le commerce de valeurs
mobilières? Ce projet de loi est trop large et trop vague.

Je vous remercie beaucoup. Je tenterai de répondre aux
questions que vous voudrez bien me poser un peu plus tard.

M. Michael Lomer, trésorier, Criminal Lawyer’s Association of
Ontario: Au nom de la Criminal Lawyer’s Association of Ontario,
je vous remercie de m’avoir invité, mais je dois admettre qu’il est
un peu étrange de comparaître devant le Comité sénatorial
permanent des banques et du commerce, puisque nous
comparaissons habituellement devant le Comité sénatorial
permanent des affaires juridiques et constitutionnelles. Quoi
qu’il en soit, je comprends qu’un projet de loi modifiant le Code
criminel a été renvoyé à votre comité.

Ce dont j’aimerais parler de façon générale porte sur ce que
nous pourrions appeler la division entre le moment où l’État peut
intervenir dans les affaires privées d’une personne et le moment où
il ne le peut pas. La Cour suprême a déjà tranché cette question
dans l’affaire Hunter c. Southam et a statué qu’il devait y avoir
certaines conditions préalables avant que l’État ne puisse
intervenir dans les affaires privées des personnes qui vivent au
Canada.

Cette décision transpire dans les lois que nous avons
aujourd’hui. Par exemple, le pouvoir concernant le mandat
général de perquisition, qui est le pouvoir de la clause
«omnibus» pour les mandats de perquisition, est prévu à
l’article 478.01, qui se trouve dans la même partie du Code
criminel que les dispositions ou quelques-unes des dispositions
que vous étudiez aujourd’hui. Cet article définit les conditions
dans lesquelles nous autorisons l’État à intervenir en exécutant
des mandats de perquisition auprès de tiers ou de personnes et à
obtenir du matériel lié à des infractions criminelles. Cet article
établit clairement les conditions nécessaires.

La première condition exigée à l’article 487.01 est la suivante:
si un juge — et je dis bien un juge — est convaincu, à la suite
d’une dénonciation par écrit faite sous serment, qu’il existe des
motifs raisonnables de croire... On ne parle pas de soupçon ici. Un
soupçon raisonnable ne correspond pas à des motifs raisonnables
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means that you have some factual basis. I emphasize that point
because this proposed legislation talks about ‘‘suspicion.’’ In my
submission to you— I do not mind the work— you will have to
litigate that clause, because frankly, I do not think it will pass
constitutional muster. The Supreme Court has set out the ground
rules. The ground rules have been in place now for going on
25 years, and they talk about reasonable belief, not suspicion.
Suspicion is a step toward what I would characterize as a state
that gives too much power to the police and not enough
protection to individual civil liberties and an individual’s right
to be free from the power of the state.

The other thing that was tracked in the case law and is reflected
in this general warrant provision is that there has to be an offence
against an act of Parliament or some other act, which makes
sense. You cannot investigate when you do not know what it is
you are investigating, and you have to know that the information
concerning the offence will be obtained through the use of the
technique or the search warrant. That is the information
concerning the offence. This proposed legislation talks about
something that will assist the police investigation. That comes
back to what Mr. Trudell said about the vagueness of this bill.
This is not an area in which to be vague. You can use legislation
that is already in existence and have it reflect the same language.
There is no need to create new, more vague language in the hope
that somehow you will create a police power where it is
unnecessary to do so.

The police presently know where the limits are in terms of
getting their search warrants and that sort of thing. In my
submission, the provision in 487.12 is nothing more or less than
another search warrant power. It is an odd one because it actually
not only allows the police to execute a search warrant, but it
orders the people who have the search warrant executed upon
them to prepare the material. Be that as it may, I can understand
how that can happen, given complex computer systems.

However, in my submission to you, section 487.01, the general
warrant powers, should be tracked, through the language there,
into the powers that are presently being looked at. It should not
be any different.

There is no lower threshold level of state investigation into the
private affairs of individuals other than what is provided for in
Hunter v. Southam, other than what is provided for in the general
warrant.

My submission to this committee is that you look carefully at
the parts of the bill where ‘‘suspect’’ versus ‘‘believe’’ is discussed.
I will give you the references. They are found in the proposed
sections 487.0121(3(a) and 487.012(4), both of which relate to
these production orders. I also point out that the use of similar
types of invasive state actions, such as wiretaps, requires evidence
of the offence. In other words, you cannot get a wiretap if it does
not afford evidence of the offence; or you cannot get a search
warrant unless, in the words of the section, you ‘‘give information
concerning the offence.’’ In this proposed legislation, it is ‘‘will

de croire. Un soupçon reste un soupçon. L’expression «motifs de
croire» signifie qu’il existe une information factuelle. J’insiste sur
cet aspect, parce que le projet de loi à l’étude parle de soupçon. Je
suis d’avis — et je suis ravi de vous en faire part —, que vous
devrez nuancer cette clause, car je ne crois pas qu’elle satisfasse au
critère constitutionnel. La Cour suprême a établi les règles de
base. Ces règles sont en place depuis 25 ans et prévoient des
motifs raisonnables de croire, et non des soupçons. Le soupçon
crée un État qui donne trop de pouvoir à la police et ne protège
pas assez les libertés civiles et le droit d’une personne de ne pas
être assujettie au pouvoir de l’État.

L’autre élément qu’on retrouve dans la jurisprudence et qui est
repris dans cette disposition sur le mandat général, c’est qu’il doit
y avoir eu infraction à une loi fédérale ou autre, ce qui a du sens.
On ne peut mener une enquête si on ne connaît pas l’objet de cette
enquête, et il faut savoir que l’information concernant l’infraction
sera obtenue par le recours à la technique ou l’exécution d’un
mandat de perquisition. Il s’agit de l’information concernant
l’infraction. Le projet de loi à l’étude parle de renseignements qui
seront utiles à l’enquête policière, ce qui nous ramène à
l’imprécision dont faisait mention M. Trudell. Or, il ne faut pas
rester dans le vague sur cette question. Vous pouvez utiliser les
lois déjà en vigueur et tenir le même langage. Il n’est pas
nécessaire de créer un vocabulaire nouveau et plus vague dans
l’espoir de donner à la police un pouvoir dont elle n’a pas besoin.

Les forces policières connaissent les limites applicables aux
mandats de perquisition et à pareilles activités. À mon avis,
l’article 487.12 prévoit plus ou moins un autre pouvoir en matière
de mandat de perquisition. Cet article est étrange, puisque non
seulement il permet à la police d’exécuter un mandat de
perquisition, mais il ordonne aussi aux personnes visées par le
mandat de préparer le matériel. Quoi qu’il en soit, je peux
comprendre comment cela peut se produire, avec les systèmes
informatiques complexes d’aujourd’hui.

Je soutiens toutefois que les pouvoirs actuellement à l’étude
doivent être définis de la même façon que les pouvoirs en matière
de mandat général prévus à l’article 487.01. Ce ne doit pas être
différent.

Les conditions minimales permettant l’intervention de l’État ne
doivent pas être différentes de celles invoquées dans l’arrêt Hunter
c. Southam et celles prévues par l’article sur le mandat général.

Je suis d’avis que votre comité doit examiner attentivement les
articles du projet de loi où les mots soupçonner et croire sont
utilisés. Il s’agit des articles 487.0121(3)a) et 487.012(4) qui
portent sur les ordonnances de communication. Je soulignerai
également que l’utilisation, par l’État, de mesures semblables
portant atteinte à la vie privée, comme l’écoute électronique,
nécessite des preuves d’infraction. En d’autres termes, on ne peut
effectuer une écoute électronique si cette mesure ne donne aucune
preuve de l’infraction, ou on ne peut exécuter un mandat de
perquisition à moins d’obtenir «des renseignements relatifs à
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assist in investigation.’’ In my submission, that is way too vague,
and unnecessarily so.

It is an important area. In our submission, there is no reason
why you should have differing standards that may or may not
pass constitutional muster in situations where this has already
been litigated. We have a standard. The Supreme Court has set it.
It was then reflected in legislation. Why now in this proposed
legislation are we resiling from that and saying, ‘‘Well, we can
have suspicion. Anything that will assist in an investigation, you
are entitled to go for’’?

I ask this committee to seriously consider that, and if
necessary, ask the justice officials why it does not follow the
same track as all the other search warrant provisions. Make no
mistake; this is a search warrant provision. It is nothing less. It
requires and compels, on pain of punishment by fine or
imprisonment, the party being searched to comply and do
certain things. It is clear state intervention.

I would now like to make a historical observation. In 1867,
when the Fathers of Confederation set up the division of powers,
they gave to the federal government the criminal law power. They
gave to the provinces the administration of criminal justice. That
worked very well. That was the way it went until we had this
problem with narcotics in the community, which came up, I
would venture to say, probably as far back as the 1920s and the
1930s of the previous century. When that happened, the federal
government took over the prosecution of narcotics offences. If
you take a look at the bill before you, you will see that the federal
government has arrogated to itself the ability to at least share in
the prosecutorial responsibility, in the sense that they can step in
at any time to prosecute offences under the capital markets fraud
bill that is before you.

In my submission, it was never meant to be such. It was always
the best of all possible worlds to have the policymaker separate
and apart from the prosecutor. They were able to give what the
Senate gives to legislation generally, namely, sober second
thought.

With the advent of narcotics prosecutions in the Department of
Justice, and now since they have become involved in war crimes
and other things, we have a tilting of the prosecutorial powers
that you find in the Criminal Code toward the federal government
and the legislation. In fact, it would have been better if they had
stood back, created the policy and allowed the provinces to do the
prosecuting, which is what they would do under the
administration of criminal justice.

In some ways, I agree with Mr. Trudell. My view is that the
Government of Canada certainly has the power to legislate in the
area. However, I would ask — and I suppose this is a little like
tilting at windmills — that they not be the ones who do the
prosecuting. That makes them too close to the action in the courts
and does not give them the ability to take an overview.

l’infraction», pour citer l’article pertinent. Dans le projet de loi à
l’étude, on parle de renseignements qui «seront utiles à l’enquête».
À mon avis, on est beaucoup trop vague, et ce n’est pas nécessaire.

Il s’agit d’une question importante. Nous soutenons qu’il n’est
pas justifié d’avoir des normes différentes qui peuvent ou non
satisfaire au critère constitutionnel dans des situations où cette
question a déjà été tranchée. Nous avons une norme, qui a été
fixée par la Cour suprême. Cette norme a ensuite été reprise dans
la législation. Pourquoi nous en écarter avec ce projet de loi et dire
maintenant qu’il suffit d’un soupçon et qu’on est autorisé à
chercher toute chose pouvant être utile à une enquête?

Je demande au comité de se pencher sérieusement sur cette
question et, au besoin, de demander aux représentants du
ministère de la Justice pourquoi on s’éloigne ici de toutes les
autres dispositions sur les mandats de perquisition. Ne vous
leurrez pas; il s’agit bien d’une disposition visant les mandats de
perquisition, rien de moins. Elle exige, sous peine d’amende ou
d’emprisonnement, que la personne faisant l’objet de la
perquisition s’y conforme et fasse certaines choses. Il s’agit bel
et bien d’une intervention de l’État.

J’aimerais faire une observation sur notre histoire. En 1867,
lorsque les Pères de la Confédération ont décidé de la répartition
des pouvoirs, ils ont donné au gouvernement fédéral la
compétence en matière de droit criminel. Les provinces se sont
vu confier l’administration de la justice pénale. Tout allait très
bien jusqu’à ce que nous connaissions ce problème de stupéfiants,
problème qui remonte, j’oserais dire, probablement aux années 20
et 30. Lorsque ce problème est apparu, le gouvernement fédéral a
pris en main la poursuite relativement aux infractions impliquant
des stupéfiants. Si vous regardez le projet de loi que vous avez
devant vous, vous verrez que le gouvernement fédéral s’est arrogé
le pouvoir de partager la responsabilité de la poursuite, en ce sens
qu’il peut intervenir en tout temps pour intenter des poursuites en
vertu du projet de loi concernant la fraude sur les marchés
financiers que vous avez devant vous.

À mon avis, il n’aurait jamais dû en être ainsi. Le fait de garder
une distance entre le décideur et le poursuivant a toujours été le
meilleur compromis. Tous deux ont pu donner ce que le Sénat
donne à la législation en général, c’est-à-dire un second examen
objectif.

Depuis que le ministère de la Justice se charge des poursuites en
matière de stupéfiants et qu’il s’intéresse aux crimes de guerre et
autres, le gouvernement fédéral a tendance à s’arroger les
pouvoirs de poursuite prévus dans le Code criminel. En fait, il
aurait mieux fallu qu’il prenne des distances, qu’il décide des
politiques et qu’il permette aux provinces de s’occuper des
poursuites, comme pour l’administration de la justice pénale.

Je suis d’accord avec M. Trudell d’une certaine façon. À mon
avis, le gouvernement fédéral a le pouvoir de légiférer sur cette
question. Toutefois, je demanderais — et c’est un peu comme se
battre contre des moulins à vent — que la fonction de poursuite
ne relève pas du gouvernement fédéral, puisqu’il serait alors trop
près des poursuites judiciaires et ne pourrait prendre de recul.
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There are a number of issues in the proposed legislation that I
would ask you to consider. However, I know there will be
questions from members of the committee because I have talked
to the clerk with respect to some of the aspects of the bill.
Therefore, I turn it back to you, Mr. Chairman.

The Chairman: Let me take the prerogative of the Chair for a
moment and mention a couple of things that went on yesterday.
In that way, you will connect with some of the evidence we heard
yesterday.

On your latter point, about the intrusion or the movement of
the prosecutorial side of the federal justice authority into
provincial areas, we had a fair amount of discussion yesterday
with Department of Justice officials. I can be corrected by any of
my colleagues here, but I will sum up the impression I was left
with so you will know where our minds are.

It is true that today, in the context of business, commerce and
things that can come within the ambit of this proposed legislation,
there seemed to be the need for a broader national authority.
Having said that, the officials made it clear that they are not
looking at this as a frequent or aggressive intrusion into the
provincial level. They stressed, first, their sensitivity to that point
and their intent to consult carefully and regularly with provincial
authorities, in recognition that, for the most part, that continues
to be, I think in support of your view, the best place for
prosecutorial activity to take place.

I was not left — and this is my own interpretation — with any
sense that they are doing anything other than responding to what
is perceived to be a need in this new world in which we are living.
However, it was not seen as a grab of the prosecutorial function
by the federal government. That was the position, and they
showed a great deal of sensitivity to it.

Concerning the point you raised with regard to the production
orders, or the search warrants, we had considerable discussion on
that issue. I invite which ever of my colleagues who was pursuing
that point to jump in. They were suggesting that this is in fact a
limited authority. They talked about only being concerned with
what exists now and not what might be in the future. It really
came down to: Do you have a bank account and what is the
number of that bank account? It was of very limited scope.

I encourage any of the senators who were engaged in that line
of conversation to pick it up. I know that Senator Baker was so
engaged. As a matter of fact, he led off in that area. I am not sure
what his level of satisfaction was by the time we reached the end
of the discussion.

Senator Baker: I was not very satisfied, you are absolutely
correct. I will pursue what the department said after because it
seemed to have some logic to it.

Le projet de loi à l’étude comporte un certain nombre
d’éléments que je vous demanderais de considérer. Toutefois, je
sais que les membres du comité vont poser des questions parce
que j’ai parlé au greffier de certains aspects du projet de loi. Je
vous redonne donc la parole, monsieur le président.

Le président: Permettez-moi de profiter quelques instants de la
prérogative de la présidence et de revenir sur certaines choses qui
se sont produites hier. Vous pourrez ainsi faire un lien avec
certains des témoignages que nous avons alors entendus.

Concernant le dernier point que vous avez soulevé, à propos de
l’intrusion ou de l’ingérence en matière de poursuite du ministère
fédéral de la Justice dans les domaines de compétence provinciale,
nous avons beaucoup parlé de ce sujet hier avec les représentants
du ministère de la Justice. Mes collègues pourront me corriger si je
fais erreur, mais je vais résumer l’impression qui m’en est restée
pour que vous sachiez où nous en sommes.

Il est vrai qu’aujourd’hui, dans le contexte du commerce et les
autres activités qui peuvent être visées par le projet de loi à
l’étude, il semble qu’on ait besoin d’une autorité nationale plus
vaste. Cela dit, les porte-parole entendus hier ont fait clairement
savoir qu’il ne s’agissait pas, à leurs yeux, d’une intrusion
fréquente ou agressive dans les affaires provinciales. Ils ont
souligné, d’abord, qu’ils étaient conscients de la problématique et
qu’ils avaient l’intention de consulter soigneusement et
régulièrement les autorités provinciales en reconnaissant, pour
la plupart, qu’elles continuaient d’être les mieux placées pour
intenter les poursuites, ce qui concorde, je crois, avec votre
opinion.

Je n’ai pas eu l’impression — et ceci est ma propre
interprétation — qu’ils font autre chose que réagir à ce qui est
perçu comme une nécessité dans le monde dans lequel nous
vivons. Toutefois, on n’a pas eu le sentiment qu’il s’agissait d’une
mainmise sur la fonction de poursuite par le gouvernement
fédéral. C’est la position qu’ils ont fait valoir, et ils ont fait preuve
d’une grande sensibilité à cet égard.

En ce qui a trait aux ordonnances de communication ou aux
mandats de perquisition, nous avons longuement discuté de ce
sujet. J’inviterais mes collègues qui ont abordé cette question à
prendre la parole. De l’avis des intervenants d’hier, il s’agit d’un
pouvoir limité. Ils ont parlé uniquement de ce qui existe
maintenant et non de ce qui pourrait être dans l’avenir. Ce que
l’on cherche à savoir est essentiellement ceci: avez-vous un compte
de banque et quel est le numéro de ce compte? La portée semble
très limitée.

J’encourage les sénateurs qui ont participé à cette discussion à
intervenir ici. Je sais que le sénateur Baker y a participé. En fait,
c’est lui qui a lancé le débat. Je ne sais pas dans quelle mesure il
était satisfait lorsque nous y avons mis fin.

Le sénateur Baker: Je n’étais pas très satisfait, vous avez
entièrement raison. Je vais examiner ce que le ministère a dit
après, car ça me semblait présenter une certaine logique.
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The Chairman: I invite you to do that. I wanted to cover that
ground so that you do not think that we let the officials out of
here without raising those points.

Senator Prud’homme: Speaking for the Canadian Council of
Criminal Defence Lawyers, would you consider this to be a major
piece of criminal legislation?

Mr. Trudell: There is absolutely no doubt about it.

Senator Prud’homme: I will lead you to a second question. I do
not want to take much time.

You say here in your paper, which I read very attentively, that
since its inception in 1992, your organization has intervened in the
Supreme Court of Canada and has been invited by the federal
government to consult on every major piece of criminal
legislation.

Have you been invited, to your satisfaction, to be involved in
this major piece of proposed criminal legislation?

Mr. Trudell: Regretfully, no. I mentioned in the opening that
we were invited to testify before the House committee on the
Westray mine bill, which led to Bill C-45. I can also speak for the
criminal justice subsection of the Canadian Bar Association here
today. We have all been waiting to be consulted on Bill C-45 and
Bill C-46. That consultation really has been timid, until today,
and that is why we are so happy to be here.

Senator Massicotte: I want to talk more conceptually.
Mr. Trudell, in your opening comments you said you are not
sure there is a need in our society that justifies this proposed
legislation. I would like to talk about your perception of ‘‘need.’’
Obviously, the debate is an issue of balance between the need to
make sure things are right and the need for civil liberties. Will you
talk about what your perception of ‘‘need’’ is? You commented
that the solution is one securities commission. Would your
opinion change if that was not achievable, as it may not be?

Mr. Trudell: I will say two things. When this bill originated,
and the government said that it was a response to cases like
Enron, it was clearly motivated by cases in the United States.
Then the government went on to say that it has to protect the
global market in which Canada operates.

Clearly, this was not a response to something that happened in
this country. We can pick up the paper on any day now and see
the aggressive prosecutions by securities regulators throughout
this country.

This was a response to what the Bush administration did in the
United States, and the government is clear about that. What the
government said to you yesterday, with great respect, causes us
some concern. The government said that it will only use this in

Le président: Je vous encourage à le faire. Je voulais aborder
cette question pour que vous ne pensiez pas que nous allions
laisser les témoins partir sans en discuter.

Le sénateur Prud’homme: En tant que porte-parole du Conseil
canadien des avocats de la défense, considérez-vous ce projet de
loi comme une mesure importante du droit criminel?

M. Trudell: Très certainement.

Le sénateur Prud’homme: Je vais vous poser une deuxième
question. Je ne veux pas prendre beaucoup de temps.

Vous dites dans votre document, que j’ai lu très attentivement,
que depuis sa création en 1992, votre organisme était intervenu
auprès de la Cour suprême du Canada et qu’il avait été invité par
le gouvernement fédéral à donner son avis sur chaque mesure
législative importante en droit criminel.

Avez-vous eu l’occasion de participer à votre entière
satisfaction à la réalisation de cet important projet de loi qui
relève du droit criminel?

M. Trudell: Non, à mon grand regret. J’ai indiqué dans mes
remarques préliminaires que nous avions été invités à témoigner
devant le comité de la Chambre au sujet du projet de loi sur la
mine Westray, qui a débouché sur le projet de loi C-45. Je peux
aussi parler au nom de la sous-section du droit pénal de
l’Association du Barreau canadien. Nous attendions tous d’être
consultés au sujet des projets de loi C-45 et C-46. La consultation
a été vraiment modeste, jusqu’à aujourd’hui, et c’est pourquoi
nous sommes heureux d’être ici.

Le sénateur Massicotte: J’aimerais adopter un angle
conceptuel . Monsieur Trudel l , dans vos remarques
préliminaires, vous avez dit que vous n’étiez pas certain que
notre société avait besoin de cette disposition législative.
J’aimerais discuter de votre perception du terme «besoin». De
toute évidence, le débat porte sur l’équilibre à atteindre entre le
besoin de veiller à ce que la situation soit juste et celui de protéger
les libertés fondamentales. Pourriez-vous nous dire quel sens vous
donnez au mot «besoin»? Vous avez dit que la solution serait
d’avoir une seule commission des valeurs mobilières. Votre
opinion changerait-elle si c’était irréalisable, comme ce pourrait
bien être le cas?

M. Trudell: J’ai deux commentaires à faire à ce sujet. Quand ce
projet de loi a vu le jour, le gouvernement a dit qu’il faisait suite
aux affaires comme celle d’Enron — c’était clairement une
réaction à ce qui se passait aux États-Unis. Ensuite, le
gouvernement a dit qu’il devait protéger le marché mondial sur
lequel le Canada est actif.

Il est évident que le projet de loi ne faisait pas suite à un
événement qui s’était produit au Canada. À tous les jours, les
journaux font état de poursuites énergiques lancées par des
organismes qui réglementent le secteur des valeurs mobilières au
pays.

C’était une réaction à ce que l’administration Bush a fait aux
États-Unis, et le gouvernement l’a clairement indiqué. Sans
vouloir offenser qui que ce soit, ce que le gouvernement vous a dit
hier nous inquiète. Il a dit qu’il n’allait employer cet instrument
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limited cases. However, once the horse is out of the barn there will
be no control over when this is used. When the government
introduced Bill C-45 and Bill C-46, it also said that it would put a
lot of money into specific offices, where it will hire RCMP
investigators and designate prosecutors to capital fraud cases.

This is a major advance and intrusion by the federal
government into the capital market. I did not explain it very
articulately in the beginning, but if you look at the sentencing
provision in clause 380.1, with regard to aggravating
circumstances, it reads:

(a) the value of the fraud committed exceeded
one million dollars.

As Mr. Lomer said to me on the airplane coming down this
morning, a million dollars in a capital market is a drop in the
bucket.

The bill continues:

(b) the offence adversely affected, or had the potential to
adversely affect, the stability of the Canadian economy...

They put that in as just one of the factors to be considered on
sentencing. Therefore, we are not just talking about that type of
prosecution.

Look at the third one:

(c) the offence involved a large number of victims.

What does that mean, in capital fraud terms?

Next:

(d) in committing the offence, the offender took advantage
of the high regard in which the offender was held in the
community.

If you couple that with protection for whistle-blowers — it
does not have to be a reasonable whistle-blower; it could be
someone who is just on a frolic — this bill is intrusive proposed
criminal legislation. After the government said to you yesterday,
‘‘We will only use it in limited circumstances,’’ I hope that there is
not another hearing in a year or two from now when we will hear,
‘‘but wait a minute.’’ We ran into this with Bill C-36, the
antiterrorism bill. We are now looking at how that is being used.

The government may be well-meaning when it says that this is
a response to the American scandals. It does not say that we have
a particularly unique problem in Canada. In my respectful
submission, the Criminal Code provides the tools to prosecute
frauds. It has tools to prosecute market manipulation. Why do we
need this?

If people act fraudulently, they will be prosecuted, whether
they are traders or companies. Surely, the securities regulators in
this country are aggressively prosecuting. It seems to me there has
been some difficulty in the securities industry in agreeing on
whether there should be a single regulator, but there are insider

que dans des circonstances limitées. Mais une fois la loi adoptée, il
sera difficile d’en limiter l’application. Quand le gouvernement a
déposé les projets de loi C-45 et C-46, il a aussi dit qu’il investirait
beaucoup d’argent dans des fonctions précises, qu’il allait affecter
des enquêteurs de la GRC et des procureurs aux cas de fraude sur
les marchés financiers.

C’est là une irruption et un empiétement de taille de la part du
gouvernement fédéral sur les marchés financiers. Je ne l’ai pas
expliqué très clairement au début, mais si vous examinez la
disposition de l’article 380.1 qui traite de la détermination de la
peine, on peut lire, pour ce qui est des circonstances aggravantes:

a) la fraude commise a une valeur supérieure à un million
de dollars.

Comme M. Lomer me l’a dit ce matin dans l’avion, un million
de dollars sur les marchés financiers, c’est une goutte d’eau dans
l’océan.

Le texte du projet de loi continue ainsi:

b) l’infraction a nui — ou pouvait nuire — à la stabilité de
l’économie canadienne [...]

On a inclus cela comme un facteur parmi d’autres à prendre en
considération lors de la détermination de la peine. Par
conséquent, nous ne parlons pas seulement de ce type de
poursuites.

Voyez le troisième paragraphe:

c) l’infraction a causé des dommages à un nombre élevé de
victimes.

Qu’est-ce que cela signifie dans le contexte des fraudes sur les
marchés financiers?

Ensuite:

d) le délinquant a indûment tiré parti de la réputation
d’intégrité dont il jouissait dans la collectivité.

Si vous conjuguez cela avec la protection des dénonciateurs —
il n’est pas nécessaire que le dénonciateur soit crédible; ce pourrait
être simplement un blagueur — ce projet de loi constitue un
empiétement sur le plan pénal. Le gouvernement vous a déclaré
hier qu’il n’avait l’intention d’utiliser cette mesure que dans des
circonstances restreintes; j’espère qu’il n’y aura pas d’autres
audiences dans un an ou deux où il ajoutera «oui, mais...». C’est
ce qui est arrivé avec le projet de loi C-36 sur la lutte au
terrorisme. Voyez maintenant comment la loi est appliquée.

Le gouvernement est peut-être bien intentionné quand il dit
qu’il s’agit d’une réaction aux scandales américains. Il ne dit pas
que nous avons un problème particulier au Canada. À mon
humble avis, le Code criminel fournit les outils pour lutter contre
la fraude et la manipulation des opérations boursières. Pourquoi
avons-nous besoin de ce projet de loi?

Si les gens commettent des actes frauduleux, ils seront
poursuivis, qu’il s’agisse de négociateurs ou de sociétés. Très
certainement, les organismes de réglementation du marché des
valeurs mobilières de ce pays intentent des poursuites énergiques.
Je crois qu’il a été difficile, pour l’industrie des valeurs mobilières,
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trading task forces operating in this country. We do not need this
proposed legislation. If you withdrew this bill, if you said, ‘‘Sorry,
we will not continue because it is too vague,’’ prosecutions will
not stop. When we pick up the financial papers tomorrow, we will
see another company prosecuted or insider trading prosecutions
or traders prosecuted in this country. It is happening every day.
Why do we need this?

Senator Massicotte: I am probably coming from the wrong
starting point, as I am a business person. I still see too frequently
people trying to pass on insider information, which, without this
proposed legislation, is not even a criminal offence. If you look at
the wise committee report, their solution was one commission, but
they note in that report that there is a problem in capital markets
with that kind of activity.

Perhaps my starting point is different from yours. I thought
there was urgency. I think it is important for the credibility of
capital markets to be firm about it. I am not convinced the status
quo is acceptable. Maybe the solution is not the same.

Mr. Trudell: If you decide that the status quo is not acceptable
and that this may be the vehicle, then we have to go to the next
step. How far does this vehicle go? Is it too vague?

Do you understand what a ‘‘security’’ is when you look at this
document? I do not. It is not defined. Do you understand what
‘‘insider information’’ is when you look at this document? It is not
defined. You have to go to the securities statutes to find more
detail.

What does the word ‘‘advisable’’ mean, as in ‘‘where a court
considers it advisable’’?

If we are to move into the capital markets with criminal
prosecutions, and set up and fund the organizations to do it,
surely the criminal legislation has to be held to a very high
standard. I just express an opinion. I think that insider trading,
capital market fraud, is a problem. I think it is being addressed on
a daily basis by aggressive prosecutions. However, if the
government feels that there are cases where the Canadian
economy is at such risk that they have to get on board, and this
is the bill that makes that possible, then say that.

This is very intrusive. The production orders are very intrusive.
The production orders talk about acting on suspicion, as my
friend Mr. Lomer has said, which we do not act upon, and then it
goes on to talk about what the government says are
‘‘protections,’’ for instance, for that third party who has been
asked to produce things; and the protection is against self-
incrimination in 487.016. Those documents, or anything they say,
cannot be used against them. There is no derivative use
protection. In other words, there is only use protection.

de décider s’il y aurait ou non un seul organisme de
réglementation, mais il y a au Canada des groupes de travail
sur les transactions d’initié. Nous n’avons pas besoin de ce projet
de loi. Si vous le retirez, si vous dites: «Désolés, nous ne
continuons pas parce qu’il est trop vague», les poursuites ne
cesseront pas. Dans les journaux financiers de demain, nous lirons
que telle autre entreprise est poursuivie, qu’il y a d’autres
poursuites pour transactions d’initié, ou d’autres négociateurs
qui sont poursuivis au pays. Il y en a tous les jours. Pourquoi
avons-nous besoin de cela?

Le sénateur Massicotte: Je regarde probablement la situation
par l’autre bout de la lorgnette, car je suis un homme d’affaires. Je
vois encore trop souvent des gens qui essaient de transmettre des
renseignements confidentiels, ce qui, sans ce projet de loi, ne
constitue même pas une infraction pénale. Si vous examinez le
rapport du comité, la solution proposée est d’avoir une seule
commission, mais on peut aussi y lire que ce genre d’activités pose
un problème sur les marchés financiers.

Ma perspective est peut-être différente de la vôtre. Je pensais
qu’il y avait urgence. Je crois qu’il est important, pour assurer la
crédibilité des marchés financiers, de nous montrer fermes. Je ne
suis pas convaincu que le statu quo soit acceptable. Peut-être la
solution est-elle différente.

M. Trudell: Si vous décidez que le statu quo n’est pas
acceptable et que cette mesure pourrait être la bonne, alors
nous devons passer à l’étape suivante. Jusqu’où ce projet de loi
va-t-il? Est-il trop vague?

Ce document vous apprend-il ce qu’est une «valeur mobilière»?
Non. Le terme n’est pas défini. Vous apprend-il ce qu’est une
«position d’initié»? Ce n’est pas défini. Il faut consulter les lois sur
les valeurs mobilières pour en savoir plus.

Que signifie le mot «indiquées», dans l’expression «que le juge
de paix ou le juge estime indiquées»?

Si nous avons l’intention d’introduire des poursuites pénales
sur le terrain des marchés financiers, et de créer et de financer des
organismes pour le faire, alors les lois pénales doivent être
formulées avec rigueur. C’est mon humble avis. Je pense que les
transactions d’initié et les fraudes sur les marchés financiers
représentent un problème. Je pense qu’on lutte déjà contre ce
problème en intentant des poursuites énergiques. Mais si le
gouvernement estime qu’il y a des cas où l’économie canadienne
est à ce point vulnérable qu’il doit intervenir, et si ce projet de loi
permet cette intervention, alors il faut le dire.

Cette mesure est très interventionniste. L’ordonnance de
communication est très interventionniste. Il y est question d’agir
sur de simples soupçons, comme mon ami M. Lomer l’a dit, ce
qui ne se fait pas maintenant, puis il y est question de ce que le
gouvernement appelle des protections, par exemple, pour les tiers
à qui on a demandé de communiquer des renseignements. Puis,
l’article 487.016 prévoit la protection contre les documents
incriminants. Ces documents, ou toute déclaration de la part
des dénonciateurs, ne peuvent pas être utilisés contre eux. Il n’y a
pas de protection contre les usages connexes. En d’autres mots,
seule la protection contre l’usage de la preuve existe.
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For instance, in responding to an MLAT, a Mutual Legal
Assistance Treaty request — that is, the response to some
securities legislation — if someone comes forward, they get not
only use immunity but also derivative use immunity. That is not
in here. You can go in on suspicion and you can force a third
party to produce materials, and then you only give them
derivative use immunity?

This bill is causing serious problems. Someone said, ‘‘They will
ask for a bank account number.’’ With the greatest of respect,
they will not ask for a bank account number. This is the RCMP,
and specific units will be looking for insider trading and capital
frauds. They will not just ask for a bank account number. This
bill does not just refer to banks. These specific production orders,
in the government’s background paper, talk about foreign banks,
credit unions, caisses populaires, life insurance companies, trust
and loan companies, securities dealers, investment counsellors,
foreign exchange dealers and casinos — where all the traders
hang out, I presume. This is an expansive definition.

When the government says, ‘‘Look, we will not use this
legislation to do anything except prosecute those very serious
offences because the provincial regulators can do the rest,’’ with
great respect, I do not think it will happen.

The Chairman: You are identified in our notes as being from
the Canadian Council of Criminal Defence Lawyers. Is there a
committee whose findings you are speaking about here, or are
those your personal comments?

Mr. Lomer: The Canadian Council of Criminal Defence
Lawyers is a council of defence lawyers from across the
country. Where there is a provincial organization, a strong,
respected organization like the Criminal Lawyers’ Association of
Ontario, a representative sits on the council. Where there is no
organization, as in Nunavut, we have representatives across the
country. When the government consults us, we are consulted to
give a national voice. I am not speaking on behalf of every person
who is a defence counsel across the country, but we represent the
country from a national point of view.

The Chairman: As a group, you have addressed this particular
bill?

Mr. Trudell: As best we can, but I must go back to the earlier
comments. We have not been able to look at this bill in great
detail, nor were we consulted on it. We offered to consult, in the
early stages, on the corporate criminal liability, but we were not
consulted.

Senator Angus: I wish to thank the witnesses for coming here
this morning. Clearly, you are in love with this proposed
legislation! I take it, Chairman, that this is the right debate that
we are having here.

Par exemple, en réponse à une demande en vertu d’un traité
d’entraide juridique — c’est-à-dire en application d’une loi sur les
valeurs mobilières —, si quelqu’un se manifeste, il n’obtient pas
seulement l’immunité contre l’usage de la preuve, mais aussi
l’immunité contre les usages connexes. Ce n’est pas dans ce projet
de loi. Vous pouvez agir à partir de soupçons; vous pouvez forcer
un tiers à communiquer des documents et vous ne lui conférez que
l’immunité contre les usages connexes?

Ce projet de loi soulève de graves problèmes. Quelqu’un a dit
qu’on n’allait demander que des numéros de comptes bancaires.
Bien humblement, on ne demandera pas que cela. C’est de la
GRC qu’il s’agit, et certaines de ses unités dépisteront les cas de
transactions d’initié et de fraude sur les marchés financiers. Elles
ne se limiteront pas aux numéros de comptes bancaires. Ce projet
de loi ne vise pas que les banques. Les ordonnances de
communication dont il est question dans le document
d’information du gouvernement visent des banques étrangères,
des coopératives de crédit, des caisses populaires, des compagnies
d’assurance-vie, des compagnies de fiducie et de prêts, des
courtiers en valeurs mobilières, des conseillers en placements,
des courtiers en devises et des casinos — où se tiennent tous les
négociateurs, je présume. La définition est très large.

Quand le gouvernement dit qu’il a l’intention de n’utiliser cette
loi que pour entamer des poursuites dans les cas d’infractions
graves, car les organismes provinciaux de réglementation peuvent
faire le reste, à mon humble avis, ça ne se passera pas ainsi.

Le président: Selon nos notes, vous faites partie du Conseil
canadien des avocats de la défense. Vos commentaires rendent-ils
compte des conclusions d’un comité ou sont-ils faits à titre
personnel?

M. Lomer: Le Conseil canadien des avocats de la défense
représente des avocats de tout le pays. Là où il existe un
organisme provincial, un organisme dynamique et respecté
comme la Criminal Lawyers’ Association, en Ontario, un
représentant de cet organisme siège au conseil. S’il n’y a pas
d’organisme, au Nunavut par exemple, nous avons des
représentants de tout le pays. Quand le gouvernement nous
consulte, c’est pour obtenir un point de vue pancanadien. Je ne
parle pas au nom de chaque avocat de la défense du pays, mais
nous représentons le pays dans une perspective nationale.

Le président: En tant qu’organisme, avez-vous étudié ce projet
de loi?

M. Trudell: De notre mieux, mais je dois revenir à mes
commentaires précédents. Nous n’avons pas pu examiner ce
projet de loi à fond, et nous n’avons pas été consultés. Nous avons
offert de donner notre avis aux premières étapes, à propos de la
responsabilité criminelle des sociétés, mais nous n’avons pas été
consultés.

Le sénateur Angus: J’aimerais remercier les témoins d’être
venus ce matin. De toute évidence, vous raffolez de ce projet de
loi! Je présume, monsieur le président, que nous touchons au cœur
de la question.
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You may not know all the background, but you keep saying
that this is a reaction to Enron, and situations like that. It is much
more complicated than that. In fact, this bill was tabled in the
House of Commons on or about the same day as our report,
which called for this type of legislation, was issued. I probably
speak for most of the members of the committee — though its
composition has changed — when I say that we do not think it
goes far enough.

It concerns restoring investor confidence generally in the wake
of a big meltdown. I heard you talking about corporate
governance as I arrived slightly late this morning. Canada has
been trying, not only in the federal forum but also in other fora—
legislatures and so on — to find a way to deal with those people
who are constantly beating the system. We all agreed
unanimously in our report that one of the problems is that
there is too much hanky-panky going on and we do not have the
tools in legislation to deal with it. Furthermore, what tools we
have are not really harsh enough. As Senator Massicotte said, it
was not even a crime. It is a joke in Canada. We have had people
from the IDA and the self-policing bodies of the securities
industries themselves coming here and saying it is a joke. We have
to put some teeth into it. The proposed legislation was not a
response to our report because it was already in the works,
namely, with Bill C-47 in Ontario, and its predecessor, of which it
is an amendment. Basically, there is a need for tougher penalties
and for deterrence.

I think you will find we are all basically on the same page in
this committee on that. I am hearing things like, ‘‘Well, this is
much too vague. If you are going to legislate, this is the wrong
way to go. It may be unconstitutional.’’ That comment gets my
attention. If we are to do it, we should get it right.

Do you not agree that it is a legitimate area for the government
to legislate in, but in a Canadian way? If you want to talk about
tough legislation, the penalties in Sarbanes-Oxley are 20 years.
They are much more severe. Elliot Spitzer and the SEC say they
still do not have the tools to catch the crooks. This is an effort to
give the enforcers an opportunity to do something.

Do you not feel there is a need? I know you are criminal
lawyers and you are defence lawyers, and you are defending the
accused. Let us assume there will be tougher legislation. Why not
this?

Mr. Lomer: When we were invited here, I was certainly aware
of the proposed legislation. I looked at the substantive or policy
aspects of it as being essentially a fait accompli. It appeared to me
that was the direction it was going. There was not a lot that we
could say that would influence you, and with some justification. I
understand the public policy bases for the reasons and the
concerns. However, I came here to try to say, ‘‘Do it right
procedurally.’’ Do it right with respect to the warrant provision.
There is no halfway house of suspicion, as I understand the law.

Vous ne connaissez peut-être pas tout le contexte, mais vous
répétez qu’il s’agit d’une réaction à l’affaire Enron et à d’autres
affaires semblables. C’est beaucoup plus complexe que cela. En
fait, ce projet de loi a été déposé à la Chambre des Communes le
jour même — ou les jours précédents ou suivants — où notre
rapport recommandant l’adoption d’une loi de ce genre a été
publié. J’exprime probablement l’opinion de la plupart des
membres du comité — bien que sa composition ait changé —
quand je dis que nous ne croyons pas qu’il va assez loin.

Il s’agit de rétablir la confiance des investisseurs à la suite d’une
grave crise. Je suis arrivé un peu en retard et je vous ai entendu
parler de gestion des entreprises. Le Canada essaie, pas seulement
à l’échelon fédéral mais aussi à d’autres échelons — au sein des
assemblées législatives notamment — de trouver un moyen de
contrer les individus qui abusent constamment du système. Dans
notre rapport, nous avons dit convenir unanimement que l’un des
problèmes est qu’il y a trop de fricotage et que nous n’avons pas
les outils pour y faire face. De plus, les outils à notre disposition
n’ont pas la portée voulue. Comme l’a souligné le
sénateur Massicotte, ce n’était même pas un crime. Au Canada,
c’est une peccadille. Des représentants de l’Association
canadienne des courtiers en valeurs mobilières et d’organismes
d’auto-réglementation de l’industrie des valeurs mobilières sont
venus ici et ils nous ont dit que c’était une peccadille. Nous devons
donner du mordant à la loi. La loi n’a pas été proposée en réponse
à notre rapport; elle était déjà en voie d’élaboration, sous la forme
du projet de loi C-47 en Ontario, et du projet de loi précédent,
dont elle constitue un amendement. Essentiellement, nous avons
besoin de peines plus lourdes et de mesures dissuasives.

Vous constaterez que le comité est unanime sur cette question.
J’entends des commentaires comme «C’est trop vague. Si vous
voulez légiférer, ce n’est pas le bon moyen. Cette mesure pourrait
être inconstitutionnelle.» Ce commentaire attire mon attention. Si
nous devons légiférer, nous devrions le faire correctement.

Ne convenez-vous pas qu’il est légitime pour le gouvernement
de légiférer dans ce domaine, mais à la manière canadienne?
Parlant de lois qui ont des dents, la loi Sarbanes-Oxley de 2002
prévoit des peines d’emprisonnement de 20 ans. Les sanctions
sont plus lourdes. Pourtant, Elliot Spitzer et la SEC disent qu’ils
n’ont toujours pas les outils pour arrêter les fraudeurs. Ce projet
de loi tente de donner des moyens aux agents d’application de la
loi.

Ne croyez-vous pas qu’il y a un besoin? Je sais que vous êtes
des criminalistes et des avocats de la défense, que vous défendez
les accusés. Supposons qu’il y aura bel et bien une loi plus stricte.
Pourquoi pas celle-ci?

M. Lomer: Quand nous avons été invités à témoigner ici, je
connaissais le projet de loi. Je considérais que sa substance, ou ses
aspects réglementaires, représentaient un fait accompli. Il m’a
semblé que c’était cette tournure que la situation prenait. Il n’y
avait pas grand-chose que nous pouvions dire pour vous
influencer, et c’est compréhensible. Je comprends sur quels
principes de la politique publique vous appuyez vos raisons et
vos préoccupations. Toutefois, je suis venu ici pour vous
demander de respecter les règles de procédure. Faites en sorte
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With respect to attempts to get at banking information under the
commercial part, you may have problems, even though the
government says it is limited. You still have ‘‘suspicion’’ being
referred to with respect to the general production powers under
clause 487.012, as opposed to clause 487.013, which contains the
commercial powers.

Clause 487.013 talks about ‘‘assisting in the investigation.’’ As I
said, there is no halfway house, as I see it. I would be prepared to
debate with officials of the Department of Justice as to whether
there is one. If there is, it has not evolved. This may be the
department’s attempt to make it evolve by creating legislation
that gets challenged, and eventually either stands or falls.

In response to your question, we understand what is driving
this. From a private point of view, I understand that it is not such
a bad thing to see insider trading in the criminal law as opposed to
just in securities legislation. There is a different perception when it
ends up in the Criminal Code, I agree. When you institute a
14-year maximum for frauds, which are, generally speaking,
a non-violent crime, you have moved it up to a par with crimes
like aggravated assault. Sexual assault is only a 10-year offence.

You have moved it up more than just incrementally; you have
cranked it up a notch and I am not sure that it is now in the
company of crimes that it should be. You have now moved it to
the same level as dangerous driving causing death, which, to my
way of thinking, is just another way of saying ‘‘manslaughter.’’
That may be where, as a policy, you want to put it. It may be that
serious.

If I may just backtrack for a minute, when I was talking about
the million dollars as being an aggravating factor, that million
dollars will end up being the line between conditional sentences
and incarceration at some later stage. That is probably what will
happen.

Senator Angus: We will not mind that.

Mr. Lomer: In terms of real aggravating factors, as I
commented to Mr. Trudell, a million dollars, if it is the Royal
Bank or the Bank of Montreal, is a line item. It may mean a cent
or two off the share price. I am not denigrating that. However, if
it is a hundred thousand dollars from an individual whose life
savings were wiped out, that is a far more serious and aggravating
factor to him than the million dollars to the bank.

Senator Angus: I do not want to interrupt your train of
thought, but we are all readers of the national newspapers and we
finally see it right on the front pages — and it had to be done in
the States— a senior executive of one of our major banks, CIBC,
being taken off in handcuffs for his role as an individual, albeit as
an employee of the bank, in the mutual fund late-trading
scandals. That was significant. Whether it is a million dollars or
hundreds of millions, it is the device, the scheme, that was
perpetrated, and thousands and thousands of widows and
orphans who invested in mutual funds — not individually in the

que la disposition sur les mandats soit inattaquable. D’après moi,
en droit, il n’y a pas de solution intermédiaire en ce qui concerne
les soupçons. Quant aux tentatives pour obtenir de l’information
bancaire en vertu du volet commercial de la loi, vous aurez peut-
être des problèmes, même si le gouvernement dit que l’application
est limitée. Il est encore question de présomption relativement à
l’ordonnance de communication prévue à l’article 487.012, par
opposition à l’article 487.013, qui décrit les pouvoirs dans le
secteur commercial.

Dans l’article 487.013, il est question «d’utilité pour l’enquête».
Comme je l’ai déjà dit, il n’y a pas de solution intermédiaire. Je
serais prêt à en discuter avec les représentants du ministère de la
Justice. S’il y en a une, elle n’a pas évolué. C’est peut-être un
moyen pour le ministère de la faire évoluer en créant une loi qui
sera contestée, et qui finira par tenir ou par être abandonnée.

En réponse à votre question, nous comprenons les motivations.
Personnellement, je comprends qu’il n’est pas mauvais de
soumettre les transactions d’initié au droit pénal plutôt que
seulement aux lois sur les valeurs mobilières. La perception est
différente quand il s’agit du Code criminel, j’en conviens. En
prévoyant une peine maximum de 14 ans d’emprisonnement pour
les cas de fraude — en général un crime non violent — vous
mettez ce crime sur le même pied que les voies de fait graves.
L’agression sexuelle n’entraîne qu’une peine de 10 ans.

L’augmentation des sanctions n’est pas minime; c’est une haute
marche que vous leur faites monter, et je ne suis pas certain que la
fraude soit de même nature que les autres crimes qui entraînent
des peines aussi lourdes. Vous l’avez mis sur le même pied que la
conduite dangereuse causant la mort qui, à mon avis, équivaut à
l’homicide involontaire. C’est peut-être votre intention, en
principe, de la mettre là. C’est peut-être grave à ce point.

Avec votre permission, j’aimerais revenir un peu en arrière,
quand j’ai dit que la somme d’un million de dollars constituait un
facteur aggravant, et que cette somme finira par distinguer les cas
de peine avec sursis des cas d’incarcération. C’est probablement ce
qui se produira.

Le sénateur Angus: Nous n’aurons pas d’objection.

M. Lomer: En ce qui concerne les circonstances aggravantes,
comme je l’ai dit à M. Trudell, un million de dollars, pour la
Banque Royale ou la Banque de Montréal, ce n’est qu’un poste
budgétaire. Cela peut représenter un cent ou deux sur le prix des
actions. Je n’en minimise pas la portée, mais s’il s’agit de
100 000 $ pour un individu dont l’épargne de toute une vie s’est
volatilisée, c’est une circonstance beaucoup plus grave pour lui
que le million de dollars pour la banque.

Le sénateur Angus: Je ne veux pas vous faire perdre le fil de
votre pensée, mais nous sommes tous des lecteurs assidus des
journaux nationaux et nous l’avons enfin vu à la une — il fallait
que ce soit aux États-Unis: un cadre supérieur d’une de nos
grandes banques, la CIBC, arrêté, menottes aux poignets, pour
son rôle en tant qu’individu, mais aussi en tant qu’employé de la
banque, dans le scandale des opérations tardives sur les fonds
mutuels. C’était une affaire importante. Qu’il s’agisse d’un million
ou de centaines de millions de dollars, c’est le mécanisme,
l’opération frauduleuse qui a été menée, et les milliers de veuves et
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equity markets, but in this supposedly safe mutual fund — are
wiped out. There is no law in Canada that could have been used
to get those people. They had to get them in the States.

Mr. Lomer: I could not agree with you more. That would have
been caught under two other aggravating factors, jeopardizing the
financial health of the country and the victimization of many
individuals.

I am trying to say that the million dollars is just an artificial
threshold that may or may not have any application, when you
can imagine quite easily cases involving amounts much lower than
that that have serious repercussions for the individuals involved,
and cases that involve a lot more that do not. As an aggravating
factor, it does not have what I would call the policy direction that
tells your judiciary what you are thinking. It is an indicia, but it is
not that helpful. It almost should be non-mitigating.

Senator Angus: In terms of not doing it right, and accepting
that there is a strong appetite here in this town to get some tough
laws on the books, I understand there were questions raised
yesterday as to the constitutionality. I think one of you raised it.
Am I right there? If so, what can we do to fix it so it will not be
challenged as being unconstitutional?

Mr. Lomer: The simple thing to do is change ‘‘suspicion’’ to
‘‘reasonable grounds to believe.’’ That is probably the first and
easiest thing. Once you do that, it is bullet proof, because that
tracks the language coming out of our Supreme Court.

Senator Angus: I understand there was also a discussion on the
whistle-blowing provisions. Again, if you read the national press,
this current government has an appetite for pushing this among
the list of bills they want to get through quickly before an election.
They keep talking about the whistle-blower elements of it as
opposed to insider trading. I can see why, in the current context.
It would be nice to have an environment where people who know
things feel comfortable about blowing the whistle.

Mr. Lomer: Again, I do not disagree, but imagine that you are
working in a company where there is a rogue employee who does
not have any information but persists in telling the authorities
that he does. If you look at the bill as it has been drafted here, if
you try to fire him or get rid of him because of his misbehaviour,
you are likely to end up being charged. All you have to do to fix
that is to say, ‘‘respecting an offence that the employee believes on
reasonable grounds has been or is committed.’’ In other words,
you have some objective lens through which to look at what the
employee is saying. If he is really not making sense but just
creating havoc for his employer, yes, the employer should be

d’orphelins qui ont investi dans les fonds mutuels — pas
individuellement sur le marché des actions, mais dans ces fonds
mutuels supposément sécuritaires — et qui voient leurs économies
anéanties. Le Canada ne dispose d’aucune loi pour appréhender
les fraudeurs de cet acabit. Il a fallu que ce soit les États-Unis qui
s’en chargent.

M. Lomer: Je suis tout à fait d’accord avec vous. Deux
circonstances aggravantes prévues dans le projet de loi se seraient
appliquées: la mise en péril la stabilité financière du pays et les
dommages causés à un nombre élevé de victimes.

Je veux seulement dire que le montant d’un million de dollars
n’est qu’un seuil artificiel qui peut s’appliquer ou non. On peut
imaginer facilement des cas impliquant des sommes beaucoup
moins élevées qui peuvent avoir de sérieuses répercussions pour
les personnes touchées, de même que des cas mettant en cause
beaucoup plus d’argent.Comme circonstance aggravante, cela ne
donne pas à notre système judiciaire une indication nette de ce
que nous souhaitons faire. C’est un indice, mais ce n’est pas si
révélateur que ça. Cela devrait presque figurer dans les
circonstances atténuantes.

Le sénateur Angus: Pour ce qui est des lacunes à combler, et
compte tenu de la volonté bien affirmée ici d’adopter des lois plus
rigoureuses, des questions de constitutionnalité ont été soulevées
hier. Je crois que c’est l’un d’entre vous qui l’a fait. Est-ce exact?
Si tel est le cas, quels ajustements pouvons-nous apporter pour
nous assurer que le projet de loi ne sera pas jugé
inconstitutionnel?

M. Lomer: Il faut simplement remplacer la notion de soupçon
par celle de motif raisonnable de croire. C’est probablement la
chose la plus facile à faire. Une fois ce changement apporté, il n’y
a plus aucun risque, parce qu’on s’aligne sur la terminologie
utilisée par notre Cour suprême.

Le sénateur Angus: Vous avez également discuté des
dispositions touchant la dénonciation. Encore là, si l’on en croit
les médias nationaux, le gouvernement actuel veut placer ce projet
de loi au rang de ceux qu’il souhaite voir adoptés rapidement
avant une élection. On parle davantage des dispositions touchant
la dénonciation que de celles se rapportant aux délits d’initiés. Je
peux comprendre pourquoi dans le contexte actuel. Il serait bon
de vivre dans un environnement où les gens qui savent des choses
n’ont pas à craindre de les divulguer.

M. Lomer: Je ne suis pas contre, mais imaginez un instant que
vous travaillez au sein d’une entreprise comptant un employé
malveillant qui ne dispose d’aucune information particulière, mais
qui persiste à dire aux autorités qu’il a des renseignements à
divulguer. En vous appuyant sur le projet de loi dans sa forme
actuelle, si vous essayez de le congédier ou de vous en débarrasser
en raison de son comportement, vous risquez de faire l’objet
d’accusations. Pour régler la question, il suffirait de préciser que
l’employé doit avoir des motifs raisonnables de croire qu’une
infraction a été ou est en train d’être commise. Autrement dit, il
faut se garder la possibilité d’effectuer une évaluation objective
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entitled to fire him. If there is real substance to it, it certainly is
something the courts litigate all the time. Reasonableness is our
meat and potatoes.

Mr. Trudell: Senator, in Sarbanes-Oxley, under retaliation
against informants, it has the words ‘‘truthful information.’’ That
was in the government’s working paper. It may be that ‘‘truthful’’
was just left out as an oversight, but the word ‘‘truthful’’ put in
before ‘‘information’’ covers it; and Sarbanes-Oxley has obviously
covered it to deal with those situations where someone has a
vendetta.

Senator Angus: This committee has been to Washington, and
we have met Senator Sarbanes and Congressman Oxley. We have
some understanding of the law and its legislative history. In a
nutshell, as we understand it, they were working long before
Enron on developing a good set of rules, regulations and punitive
provisions to deal with this type of thing. Suddenly, they had to
act more quickly. I assume the executive branch said, ‘‘Look, we
have to have something that sends a signal,’’ and they may have
gone too far. I do not know.

My question is, if we had Sarbanes-Oxley here in front of you,
would you have the same criticisms?

Mr. Trudell: You mean would I be criticizing Sarbanes-Oxley?

Senator Angus: As being vague, as being too tough, as being
not necessary, as being redundant to the criminal laws of the
country and so on.

Mr. Trudell: I think that in the United States, those were some
of the criticisms made when Sarbanes-Oxley was introduced, and
those criticisms are still being made because some of the
provisions of Sarbanes-Oxley are being tested, and they may
have gone too far.

You were posing a question to us, ‘‘Do not you think we need
teeth,’’ and at the risk of being asked to leave —

Senator Angus: No, no.

Mr. Trudell:— I say we do not need it. There was a catalyst in
the United States, and this bill on corporate governance was being
worked on for a long time by the Department of Justice, but the
provincial securities regulators have been doing the same. You
talk about someone walking out in handcuffs. As soon as a trader
or a person of prominence is charged with a securities offence,
and we can talk about names right now, they appear prominently
in the press. The securities commission, the regulations and the
provinces are getting tough. They have their own teeth. Okay, it is
coming. I am not going to be the voice that says we do not need it,
but I am the voice that says we do not need it.

Senator Angus: A voice of moderation.

des allégations de l’employé. Si ce que l’employé dit n’a aucun
sens, mais vise uniquement à causer du tort à son employeur,
alors l’entreprise devrait avoir le droit de le congédier. Comme
toujours, ce seront les tribunaux qui devront déterminer si les
allégations sont fondées. Le caractère raisonnable est une
question que nous devons régler tous les jours.

M. Trudell : Sénateur, la loi Sarbanes-Oxley parle
d’information véridique dans la section sur les représailles
contre les dénonciateurs. C’est cette terminologie qui figurait
dans les documents de travail du gouvernement. Le terme
véridique a peut-être simplement été laissé de côté, mais il
aurait été suffisant pour protéger nos arrières; il est de toute
évidence utilisé dans Sarbanes-Oxley pour traiter les situations où
un employé poursuit une vengeance personnelle.

Le sénateur Angus: Notre comité s’est rendu à Washington
pour y rencontrer le sénateur Sarbanes et le congressman Oxley.
Nous avons donc une bonne idée de la teneur de leur loi et du
processus législatif suivi. En bref, nous avons pu comprendre que,
bien avant l’affaire Enron, ils s’employaient à élaborer un
ensemble efficace de règles et de dispositions punitives pour ce
genre de délit. Les événements les ont obligés à accélérer les
choses. Je suppose que les responsables du pouvoir exécutif leur
ont dit qu’ils avaient besoin de quelque chose pour envoyer un
signal et qu’ils sont peut-être allés trop loin. Je ne sais pas.

Je vous pose la question: Si nous étudiions actuellement la loi
Sarbanes-Oxley, formuleriez-vous les mêmes critiques?

M. Trudell: Vous me demandez si je serais critique à l’égard de
Sarbanes-Oxley?

Le sénateur Angus: Vous pourriez dire qu’elle est trop vague,
trop rigoureuse, inutile, qu’elle n’ajoute rien aux lois criminelles
du pays, etc.

M. Trudell: Je crois que cela fait partie des critiques entendues
lors de l’adoption de la loi Sarbanes-Oxley aux États-Unis. Ces
critiques se poursuivent parce que quelques-unes des dispositions
de Sarbanes-Oxley sont mises à l’épreuve, et on constate qu’on est
peut-être allé trop loin.

Vous nous demandiez si nous pensions avoir besoin d’une loi
qui a du mordant, et au risque de me faire expulser de la salle...

Le sénateur Angus: Non, non.

M. Trudell: ... Je dis que cette loi n’est pas nécessaire. Il y avait
un catalyseur aux États-Unis et ce projet de loi sur la régie
d’entreprise était en chantier depuis longtemps déjà au ministère
de la Justice, mais les responsables provinciaux de la
réglementation sur les valeurs mobilières en font tout autant.
Vous parlez de ce dirigeant appréhendé, menottes aux poignets.
Dès qu’un courtier ou un intervenant d’importance est accusé
d’une infraction, et nous pourrions citer des noms, il fait la
manchette dans la presse. La commission des valeurs mobilières,
les autorités réglementaires et les provinces sont de plus en plus
sévères. Elles ne manquent pas de mordant. Ça s’en vient. Ce n’est
pas à moi de dire que nous n’en avons pas besoin, mais je vais tout
de même le dire.

Le sénateur Angus: C’est la voix de la modération.
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Mr. Trudell: No, no. It has to be looked at very carefully to
remove the vagueness, because otherwise, any prosecution under
this will never come to fruition. The bill, in my respectful
submission, is too vague and does not have the necessary
protections.

Senator Angus: Meaning that in your mind, it could go much
further than it is intended to go?

Mr. Trudell: I do not think it will be successful because it is too
vague. It is too open to interpretation.

Senator Angus: It might not go anywhere in that regard.

Mr. Trudell: We talked about the vague clauses, and I do not
know whether you want us to point out some.

Senator Angus: Please.

Mr. Trudell: I have already talked about the sentencing, the
aggravating circumstances. It talks in (b) about the offence having
the potential to adversely affect the stability of the Canadian
economy. What does that mean? That is an aggravating factor. It
has to be proved beyond a reasonable doubt in a criminal
prosecution. In other words, if you as a prosecutor want to
introduce an aggravating circumstance on sentence, you have to
prove it beyond a reasonable doubt. How will they prove that?

Under non-mitigating factors, it says that the court shall not
consider as mitigating circumstances the offender’s skills or status
or reputation in the community if those circumstances were
relevant to, contributed to or were used in the commission of the
offence.

It is very vague; what does it mean? Clause 382.1 states:

(1) A person is guilty of an indictable offence and liable to
imprisonment for a term not exceeding ten years who,
directly or indirectly, buys or sells a security, knowingly
using inside information that they...

What is a ‘‘security’’? It is not defined. What is ‘‘inside
information’’? It is not defined.

Senator Massicotte: It is defined.

Mr. Trudell: It is defined in subclause 382.1(4), which states:

In this section, ‘‘inside information’’ means information
relating to or affecting the issuer of a security or a security
that they have issued, or are about to issue,...

That is vague.

(a) has not been generally disclosed; and

That is vague.

(b) could reasonably be expected to significantly affect the
market price or value of a security of the issuer.

M. Trudell: Non, non. Il faut l’examiner à fond pour clarifier
toutes les dispositions trop vagues. Sinon, il sera impossible
d’intenter des poursuites en application de cette loi. À mon
humble avis, ce projet de loi est trop vague et n’offre pas les
protections nécessaires.

Le sénateur Angus: Voulez-vous dire par cela qu’il pourrait
aller beaucoup plus loin que ce qui est prévu?

M. Trudell: Je ne crois pas qu’il sera efficace parce qu’il est
trop vague. Il est trop ouvert à l’interprétation.

Le sénateur Angus: Il ne servira peut-être à rien alors.

M. Trudell: Nous avons parlé des dispositions trop vagues; je
ne sais pas si vous souhaitez que nous en relevions quelques-unes.

Le sénateur Angus: Allez-y.

M. Trudell: J’ai déjà parlé de la détermination de la peine et des
circonstances aggravantes. À l’alinéa b), il est question du cas où
l’infraction pourrait nuire à la stabilité économique du Canada.
Qu’est-ce que cela signifie? C’est une circonstance aggravante.
Dans une poursuite criminelle, cela doit être prouvé hors de tout
doute raisonnable. Autrement dit, si vous intentez une poursuite
et souhaitez faire valoir cette circonstance aggravante pour la
détermination de la peine, vous devez en établir la preuve hors de
tout doute raisonnable. Comment établir cette preuve?

Dans la section sur les circonstances atténuantes, il est indiqué
que le tribunal ne doit pas prendre en considération à titre de
circonstance atténuante les compétences professionnelles, le statut
ou la réputation du délinquant dans la collectivité, si ces facteurs
ont contribué à la perpétration de l’infraction, ont été utilisés
pour la commettre ou y étaient liés.

Tout cela est très vague; que veut-on dire exactement?
L’article 382.1 se lit comme suit:

(1) Est coupable d’un acte criminel et passible d’un
emprisonnement maximal de dix ans la personne qui, même
indirectement, vend ou achète des valeurs mobilières en
utilisant sciemment des renseignements confidentiels que,
selon le cas [...]

Qu’entend-t-on par «valeurs mobilières»? Cela n’est pas défini.
Qu’entend-t-on par «renseignements confidentiels»? Ce n’est pas
défini non plus.

Le sénateur Massicotte: C’est défini.

M. Trudell: C’est défini dans le paragraphe 382.1(4):

Pour l’application du présent article, «renseignements
confidentiels»s’entend des renseignements qui concernent un
émetteur de valeurs mobilières ou les valeurs mobilières qu’il
a émises ou se propose d’émettre [...]

C’est plutôt vague.

a) n’ont pas été préalablement divulguées;

C’est vague.

b) peuvent être raisonnablement considérées comme
susceptibles d’avoir une influence importante sur la valeur
ou le prix des valeurs de l’émetteur.
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That is vague.

Senator Massicotte: It is largely the same definition that the
security commissions are using.

Mr. Trudell: The Securities Act has specific examples and
definitions. I would suggest that this is open to consideration of
whether it could be tightened up and the terms we are talking
about defined.

My colleague has mentioned the issue of suspicion. I want to
refer you to the use of the word in 487.013 (5), which states:

The order may contain any terms and conditions that the
justice or judge considers advisable in the circumstances, ...

What does ‘‘advisable’’ mean? There is much room for
interpretation, and there are others.

The Chairman: I understand that you could point out many
areas to us, but we will continue now with the questioning.

Senator Baker: ‘‘Low expectation of privacy,’’ were the words
of officials yesterday — information obtained via 487.13 had a
low expectation of privacy. I am pretty sure those were the exact
words. They did not say a ‘‘reasonable expectation of privacy’’ or
a ‘‘high expectation of privacy,’’ but they said ‘‘a low expectation
of privacy.’’

I would like to ask you about clause 487.013, which states:

(1) ...the account number of the person named in the
order or the name of the person whose account number is
specified in the order, the status and type of the account,
and the date on which it was opened or closed.

It says, ‘‘the status of the account.’’ Would you say, in your
experience and knowledge of case law, that the status of a bank
account, the name, the number, type of account and the date on
which it was opened or closed, would have a low expectation of
privacy?

Mr. Lomer: It did not used to but it does now, apparently. It
seems that from the point of view of the state participants, all of
our financial records are an open book, even though, keep in
mind, our filings under the Income Tax Act are still supposed to
be guarded with a fairly high degree of privacy. When you
combine this material with all the other identifiers, such as
driver’s licence, date of birth, et cetera, that they are entitled to
get out of the file at the bank, you could not have a private bank
account anywhere in this country, if this were to pass, because it
would only require a police officer to say that he has a suspicion,
and therefore, the information is no longer private.

C’est encore vague.

Le sénateur Massicotte: C’est à peu près la même définition
qu’utilisent les commissions des valeurs mobilières.

M. Trudell: La Loi sur les valeurs mobilières comporte des
définitions et des exemples précis. Je suggérerais que l’on envisage
la possibilité de préciser ces dispositions et de mieux définir les
termes dont nous parlons.

Mon collègue a évoqué la notion de soupçon. Je voudrais
attirer votre attention sur la terminologie utilisée dans le
paragraphe 487.013(5) qui se lit comme suit:

L’ordonnance peut être assortie des conditions que le juge
de paix ou le juge estime indiquées [...]

Qu’entend-on par «indiquées»? Il y a beaucoup de possibilités
d’interprétation, et je pourrais vous citer d’autres exemples.

Le président: Je constate que vous pourriez nous citer bien
d’autres cas, mais nous allons reprendre nos questions.

Le sénateur Baker: Les témoins que nous avons entendus hier
ont indiqué que les attentes quant à la protection des
renseignements personnels étaient relativement faibles pour ce
qui est des informations obtenues en application de
l’article 487.13. Je suis à peu près sûr que c’est bien ce qu’ils ont
dit. Ils n’ont pas parlé d’attentes raisonnables ou d’attentes
élevées, mais bien d’attentes plutôt faibles quant à la protection
des renseignements personnels.

J’aimerais vous poser une question au sujet de l’article 487.013
qui prévoit ce qui suit:

(1) [...] soit le numéro de compte de la personne nommée
dans l’ordonnance soit le nom de la personne dont le
numéro de compte est mentionné dans l’ordonnance, ainsi
que l’état du compte, sa catégorie et la date à laquelle il a été
ouvert ou fermé.

On parle de l’état du compte. À la lumière de votre expérience
et de votre connaissance de la jurisprudence, croyez-vous que les
attentes quant à la protection des renseignements personnels
seraient plutôt faibles lorsqu’il est question d’un compte bancaire,
du nom, du numéro de compte, du type de compte et de la date à
laquelle il est ouvert ou fermé?

M. Lomer: Ce n’était pas le cas auparavant, mais il appert que
la situation a changé. Il semble que l’État considère tous nos
registres financiers comme un grand livre ouvert et ce même si, ne
l’oublions pas, nos déclarations en vertu de la Loi de l’impôt sur le
revenu sont encore censées être protégées par un degré assez élevé
de confidentialité. Lorsque l’on combine ces renseignements avec
les autres données d’identification, comme le permis de conduire,
la date de naissance, etc., qui peuvent être obtenus de notre
dossier à la banque, il deviendrait impossible, si ce projet de loi
était adopté, d’avoir un compte bancaire privé dans ce pays parce
qu’il suffirait qu’un agent de police ait un soupçon pour que ces
renseignements soient divulgués.
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Senator Baker: I understand. The explanation given by the
officials was that this information would have a low expectation
of privacy. As you know, for a warrant to violate section 8 of the
Charter, there would have to be a reasonable expectation of
privacy on the information that it is attempting to obtain.

Mr. Lomer: Correct.

Senator Baker: The department’s explanation is that this
information has as low expectation of privacy and therefore
would not violate section 8 of the Charter, as you just claimed it
would.

Mr. Lomer: I can think of wiretap cases in which the
individuals indicate that they think their phone is being tapped
and then the Crown attorney argues, ‘‘They have a low
expectation of privacy.’’ Eventually, if you tap everybody’s
phone, nobody will have any expectation of privacy with
respect to phone calls. If you allow for interference in your
private affairs by the state in this manner, then yes, it is a self-
fulfilling prophecy. That is my point.

Senator Baker: Is this clause a violation of section 8 of the
Charter, in your opinion?

Mr. Lomer: Yes, it is a violation.

Senator Baker: Would it be saved by section 1 of the Charter?

Mr. Lomer: — ‘‘demonstrably justified in a free and
democratic society.’’ The problem is that the societies where
you see it demonstrably justified are not free and democratic.

Senator Baker: Yes or no.

Mr. Lomer: Section 1 is a tough hurdle for anybody trying to
justify legislation. It is not in violation 99 per cent of the time. If it
were in violation, the justifications would be very difficult.

Senator Baker: I will ask Mr. Trudell about the case of
R. v. Hurrell, 2002. Were you the lawyer? The Court of Appeal of
Ontario last year struck down section 117.041 of the Criminal
Code. I believe, Mr. Lomer, that you, or somebody related to
you, were involved when SIT was struck down 15 years ago.

Mr. Lomer: Constructive murder provisions. I only remember
the old numbers.

Senator Baker: It was 15 years ago. You do know what you are
talking about when you say ‘‘reasonable grounds to believe,’’
Mr. Trudell. You were directly involved in these cases, so I have
one last question: This committee is trying to do something and
all senators at this table are in support of the intent of the
proposed legislation.

Senator Angus: — except that it does not go far enough.

Le sénateur Baker: Je comprends. Les responsables ont donné
comme explication que les attentes quant à la protection de ces
renseignements seraient plutôt faibles. Comme vous le savez, pour
qu’un mandat contrevienne à l’article 8 de la Charte, il faut qu’il y
ait des attentes raisonnables quant à la protection des
renseignements personnels que l’on tente d’obtenir.

M. Lomer: C’est exact.

Le sénateur Baker: Le ministère soutient que les attentes quant
à la protection de la vie privée sont plutôt faibles pour ces
renseignements et que l’article 8 de la Charte serait donc respecté,
alors que vous venez de soutenir le contraire.

M. Lomer: Je me souviens de cas d’écoute électronique dans
lesquelles les prévenus avaient indiqué que leur ligne téléphonique
avait été mise sous écoute. L’avocat de la Couronne avait soutenu
que les attentes quant à la protection des renseignements
personnels étaient plutôt faibles dans ces cas. Il est bien évident
que si l’on met sous écoute toutes les lignes téléphoniques,
personne n’aura plus d’attente quant à la protection du caractère
privé de ses appels. Si l’on permet à l’État de s’ingérer ainsi dans
les affaires privées de tout le monde, il est bien évident qu’il
pourra toujours invoquer l’argument des attentes relativement
faibles. C’est ce que je voulais faire valoir.

Le sénateur Baker: Selon vous cette disposition contrevient-elle
à l’article 8 de la Charte?

M. Lomer: Oui, tout à fait.

Le sénateur Baker: L’article 1 de la Charte ne permettrait-il pas
malgré tout son application?

M. Lomer: ... «dont la justification puisse se démontrer dans le
cadre d’une société libre et démocratique.» Le problème c’est que
les sociétés dans le cadre desquelles la justification peut être
démontrée ne sont pas libres et démocratiques.

Le sénateur Baker: Oui ou non.

M. Lomer: L’article 1 est un obstacle important pour
quiconque essaie de justifier une disposition législative. Il n’y a
pas infraction dans 99 p. 100 des cas. S’il y avait infraction, la
justification serait très difficile.

Le sénateur Baker: Je veux poser une question à M. Trudell
concernant l’affaire R. c. Hurrell, 2002. N’étiez-vous pas l’avocat?
La Cour d’appel de l’Ontario a annulé l’an dernier
l’article 117.041 du Code criminel. Je crois, monsieur Lomer,
que vous-même, ou quelqu’un de votre entourage, avez été
impliqué lorsqu’elle a été annulée il y a 15 ans.

M. Lomer: Les dispositions relatives au meurtre par
imputation. Je ne me souviens que de l’ancienne numérotation.

Le sénateur Baker: C’était il y a 15 ans. Vous savez de quoi
vous parlez lorsqu’il est question de motifs raisonnables de croire,
monsieur Trudell. Vous étiez directement impliqué dans ces cas;
j’aurais donc une dernière question. Notre comité essaie de faire
progresser les choses et tous les sénateurs présents ici sont
favorables à l’intention du projet de loi.

Le sénateur Angus: ... sauf qu’il ne va pas assez loin.
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Senator Baker: One second, if I may. We support the proposed
legislation. Is one of your major objections that these proposed
changes to sections of the code have nothing to do with capital
market fraud? For example, section 487.012 could be used for any
offence.

Mr. Lomer: That is correct.

Senator Baker: Your objection is that it is not subject-specific?
You talked about the federal government and how this is not like
the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act, under which you can
get a warrant specific to that. This bill has a general application. I
ask you the final question: The justice must be satisfied, in the
sworn statement, through application, information, oath in
writing, reasonable grounds, that an offence is suspected to
have been committed. In the information to obtain, a judge can
suspect that an offence has been committed and this warrant
issued. Do you believe that this clause will be judged to be, or may
be, contrary to section 8 of the Charter?

Mr. Lomer: In my view, it certainly is arguable that it is not
constitutional because it does not meet the threshold of
reasonable belief.

Senator Baker: You will have judges reading that down and
substituting ‘‘believe’’ for ‘‘suspect.’’

Mr. Lomer: Yes, senator, if you are lucky. Otherwise, they may
strike it down, because that is not our job. That can happen as
well. Reading down is sometimes difficult if it cannot be done in a
clear and obvious fashion.

Senator Baker: It was just done one month ago in a case in
British Columbia, which we raised yesterday in respect of
section 492.2. Justice Halfyard struck down dial number
recorder warrants in the British Columbia Supreme Court.
Later, he agreed with the defence lawyer to read it down and
substitute ‘‘belief’’ for ‘‘suspect,’’ rather than eliminate the entire
section.

Mr. Lomer: That happens, but are the legislators then
abdicating the responsibility to pass constitutional legislation
and not legislation that is on the cutting edge of prosecutorial
benefit?

I ask that question because these are general application
warrants that interfere with individuals’ right to be left alone,
absent an authority believing, on reasonable grounds, that they
have committed a criminal offence. If they do not, should we not
just say, ‘‘you have the right to be left alone,’’ and not keep
undermining it or challenging it to see whether the courts will
uphold it or not— or read it down to what it should have been in
the first place?

Le sénateur Baker: Un instant, si vous me permettez. Nous
sommes favorables aux modifications législatives proposées.
L’une de vos principales objections vient-elle du fait que les
changements proposés aux articles du Code ne concernent en rien
la fraude sur les marchés financiers? Par exemple, l’article 487.012
pourrait être invoqué pour n’importe quelle infraction.

M. Lomer: C’est exact.

Le sénateur Baker: Vous estimez que les dispositions ne sont
pas assez ciblées? Vous avez parlé du gouvernement fédéral et de
la distinction à faire avec la Loi réglementant certaines drogues et
autres substances qui permet l’obtention d’un mandat
spécifiquement délivré à cette fin. Le présent projet de loi est
d’application générale. Je vais vous poser une dernière question.
Un juge doit être convaincu, à la lumière de la déclaration sous
serment, de la demande, de l’information disponible et du
caractère raisonnable des motifs invoqués, qu’une infraction
pourrait avoir été commise. Il peut alors émettre un mandat pour
obtenir l’information nécessaire. Croyez-vous que cette
disposition pourra être jugée comme allant à l’encontre de
l’article 8 de la Charte?

M. Lomer: À mon avis, on pourra certes faire valoir qu’elle
n’est pas constitutionnelle parce que l’exigence minimale du
caractère raisonnable n’a pas été satisfaite.

Le sénateur Baker: Certains juges vont vouloir la modifier pour
que l’on parle de «croire», plutôt que de «présumer».

M. Lomer: Oui, sénateur, dans le meilleur des scénarios. Sinon,
un juge pourrait carrément l’annuler, parce que cela n’est pas
notre travail. Cela pourrait se produire également. Il est parfois
difficile de modifier une disposition lorsque les choses ne sont pas
claires et précises.

Le sénateur Baker: Nous avons soulevé hier dans notre examen
de l’article 492.2 un cas survenu il y a à peine un mois en
Colombie-Britannique. À la Cour suprême de cette province, le
juge Halfyard a supprimé des mandats pour obtenir un
enregistreur de numéros signalés. Par la suite, il s’est entendu
avec l’avocat de la défense pour revoir la loi et remplacer
«présumer»par «croire», plutôt que d’éliminer l’article au
complet.

M. Lomer: Ce sont des choses qui arrivent, mais les législateurs
ne renoncent-ils pas alors à leur responsabilité d’adopter des lois
de nature constitutionnelle, plutôt que seulement des lois qui
garantissent des poursuites fructueuses?

Je pose la question parce qu’il s’agit de mandats d’application
générale qui contreviennent au droit d’un individu d’être laissé en
paix, à moins que les autorités n’aient des motifs raisonnables de
croire qu’il a commis une infraction criminelle. Si tel n’est pas le
cas, ne devrions-nous pas simplement dire: «vous avez le droit
d’être laissé en paix» et cesser de miner ce droit ou de le contester
pour voir si les tribunaux vont le confirmer ou non — ou modifier
la loi une ramener à ce qu’elle aurait dû être au départ?
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The Chairman: I should say that you have touched, at the end,
on a point that we grapple with in the Senate — and in both
legislatures — that goes far beyond cases of the Criminal Code,
where somebody argues, ‘‘Well, we cannot pass this because it
may be unconstitutional.’’

I think our view collectively, as legislators, is that we pass what
we believe should be. If we ran away every time and said, ‘‘What
we really want to do is get an opinion from the court’’ before we
passed a law, we would have reversed our function. We have
developed a view as to what is the correct policy response. If, in
the course of time, the courts have difficulty with that, then so be
it.

If your suggestion is that we should, if we could, get an
advisory from the court before we passed it to ensure it was okay,
I think that would not be consistent with our responsibility.

Mr. Lomer: I take that as a given. However, I point out that
you do have legislation, in the general warrant provision, that has
been found to be constitutional, that has passed that test. Why
would you not have proposed legislation that is congruent with
existing legislation?

Senator Harb: I have two small points. When you were making
your remarks, you brought up paragraph 380.1(b), and you were
making the point that the offence already affected or had the
potential to adversely affect the stability of the Canadian
economy. You seemed to have stopped there. I think it is
important to read the rest of the clause, because the test is not
only ‘‘affecting the economy of Canada’’; it is ‘‘or the financial
system, or any financial market in Canada, or investor confidence
in such a financial market.’’ The test is not just the effect on the
Canadian economy— there are other elements thereafter. Do you
agree with that?

Mr. Trudell: You are absolutely right that it continues. My
point was that while the government suggested it will be used
sparingly, if you read on, even just in that paragraph, it seems to
me it will be used quite a lot.

Senator Harb: If it was ‘‘and,’’ then it might be the case. In light
of the fact that there is ‘‘or,’’ then you have a wider net.

My second point is that you spoke quite a lot about
‘‘suspecting’’ and you raised that as a flag. Would you not
agree that 487.012(3), which talks about conditions for issuance
of an order, clearly states that:

Before making an order, the justice or judge must be
satisfied on the basis of an ex parte application containing
information on oath in writing, that there are reasonable
grounds to believe that

Then you go to (a), which, to a large extent, deals with the
notion of ‘‘suspect’’; otherwise, you are presuming somebody is
guilty before you proceed to prove that.

Le président: Il faut dire que vous avez abordé, à la fin, un
point dont a débattu le Sénat — durant les deux législatures —,
un point qui va bien au-delà des cas mettant en cause le Code
criminel, soit l’idée qu’un projet de loi ne puisse pas être adopté
parce qu’il pourrait être inconstitutionnel.

En tant que législateurs, nous sommes tous d’avis que nous
adoptons ce que nous croyons devoir l’être. Si, chaque fois, nous
esquivions nos responsabilités et nous en remettions aux
tribunaux pour savoir s’il faut adopter une loi, il y aurait
inversement des rôles. Nous nous sommes formé une opinion
quant à ce qu’il convient de faire, sur le plan des principes. Si, au
fil des ans, cela pose un problème aux tribunaux, tant pis!

Si vous proposez que nous consultions, si possible, la cour
avant d’adopter le projet de loi pour en confirmer la
constitutionnalité, je vous réponds que cela reviendrait à
renoncer à nos responsabilités.

M. Lomer: C’est sûr. Toutefois, je vous ferai remarquer qu’il
existe déjà des dispositions législatives générales concernant les
mandats de perquisition, que leur constitutionnalité a été
confirmée, qu’elles respectent ce critère. Pourquoi les
dispositions du projet de loi à l’étude ne coïncideraient-elles pas
avec celles de la loi en vigueur?

Le sénateur Harb: J’aurais deux points à faire valoir. Dans
votre déclaration, vous avez mentionné l’alinéa 380.1(1)b). Vous
avez dit qu’il fallait que l’infraction nuise déjà ou puisse nuire à la
stabilité de l’économie canadienne. Vous semblez vous être arrêté
là. Il importe, à mon avis, de lire la suite, parce qu’il n’est pas
seulement question de nuire à l’économie canadienne; on inclut
aussi le système financier canadien, des marchés financiers au
Canada ou la confiance des investisseurs dans un marché
financier au Canada. Le critère n’est pas seulement de savoir si
l’infraction nuit à l’économie canadienne — il existe d’autres
circonstances aggravantes. Êtes-vous d’accord sur ce point?

M. Trudell: Vous avez tout à fait raison de dire que le texte ne
s’arrête pas là. Ce que je faisais valoir, c’est que, bien que le
gouvernement ait laissé entendre que le recours à cette disposition
serait rare, si vous poursuivez votre lecture, même s’il ne s’agit que
de cet alinéa, vous constaterez comme moi que la disposition sera
au contraire souvent invoquée.

Le sénateur Harb: Si le mot «et»était employé, ce serait peut-
être le cas. Cependant, comme le texte dit bien «ou», le risque est
moins grand.

J’aimerais aussi mentionner que vous avez beaucoup parlé de
présomption, une notion qui vous semble dangereuse. Ne seriez-
vou s pa s d ’ a c co rd av e c mo i pou r d i r e qu e l e
paragraphe 487.012(3), qui concerne les conditions à remplir
pour rendre une ordonnance, dispose clairement que:

Le juge de paix ou le juge ne rend l’ordonnance que s’il
est convaincu, à la suite d’une dénonciation par écrit faite
sous serment et présentée ex parte, qu’il existe des motifs
raisonnables de croire que [...]

On passe ensuite à l’alinéa a) qui concerne dans une large
mesure la notion de présomption, sans quoi, vous supposez au
départ de la culpabilité avant d’en avoir fait la preuve.
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Mr. Lomer: Senator, with respect, it does not track the
language of 487.012, which is the general warrant provision,
and which says that the judge must be satisfied by information on
oath in writing that there are reasonable grounds to believe that
an offence against this or any other act has been committed.

In other words, ‘‘is suspected’’ is not in the general warrant
provision. The ‘‘is suspected’’ is only in this one provision.

Senator Harb: However, this is a by-product of the initial
decision made by a judge, because a judge will not turn around
and say, ‘‘I have information here coming from a whistle-blower;
I do not believe he is coming forward with information.’’ Before
the information will be considered, that employee will have to
make a statement under oath. To that extent, and before you go
any further, you have to have a reasonable belief that information
is reliable, or ought to be reliable, before you take it to a judge.

I am trying to make the point that this issue came up before—
the whole notion of whistle-blowing, whether or not we should
have a component of that included in the Criminal Code. The
parliamentary committee that dealt with that aspect of the
Competition Act decided to include it in the Criminal Code
because they felt that by including a penalty — notwithstanding
how small it might be — an employer would come to the
realization that he or she cannot take measures against an
employee for speaking out on what is considered to be illegal in
the operation of the business.

It also dealt with the second notion that an employee, at the
same time, cannot come forward with information just because he
wants to get at his employer; he must make a statement under
oath. If you were to review the Competition Act, where this
particular element was introduced, I think you would be satisfied
that what we have here is not something out of the ordinary. In
fact, it is extremely necessary. If it was introduced elsewhere and
seemed to be working— and nobody in the community has raised
any concerns about it — I believe that aspect of it should work
here.

From my perspective as a member of this committee, I think if
we were to achieve that component alone, it would be a deterrent.
It will not solve the problem, because a crook will commit a crime
notwithstanding anything — it does not matter what sort of law
you introduce. However, introducing a deterrent will go a little
further in restoring some of the confidence that the community so
very much needs.

Mr. Lomer: I am not sure I understand exactly; I think there
are two different issues.

With respect to the whistle-blowing, the main concern that we
are evincing here is with respect to the reasonableness or
truthfulness of the material that is being brought forward by
the employee. Absent that, you are suggesting — as I understand
it— that the oath the employee takes will be a substitution for the
reasonableness or truthfulness.

M. Lomer: Sénateur, sauf votre respect, le libellé ne coïncide
pas avec celui de la disposition 487.012, c’est-à-dire avec celle qui
concerne les mandats de perquisition et selon laquelle il faut que le
juge soit convaincu sur la base d’informations fournies sous
serment et par écrit qu’il existe des motifs raisonnables de croire
qu’une infraction à cette loi ou à une autre a été commise.

En d’autres mots, il n’est pas question de présumer, dans la
disposition générale concernant les mandats. L’expression ne se
retrouve que dans cette seule disposition.

Le sénateur Harb: Il s’agit toutefois d’un des effets secondaires
de la décision initiale d’un juge, car un juge n’affirmera pas qu’il a
reçu d’un dénonciateur de l’information qui le porte à croire que
tous les renseignements ne lui sont pas communiqués. Avant d’en
arriver là, il faut que l’employé fasse une déclaration écrite sous
serment. C’est pourquoi, à ce stade, il vous faut un motif
raisonnable de croire que l’information est fiable ou qu’elle
devrait l’être avant de la communiquer au juge.

Ce que j’essaie de dire, c’est que la question a déjà été
débattue — toute la notion de la dénonciation, à savoir s’il
faudrait l’inclure dans le Code criminel. Le comité parlementaire
qui s’est penché sur cet aspect de la Loi sur la concurrence a
décidé de l’inclure dans le Code criminel parce qu’il estimait qu’en
y prévoyant une amende — même si elle était dérisoire —,
l’employeur se rendrait compte qu’il ne peut pas sévir à l’égard
d’un employé qui dénonce des actes illégaux commis dans le cadre
de l’exploitation d’une entreprise.

On avait aussi débattu d’un second principe, soit que l’employé
ne peut pas dénoncer son employeur simplement parce qu’il lui en
veut. Il doit le faire par écrit et sous serment. Si vous vous
reportiez à la Loi sur la concurrence, dans laquelle a été inclus cet
élément particulier, vous seriez convaincu, je crois, qu’il n’y a là
rien d’extraordinaire. En fait, la mesure est indispensable. Si elle a
été incluse ailleurs et qu’elle semble efficace — nul n’a fait valoir
de préoccupation à ce sujet —, elle devrait l’être tout autant dans
le projet de loi à l’étude.

De mon point de vue en tant que membre du comité, si nous ne
réussissons que cela, ce serait déjà cela de pris. Cette seule mesure
ne réglera pas le problème, parce que rien n’arrêtera l’escroc,
quelle que soit la loi adoptée. Toutefois, l’introduction d’un
moyen dissuasif permettrait de rétablir un peu la confiance qui
fait si cruellement défaut à ce milieu.

M. Lomer: Je ne suis pas sûr d’avoir bien compris. Nous
parlons de deux questions différentes, je crois.

En ce qui concerne la dénonciation, la principale
préoccupation que nous faisons valoir est le caractère
raisonnable ou véridique de l’information qui est communiquée
par l’employé. Si l’information n’est pas raisonnable ou véridique,
vous laissez entendre, si j’ai bien compris, que la déclaration sous
serment que fait l’employé en fait foi.
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In my submission, you are probably better off, frankly, having
an objectively verifiable test as opposed to the fact that an oath
was administered. That would be my comment with respect to
that.

I am not sure how that relates to your commentary with
respect to 487.012, because we are still talking about suspicion of
an offence being committed when you have to establish that you
have a reasonable belief that there was an offence before you get
the warrant.

Senator Harb: That is exactly my point; and that information
could have come from an employee who worked for a company,
or it could have come from other sources. I gave the example of
that information coming from an employee, so I want to hit two
birds with one stone and make the case that it came from an
employee who worked for a corporation, and who would have to
make a statement under oath.

Mr. Lomer: In my view, if you use the words ‘‘or is suspected
to have been committed’’ in there, you are attenuating the test
that has been used, both in the general warrant provisions and as
was cited with approval in Hunter v. Southam and many cases
since then — that you look at the reasonableness of the official’s
belief to determine whether or not a warrant should have been
issued.

As soon as you start putting in words like ‘‘is suspected to have
committed an offence,’’ you are not complying with the law, as I
understand it, in terms of the execution of search warrants; and
every attenuation runs the risk of being a section 8 violation of
the Charter. You certainly make it arguable. You then have to ask
yourself: Is it that necessary?

The Chairman: If there is nothing further, thank you very
much, gentlemen. We appreciate your coming. As you leave, if
there is anything that you forgot about, that you wish you had
said, get it to our clerk by the end of the day. We always give you
that opening.

Mr. Trudell: We are grateful for the opportunity to consult on
this bill. If we have been helpful at all with some of the provisions,
then that is great.

The Chairman: Thank you. Would someone like to ask
questions of Ms. Klineberg or Mr. Wong, who appeared
yesterday on this bill?

Mr. Wong, would you comment on what you have heard, and
then we can take it from there?

Mr. Normand Wong, Counsel, Criminal Law Policy Section,
Department of Justice Canada: I might as well start, since a lot of
this discussion surrounded the production orders, clause 487.013
and the lower standard of reasonable grounds to suspect that the
information will be helpful in an investigation.

J’estime pour ma part qu’il vaut probablement mieux, à vrai
dire, avoir un critère qu’il est possible de vérifier objectivement
que de se fier au simple fait que la déclaration a été faite sous
serment. Voilà ce que j’en pense.

Je ne suis pas sûr du lien avec ce que vous avez dit au sujet de
l’article 487.012, car il est toujours question de présumer qu’une
infraction est commise alors qu’il faut établir que vous avez des
motifs raisonnables de croire qu’il y a eu infraction avant
d’obtenir le mandat.

Le sénateur Harb: L’information aurait pu venir d’un employé
qui avait travaillé pour l’entreprise ou d’autres sources. J’ai donné
l’exemple d’information fournie par un employé. J’aimerais donc
faire d’une pierre deux coups et dire qu’elle venait d’un employé
qui avait travaillé pour une personne morale et qui aurait à faire
une déclaration sous serment.

M. Lomer: Si vous utilisez les mots «ou est présumée avoir été
commise», vous assouplissez le critère utilisé tant dans les
dispositions générales visant les mandats que dans Hunter c.
Southam et de nombreuses autres causes entendues depuis lors —
qu’il faut s’interroger sur le caractère raisonnable de la demande
avant de décider s’il faut rendre une ordonnance.

Dès qu’on commence à parler d’une infraction «présumée avoir
été commise», on ne respecte pas la loi, telle que je la conçois,
pour l’exécution de mandats de perquisition; et chaque
assouplissement du critère risque d’enfreindre l’article 8 de la
Charte. Vous en faites certes une cause défendable. Il faut alors se
demander si c’est vraiment nécessaire.

Le président: S’il n’y a plus de question, messieurs, le comité
vous remercie énormément. Nous vous sommes reconnaissants
d’avoir pris la peine de venir. Avant votre départ, j’aimerais que
vous sachiez que si vous avez oublié de mentionner quelque chose,
si un autre point vous vient à l’esprit, vous avez toute la journée
pour le communiquer au greffier. Nous offrons toujours cette
possibilité à nos témoins.

M. Trudell: Nous vous sommes reconnaissants d’avoir pris la
peine de nous consulter au sujet du projet de loi à l’étude. Nous
nous estimons heureux si nous avons pu vous être utiles en quoi
que ce soit avec certaines des dispositions.

Le président: Je vous remercie. Quelqu’un a-t-il des questions à
poser à Mme Klineberg ou à M. Wong, qui ont comparu hier au
sujet du projet de loi à l’étude?

Monsieur Wong, avez-vous des observations à nous faire au
sujet de ce que vous avez entendu avant que nous poursuivions?

M. Normand Wong, avocat, Section de la politique en matière de
droit pénal, ministère de la Justice du Canada: Autant commencer,
puisqu’une grande partie de l’actuel débat gravite autour des
ordonnances de communication, par l’article 487.013 et la norme
moins rigoureuse que représentent des motifs raisonnables de
présumer que l’information sera utile à l’enquête.
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I would have to disagree with my colleague from the Criminal
Lawyers’ Association of Ontario. Although Hunter v. Southam
was the leading case at the time from the Supreme Court 20 years
ago, there have been a number of important cases dealing with a
person’s expectation of privacy that have varied that decision. A
sliding scale has developed over the past 20 years. One of the
leading cases is Plant. That dealt with hydro records, and the
court developed a test that talks about core biographical
information. If the information did not contain core
biographical information, it did not meet the Hunter v. Southam
standard and would not require reasonable grounds to believe.
Half a dozen important cases have varied Hunter v. Southam since
then.

Also, I think both Mr. Lomer and Mr. Trudell touched upon
the standard of reasonable grounds to suspect that a crime has
been committed as not being appropriate, and we should look at
section 47.01, which is the general warrant scheme in the Criminal
Code. When I say ‘‘general,’’ I do not mean that that is the one
that is usually used. I mean ‘‘general’’ in that it is a global
provision when no other warrant in the code works. A very high
standard has to be met in order to use that because the Parliament
has decided that that is the way it should be. If we have not
provided for it specifically, then we have to meet this high test if
we want to do something different from what is provided for in
the code generally.

We likened the standard to a wiretap authorization, which is
the absolute highest standard in the Criminal Code.

The production order in subclause .012 mirrors exactly what is
in a regular search warrants scheme, which is section 487, and if
you read through the provisions of that section, it matches almost
word for word what that scheme says.

Those are my comments. If I think of something else, I will
jump in after Ms. Klineberg finishes her comments.

The Chairman: Ms. Klineberg, what will you deal with?

Ms. Joanne Klineberg, Counsel, Criminal Law Policy Section,
Department of Justice Canada: I will deal with other points.

The Chairman: Are you specific on this point, Senator Baker?

Senator Baker: Yes, I am specific. The witness referred to
Plant, and what he has just said about the electricity records is
correct. However, I will read one sentence to him from Schreiber
v. Canada, 1998, Supreme Court of Canada: ‘‘Banking
information, unlike electricity records, does reveal intimate
personal details about an individual including financial

Je ne suis pas d’accord avec ce qu’a dit mon collègue de la
Criminal Lawyers’ Association of Ontario. Bien que la décision
rendue dans l’affaire Hunter c. Southam ait représenté un arrêt-clé
de la Cour suprême il y a 20 ans, plusieurs décisions importantes
traitant des attentes en matière de vie privée et ayant modifié cet
arrêt ont été rendues depuis. Une espèce d’échelle mobile a été
élaborée au cours des vingt dernières années. Une des affaires
marquantes a été l’arrêt Plant. Il mettait en cause la consultation
des dossiers informatisés de consommation d’électricité, et la cour
a élaboré un critère portant sur un ensemble de renseignements
biographiques d’ordre personnel. Si l’information ne renfermait
pas cet ensemble de renseignements biographiques, elle ne
satisfaisait pas à la norme fixée dans Hunter c. Southam et
n’exigerait donc pas qu’il y ait des motifs raisonnables de croire.
Une demi-douzaine de causes importantes a depuis lors modifié le
principe énoncé dans Hunter c. Southam.

Par ailleurs, MM. Lomer et Trudell ont tous deux estimé que
la norme selon laquelle il doit y avoir des motifs raisonnables de
présumer qu’un crime a été commis n’était pas pertinente, et il
faudrait se reporter à l’article 47.01 du Code criminel, qui porte
sur le cadre général de délivrance de mandats. Quand je dis
«général», je ne parle pas de la disposition habituellement
invoquée. Le mot désigne plutôt le fait qu’il s’agit d’une
disposition globale invoquée quand l’émission de tout autre
mandat prévu dans le code est inefficace. Il faut satisfaire à une
norme très élevée pour pouvoir y recourir parce que le Parlement
l’a voulu ainsi. Si nous n’avons pas prévu la situation
expressément, alors il faut satisfaire à ce critère élevé si nous
voulons prendre des mesures qui ne sont pas en règle générale
prévues dans le code.

Nous avons élaboré une norme qui se rapproche de celle qui est
utilisée pour autoriser les tables d’écoute, soit de la norme la plus
rigoureuse du Code criminel.

L’ordonnance de communication prévue à l’article .012 est une
reproduction exacte de ce qui est prévu comme disposition
générale pour les mandats de perquisition, soit l’article 487, et si
vous en lisez bien les dispositions, vous verrez qu’elle correspond
mot pour mot à ce qui y est prévu.

Voilà ce que j’avais à dire. Si autre chose me vient à l’esprit, je
vous en ferai part quand Mme Klineberg aura fini de faire ses
observations.

Le président: Madame Klineberg, de quoi allez-vous nous
parler?

Mme Joanne Klineberg, avocate, Section de la politique en
matière de droit pénal, ministère de la Justice du Canada: Je vais
parler d’autres points.

Le président: Votre question concernait-elle particulièrement ce
point, sénateur Baker?

Le sénateur Baker: Oui. Le témoin a mentionné l’affaire Plant,
et ce qu’il a dit au sujet des dossiers de consommation d’électricité
est tout à fait juste. Toutefois, j’aimerais lui lire une phrase de
l’arrêt rendu par la Cour suprême en 1998 dans l’affaire Schreiber
c. Canada: «Contrairement aux dossiers de consommation
d’électricité, les renseignements bancaires révèlent des détails
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status...’’ Therefore, what we are talking about in Bill C-13 is
banking information, the status of a bank account. Would you
not agree that whereas you are correct about the electricity
records, the expectation of privacy in respect of banking records,
according to the Supreme Court of Canada in 1998 in Schreiber, is
of a higher order? I realize it is arguable, Mr. Chairman, but I do
not think it is correct to say that something has been established
in Plant that would affect banking records.

Mr. Wong: Senator Baker, you piqued my curiosity last night,
and I did some extra reading on a case called Eddy, the
Newfoundland case.

Senator Baker: One phone call to the bank manager, right?

Mr. Wong: Yes. The court held that there was a substantial
expectation of privacy on one’s individual financial position and
the activity in one’s bank accounts, including whether financial
transactions occurred on a certain day.

This is not what proposed section 487.013 does. When we talk
about status, we are not talking about how much money is in the
account. ‘‘Status’’ indicates whether the account is open or closed.

Senator Baker: Eddy concerned just the bank account number
in order to ground a search warrant to get the information from
the bank. That is our R v. Eddy.

Mr. Wong: The court had the reasonable expectation of
privacy. It is that information, the transactions, and not the
information as to whether or not the account existed.

Senator Baker: That is right, but the use of that in grounding
the search warrant to get the information, according to the
Supreme Court of Canada — Sopinka — is a violation.

Mr. Wong: That is why we need proposed section 487.013,
because it is the threshold to get that information, to get the
warrant to obtain the information on which you do have an
expectation of privacy.

The Chairman: Are there any other questions? I will not invite
the witnesses back because we do not have 8 or 10 hours, and that
is my minimum estimate of what would be required.

Senator Moore: I have one short question. When we talk about
low expectancy or high expectancy, that is in the opinion of
whom?

Mr. Wong: Sorry, Senator Moore. I did not catch your
question.

personnels sur la personne visée, notamment sa situation
financière [...]» Par conséquent, ce dont il est question dans le
projet de loi C-13, c’est d’un renseignement bancaire, de l’état
d’un compte bancaire. Ne seriez-vous pas d’accord pour dire que,
bien que vous ayez raison au sujet des dossiers de consommation
d’électricité, les attentes en matière de vie privée concernant les
dossiers bancaires, selon l’arrêt rendu par la Cour suprême du
Canada en 1998 dans l’affaire Schreiber, sont plus élevées? Je me
rends compte que le point est discutable, monsieur le président,
mais il est incorrect de dire que l’arrêt rendu dans l’affaire Plant
énonce un principe qui concerne les dossiers bancaires.

M. Wong: Sénateur Baker, vous avez piqué ma curiosité hier
soir. J’ai donc décidé de faire d’autres lectures, notamment au
sujet de l’affaire Eddy, survenue à Terre-Neuve.

Le sénateur Baker: Un simple appel au directeur de banque,
n’est-ce pas?

M. Wong: Oui. La cour a soutenu qu’il existait de fortes
attentes en matière de vie privée concernant la situation financière
d’une personne et l’activité dans ses comptes bancaires, y compris
de savoir si des transactions financières avaient eu lieu un jour
donné.

Ce n’est pas ce qu’envisage l’article 487.013 proposé. L’«état
du compte»n’est pas synonyme de solde. Par «état», il faut
entendre de savoir si le compte est ouvert ou fermé.

Le sénateur Baker: Dans l’affaire Eddy, on avait simplement
voulu obtenir le numéro de compte bancaire en vue de
documenter la délivrance d’un mandat de perquisition obligeant
la banque à communiquer de l’information. Voilà de quoi il est
question dans R c. Eddy.

M. Wong: La cour a confirmé les attentes raisonnables en
matière de vie privée. Ce sont ces renseignements, les transactions,
qui sont protégés, plutôt que le fait de savoir si le compte existe ou
pas.

Le sénateur Baker: C’est juste, mais le recours à cet article pour
motiver la délivrance d’un mandat de perquisition en vue
d’obtenir ces renseignements, d’après la Cour suprême du
Canada, c’est-à-dire du juge Sopinka, est une atteinte à la vie
privée.

M. Wong: C’est pourquoi nous avons besoin de
l’article 487.013 proposé, parce qu’il fixe le seuil au-delà duquel
on peut obtenir de l’information, on peut obtenir la délivrance du
mandat permettant d’obtenir les renseignements au sujet desquels
il existe effectivement des attentes en matière de vie privée.

Le président: Y a-t-il d’autres questions? Je n’inviterai pas les
témoins à revenir parce que nous ne disposons pas de huit ou de
dix heures, le minimum qu’il nous faudrait, selon moi, pour vider
la question.

Le sénateur Moore: J’ai une brève question. Quand on parle
d’attentes élevées ou d’attentes faibles, qui en décide?

M. Wong: Sénateur Moore, je suis désolé, mais je n’ai pas saisi
le sens de votre question.
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Senator Moore: You mentioned yesterday, and today, that
there have been questions about low expectancy and high
expectancy. In whose estimation would that be?

Mr. Wong: The way we develop laws at the Department of
Justice is that we have orders from cabinet on a specific area, as
you know. In criminal law we have the prime drafting
responsibility, but all laws that are drafted at the Department
of Justice are also vetted through our human rights law section.
They are the Charter experts. In their estimation, this law meets
the standard and has a low Charter risk in terms of being
overturned.

That is based on their analysis of all the case law. Because of
the case law out there, such as the Plant decision, Wise, Wong, all
these other decisions that vary the Hunter-Southam test, this
formulation and these provisions are concrete, and the
information that we are seeking does in fact have a low
expectation of privacy.

Senator Moore: Low expectation in the estimation of the
Department of Justice, not the citizen?

Mr. Wong: This is based on case law, too. It is not pulled out
of the air, and we say this is what Canadian citizens should agree
to. It is what has been developed in the courts over the last
25 years.

Senator Moore: I thought that a Canadian citizen would think
that his or her bank account information would be pretty private
and not something that would fit into a low-expectancy category.
Maybe I am wrong.

Mr. Wong: We are not saying that it does not have an
expectation of privacy because it does, but it has a lower
expectation of privacy than the actual financial records, your
transactions. The fact that you have a bank account at a certain
bank has a lower expectation of privacy than all the transactions
that occur in that bank account. You can access those
transactions through a regular warrant when there are
reasonable grounds to believe that a crime has been committed,
but to get that information you need the threshold information
that will allow you to build your case in order to get that regular
warrant.

The Chairman: I am just curious, but every time you write a
cheque, you are giving away the fact that you have a bank
account, what kind of account it is and where it is, because that is
all on the cheque.

Senator Baker: It does not give you the status of the account,
though.

The Chairman: No, but they are not seeking the status of the
account.

Senator Baker: Oh, yes, it is in the proposed legislation, the
status of the account, right?

The Chairman: No. This is what I want to get clear: the
information that we all give to the world every time we write a
cheque.

Le sénateur Moore: Vous avez mentionné hier et aujourd’hui
encore que des questions se sont posé au sujet des attentes élevées
et des attentes faibles. Qui en jugerait?

M. Wong: Les lois sont rédigées au ministère de la Justice en
fonction des ordres reçus du Cabinet sur une question
particulière, comme vous le savez. En droit pénal, nous
assumons la principale responsabilité de rédiger la loi, mais
toutes les lois qui sont rédigées au ministère de la Justice doivent
aussi recevoir l’aval de notre Section des droits de la personne, là
où se trouvent les experts de la Charte. Selon eux, la loi à l’étude
satisfait à la norme et risque peu d’être invalidée en raison de la
Charte.

Leur analyse se fonde sur toute la jurisprudence. En raison de
cette jurisprudence qui comprend l’arrêt Plant, l’arrêtWise, l’arrêt
Wong, toutes ces autres décisions qui ont modifié le critère établi
dans Hunter-Southam, le libellé et les dispositions sont concrets et
les renseignements que nous souhaitons obtenir font l’objet en fait
de faibles attentes en matière de vie privée.

Le sénateur Moore: De faibles attentes selon le ministère de la
Justice, non pas du particulier?

M. Wong: Cela aussi repose sur la jurisprudence. Le critère
n’est pas inventé de toutes pièces, et nous affirmons qu’il s’agit là
de ce que les Canadiens jugeraient acceptable. C’est le principe qui
a été élaboré par les tribunaux au cours des 25 dernières années.

Le sénateur Moore: J’aurais crû qu’aux yeux d’un Canadien, les
renseignements relatifs à son compte bancaire seraient plutôt
privés, qu’ils ne cadreraient pas avec les renseignements relevant
de la catégorie des faibles attentes. Je me trompe peut-être.

M. Wong: Nous ne disons pas qu’il n’y a pas d’attentes en
matière de vie privée, car il y en a, mais les attentes sont certes
plus faibles qu’en ce qui concerne les dossiers financiers réels, les
transactions. Les attentes en matière de vie privée sont plus faibles
à l’égard de l’existence d’un compte bancaire dans une certaine
banque que toutes les transactions effectuées dans le compte. On
peut obtenir l’information au sujet de ces transactions grâce à un
mandat ordinaire quand il existe des motifs raisonnables de croire
qu’un crime a été commis. Cependant, pour obtenir les
renseignements, vous avez besoin d’un minimum d’information
qui vous permettra de justifier la délivrance du mandat ordinaire.

Le président: Je suis simplement curieux. Chaque fois qu’on
écrit un chèque, on dévoile qu’on a un compte bancaire, le genre
de compte et où il se trouve, puisque tous ces renseignements
figurent sur le chèque.

Le sénateur Baker: Cela ne vous donne pas l’état du compte,
cependant.

Le président: Non, mais ils ne cherchent pas à connaître l’état
du compte.

Le sénateur Baker: Oh, oui. Cela figure dans le projet de loi,
l’état du compte, n’est-ce pas?

Le président: Non. Voilà ce que je veux vous faire comprendre.
Il s’agit de l’information que nous communiquons au monde
entier chaque fois que nous rédigeons un chèque.
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Senator Moore: I am giving it to the person to whom I owe the
money; I am not giving it to the world.

The Chairman: Your expectation of privacy on that
information cannot be too high.

Senator Baker: The status of the account, S-T-A-T-U-S.

Senator Fitzpatrick: What is the definition of ‘‘status’’?

Mr. Wong: It is not defined, but ‘‘status’’ tends to imply
whether it is open or closed. If you write a cheque, the police can
assume that you have an open account. It has nothing to do with
the amount of money. There is case law out there that says that
you need reasonable grounds to believe to get that sort of
information — the Eddy case — your financial transactions, the
amount of wealth you have.

When you read a bill like this you have to read it in the context
of all the other jurisprudence out there. There is case law that says
you require reasonable grounds to believe to obtain financial
‘‘status’’ as you are referring to it, Senator Baker, that is, your
transactions and the amount of money you have, otherwise it has
to be read down to say that ‘‘status of the account’’ means
something other than that. What we intend here is just whether or
not the account is open or closed.

The Chairman: Are there other questions?

Senator Baker: In other words, an RCMP officer cannot phone
a bank right now and get your account number?

Mr. Wong: Depending on the practices and the relationship
with the financial institution, in some jurisdictions they could.

Senator Baker: I understand your answer, because the officials
yesterday, who are presumably in a higher position than you, said
that you could do that without a warrant, that it is open to
everyone.

Mr. Wong: There is other privacy legislation that impacts upon
how police run their investigations, and one of them is the
Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act,
which has put in some stipulations on when private corporations
that are federally and provincially regulated can give out
information.

Ms. Klineberg: I can deal with some of the vagueness issues
raised by the witnesses.

On the insider trading offence, concerns were raised with
respect to two terms that were not defined, one being ‘‘security.’’
We did contemplate putting in a comprehensive definition of
‘‘security’’ along the lines of what was in provincial securities
regulations. It was a judgment call, but that was ruled out on the
basis that we would end up with a Criminal Code that looked like
a securities statute. It would have been a very lengthy definition,
quite intricate and complicated, and the view was that the term

Le sénateur Moore: Je la communique à la personne à qui je
dois l’argent, et non au monde entier.

Le président: Vos attentes en matière de respect de la vie privée
ne sauraient être trop élevées en ce qui concerne cette information.

Le sénateur Baker: L’état du compte; É-T-A-T.

Le sénateur Fitzpatrick: Quelle est la définition de «état»?

M. Wong: Il n’y a pas de définition, mais par «état», on semble
vouloir dire si le compte est ouvert ou fermé. Si vous rédigez un
chèque, la police peut supposer que vous avez un compte ouvert.
Cela n’a rien à voir avec la somme d’argent qu’il contient. Il existe
une jurisprudence stipulant qu’il faut avoir des motifs
raisonnables de croire pour obtenir ce genre d’information —
l’affaire Eddy — c’est-à-dire les transactions financières, les
sommes figurant dans le compte.

Il faut interpréter un projet de loi comme celui-là dans le
contexte de l’ensemble de la jurisprudence. Or, selon la
jurisprudence, il faut avoir des motifs raisonnables de croire
pour obtenir l’«état» financier dont vous parlez, sénateur Baker,
c’est-à-dire les transactions effectuées et l’argent disponible dans
le compte; autrement, il faudrait en conclure que l’on entend autre
chose par «état du compte». Ce que nous voulons savoir en
l’occurrence, c’est simplement si le compte est ouvert ou fermé.

Le président: Y a-t-il d’autres questions?

Le sénateur Baker: Autrement dit, à l’heure actuelle, un agent
de la GRC ne peut téléphoner à une banque et obtenir votre
numéro de compte?

M. Wong: Dans certaines provinces, c’est possible. Tout
dépend des pratiques existantes et de la relation avec
l’institution financière.

Le sénateur Baker: Je comprends votre réponse, mais hier, de
hauts fonctionnaires qui, présumément, occupent un poste plus
élevé que vous, nous ont dit qu’il était possible d’obtenir ces
renseignements sans mandat, que c’était une information
accessible à tous.

M. Wong: Il existe d’autres lois sur la protection des
renseignements personnels qui ont une incidence sur la façon
dont les autorités policières effectuent leurs enquêtes, et l’une
d’elles est la Loi sur la protection des renseignements personnels
et des documents électroniques. Cette mesure renferme des
dispositions précisant dans quelles circonstances des sociétés
privées opérant sous régime fédéral et provincial peuvent fournir
de l’information.

Mme Klineberg: Je peux traiter du fait que certains témoins
reprochent à la mesure son caractère vague.

Pour ce qui est du délit d’initiés, d’aucuns ont exprimé des
préoccupations au sujet de deux termes qui ne sont pas définis
dans la mesure, l’un d’entre eux étant «valeurs mobilières». Nous
avons envisagé d’intégrer à la mesure une définition exhaustive de
«valeurs mobilières» en nous inspirant de ce qui figure dans la
réglementation provinciale à cet égard. C’est une question de
jugement, mais nous avons décidé de nous abstenir de le faire car
autrement, nous nous serions retrouvés avec un Code criminel
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‘‘security’’ by itself could be interpreted along the lines of what is
in securities statutes. Nothing would prevent the court, when it
interprets the criminal law, from looking to other applicable
statutes to figure out what the term means.

We also believe that there is a definite zone where everyone
knows what a security is. There may be a grey area at the borders,
but that is also the case under securities regulations, which I think
generally have non-exhaustive definitions of ‘‘securities,’’ so they
will list from A to J what a security is, and then also allow
possibly for anything else.

Even if we were to put in a non-exhaustive list along the lines of
what is in the provincial regulations, there might still be a grey
area that at some point the courts would have to look at. We
thought that in this case, it would be simpler to go with the term
and let the courts interpret it, as they will.

On the definition of ‘‘insider information,’’ as Senator
Massicotte pointed out, there is a definition provided right in
the offence. It does borrow heavily on the existing insider trading
offences in securities statutes. There was no desire to reinvent the
wheel. We decided to go with the same concepts that are familiar
in these kinds of cases. It is not my understanding that provincial
securities statutes do provide examples of what is insider
information. I believe that that is something developed by the
courts. Our view, in this case, would be that the courts could
apply all of that securities jurisprudence to understand more fully
the definition of ‘‘inside information’’ on each of the separate
issues, such as what is generally disclosed, what could be a
significant impact on the price of the share and questions such as
those.

On the whistle-blower offence, another concern was raised that
there is nothing that provides for the allegations to be truthful. I
would think that ‘‘truthful’’ might be going a little too far,
because if an employee does believe in good faith that something
has gone on but it happens to not be true, that employee should
still deserve the benefit of the protection.

In terms of whether ‘‘reasonable’’ should be included, the
wording in the offence is that the employee believes an offence has
been committed. I would suggest that if you believe an offence has
been committed, chances are your belief is going to be based on
some reasonable grounds. If it is not based on some reasonable
grounds it is still a genuinely held belief, so the wording itself

ayant toutes les apparences d’une loi sur les valeurs mobilières. La
définition en question aurait été fort longue, enchevêtrée et
compliquée, et l’opinion qui a prévalu était que le terme «valeurs
mobilières», en soi, pouvait être interprété en fonction de la
législation relative aux valeurs mobilières. Rien n’empêche le
tribunal, dans son interprétation du droit pénal, de consulter les
autres instruments pertinents pour connaître la signification de
l’expression.

À notre avis, il existe un champ sémantique défini qui fait que
chacun sait ce que sont des valeurs mobilières. Il y a peut-être une
zone grise marginale, mais c’est aussi le cas pour ce qui est des
règlements visant les valeurs mobilières. D’ailleurs, généralement,
ces règlements renferment des définitions non exhaustives de
l’expression «valeurs mobilières». On y retrouve une liste de
caractéristiques allant de A à J précisant ce que sont des valeurs
mobilières, à laquelle on ajoute une disposition ouvrant la porte à
pratiquement n’importe quoi d’autre.

Même si nous dressions une liste non exhaustive analogue à
celles qui figurent dans la réglementation provinciale, il pourrait
demeurer une zone grise que les tribunaux seraient appelés à
interpréter à un moment donné. Nous avons pensé qu’en
l’occurrence, il serait plus simple d’adopter cette expression et
de laisser les tribunaux en faire l’interprétation, comme ils le
feront de toute façon.

Pour ce qui est de la définition de «renseignements
confidentiels», comme l’a fait remarquer le sénateur Massicotte,
une définition est fournie lorsqu’il est question de l’infraction.
Cette définition s’inspire largement de celle des délits d’initiés
figurant dans les dispositions législatives régissant les valeurs
mobilières. Nous n’avions absolument pas l’intention de
réinventer la roue. Nous avons décidé d’adopter les mêmes
concepts que l’on retrouve habituellement dans les cas de ce genre.
Je ne pense pas que les dispositions législatives provinciales
concernant les valeurs mobilières fournissent des exemples de ce
que sont des renseignements confidentiels. C’est quelque chose
qui est du ressort des tribunaux. En l’occurrence, nous avons jugé
que les tribunaux pourraient faire appel à toute la jurisprudence
entourant les valeurs mobilières pour comprendre pleinement la
définition de «renseignements confidentiels» pour chacune des
questions particulières, par exemple ce qui est généralement
divulgué, ce qui risque d’avoir une forte incidence sur le prix de
l’action, etc.

Pour ce qui est de l«infraction relative aux dénonciateurs,
certains ont fait remarquer qu’il n’est pas mentionné que les
allégations doivent être véridiques. Je pense que le terme
«véridique»risque d’être un peu trop fort car si un employé
croit de bonne foi que des activités répréhensibles ont eu lieu mais
que cela se révèle faux, celui-ci devrait tout de même pouvoir
bénéficier de protection.

Quant à savoir s’il convient d’inclure l’expression «a des motifs
raisonnables de croire», le libellé de l’infraction précise que
l’employé croit qu’une infraction a été commise. À mon sens, si
vous croyez qu’une infraction a été commise, il y a de bonnes
chances que votre conviction soit fondée sur des motifs
raisonnables. Si elle n’est pas fondée sur des motifs
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precludes an employee from making something up. That
employee does not deserve the protection and does not have the
protection under the statute, but the one who believes something
has gone on that is unlawful does get the benefit.

The last comment I would make, in terms of the vagueness with
respect to the aggravating sentencing factors, I would agree some
of these might be difficult to prove, such as whether the offence
had a significant impact on the market, but that is not necessarily
admitting that no one understands what that concept means.
What is intended is fairly clearly understood. If it can be proved
or not in a given case will have to be determined, but even if it
cannot be proved in a given case, it is not fatal to the proposed
legislation.

These are merely indicators that the Crown can argue to try to
influence the judge’s decision on sentencing. They do not render
difficult the prosecution of the offence itself. They are matters
that speak to sentencing, and which are after the fact. If there is
difficulty related to that, then other aggravating factors can be
argued.

Senator Meighen: What about the comment concerning the
utility, or the lack thereof, of the million dollars, which struck
a chord with me? Where did you get that figure? Why is it not
$2 million or $100,000? It really is unnecessary.

Ms. Klineberg: All arbitrary decisions are tough ones.

Senator Meighen: What was the point of putting it in?

Ms. Klineberg: We consulted with law enforcement on that
particular issue. We think there is some utility to having a
monetary figure there.

It should also be noted that the offence of fraud is split into
two categories, under $5,000 and over $5,000. Under $5,000 is a
summary conviction offence. Over $5,000 is an indictable offence.
The penalties change is already built into the fraud offence,
depending on the value of the fraud.

This is sort of another level of fraud. When you get over the
next level, it is another indicator to the courts that the sentence
should be higher. There is precedent in the code for distinguishing
sentences based on value.

Picking that number is another judgment call. We consulted
with law enforcement. They thought $1 million was adequate.

Senator Meighen: However, there could be nine people whose
life savings of $100,000 could be wiped out and that would not
qualify under the million dollars, would it?

raisonnables, cela demeure tout de même une conviction de bonne
foi, de sorte qu’en soi, le libellé interdit à un employé d’inventer
quelque chose de toutes pièces. Cet employé ne mérite pas la
protection et n’aurait pas la protection prévue par la loi, mais une
personne qui croit qu’une activité illégale a eu cours y a droit.

Mon dernier commentaire portera sur le caractère vague que
l’on reproche aux facteurs aggravants aux fins de la détermination
de la peine. Je conviens que certains pourraient être difficiles à
prouver, notamment la forte incidence de l’infraction sur le
marché, mais je n’irai pas jusqu’à dire que personne ne comprend
ce que signifie ce concept. L’intention visée est assez évidente.
Quant à savoir si les allégations en question peuvent être prouvées
ou non dans une affaire donnée, cela reste à voir, mais même si
elles ne peuvent être prouvées, cela ne traduit pas une déficience
fondamentale du projet de loi.

Il s’agit simplement d’arguments que la Couronne peut avancer
pour tenter d’influencer la décision du juge en matière de
détermination de la peine. Ces facteurs ne rendent pas plus
difficile la poursuite relative à l’infraction elle-même. Ce sont là
des facteurs qui relèvent de la détermination de la peine et qui
interviennent après coup. Si cela pose des difficultés, il est
toujours possible d’invoquer d’autres facteurs aggravants.

Le sénateur Meighen: Qu’en est-il du commentaire qui a trouvé
écho chez moi concernant l’utilité, ou l’inutilité, d’inclure le
chiffre de un million de dollars? Où êtes-vous allé chercher ce
chiffre? Pourquoi n’est-ce pas deux millions ou 100 000 $? C’est
vraiment inutile.

Mme Klineberg: Toutes les décisions arbitraires sont difficiles.

Le sénateur Meighen: Quel est l’intérêt de ce chiffre?

Mme Klineberg: Nous avons consulté les autorités policières
sur cette question particulière. Nous pensons qu’il est d’une utilité
quelconque d’inclure un certain montant.

Il convient aussi de noter que la fraude se divise en deux
catégories, moins de 5 000 $ et plus de 5 000 $. Lorsqu’un
montant de moins de 5 000 $ est en cause, il s’agit d’une
infraction punissable par voie de déclaration sommaire de
culpabilité. Dans les cas où le montant est supérieur à 5 000 $,
il s’agit d’un acte criminel. La gradation au niveau de la peine est
déjà intégrée dans l’infraction que constitue la fraude, selon sa
valeur.

Il s’agit en quelque sorte d’une fraude d’un autre niveau.
Lorsqu’on arrive au niveau supérieur, c’est un autre indice donné
aux tribunaux que la peine devrait être plus sévère. Il existe dans
le Code un précédent autorisant que l’on fasse une distinction au
niveau des peines selon la valeur de l’infraction.

Le choix du montant est une autre décision arbitraire. Nous
avons consulté à cet égard les autorités policières et celles-ci
étaient d’avis qu’un million de dollars était une somme adéquate.

Le sénateur Meighen: Cependant, il pourrait arriver que neuf
personnes ayant accumulé au cours de leur vie des économies de
100 000 $ soient complètement lessivées. Leur cas ne satisferait
pas au critère du million de dollars, n’est-ce pas?
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Ms. Klineberg: If it defrauds multiple members of the public,
and each one loses $10,000, but altogether it is over $1 million, I
think that would still fit within the definition.

Senator Meighen: I have nine people, each of whom had
savings of $100,000, and they lost it all.

Ms. Klineberg: The other point I would make in terms of these
aggravating factors is that it is an indication from Parliament as
to what factors are or are not more blameworthy than others. If
you are just below the $1-million threshold, it does not in any way
prevent the Crown from arguing this was $900,000 and is pretty
serious. No argument from the Crown is precluded. No other
aggravating factors are precluded from being argued. It is
somewhat arbitrary, but these factors are designed for
Parliament to send a message to the courts.

Senator Meighen: Could you argue any one of the aggravating
factors?

Ms. Klineberg: You can argue any, all, or others that are not
codified here. There are a number that are developed in the case
law. There are other aggravating factors located in section 718 of
the code. Yes, it is definitely a non-exhaustive list.

The Chairman: I am getting the signal from Senator Meighen
that he is satisfied.

If there is nothing else, I wish to thank our witnesses. This was
helpful.

The committee adjourned.

Mme Klineberg: Si la fraude touche de nombreux citoyens et
que chacun perd 10 000 $ mais qu’au total cela dépasse le million,
je pense que leur cas entrerait dans le cadre de la définition.

Le sénateur Meighen: Je parlais de neuf personnes ayant
chacune des économies de 100 000 $, et qui auraient tout perdu.

Mme Klineberg: Il y a autre chose que je voudrais dire au sujet
des facteurs aggravants. C’est une façon pour le Parlement de
signaler quels facteurs entraînent, ou non, un plus haut degré de
culpabilité que d’autres. Si vous êtes juste sous la barre du million
de dollars, cela n’empêche absolument pas la Couronne de faire
valoir que 900 000 $ ont été perdus et que c’est là un problème
sérieux. La Couronne a tout le loisir de présenter les arguments
qu’elle veut. Elle peut avancer tous les facteurs aggravants qu’elle
veut; aucun n’est exclu. D’une façon un peu arbitraire, ces
facteurs sont conçus pour permettre au Parlement d’envoyer un
message aux tribunaux.

Le sénateur Meighen: Pourriez-vous avancer l’un ou l’autre des
facteurs aggravants?

Mme Klineberg: Vous pouvez invoquer la totalité des facteurs
ou un seul, ou même d’autres encore qui ne sont pas codifiés ici.
Un certain nombre se trouve dans la jurisprudence. En fait,
d’autres facteurs aggravants figurent à l’article 718 du Code. Il
s’agit évidemment d’une liste non exhaustive.

Le président: Le sénateur Meighen me fait signe qu’il est
satisfait.

S’il n’y a rien d’autre, je vais remercier nos témoins. Votre
participation a été utile.

La séance est levée.
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